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Digital

Inventive. Creative. Entertaining.
Challenging. By focusing on
these core values, Sky has
delivered its digital promise.
Substantial investment has
made this promise a reality
for millions of people across
the country.

Delivering to
5.5 million
DTH customers
By enhancing the richness and diversity of programmes
and services on our digital platform, we will continue to
increase our Direct-To-Home (“DTH”) customer base.
We aim to have 7 million customers by the end of
2003. And we are focused on keeping them.

More customers

Delivering a 90%
loyalty rating
Our churn rate – currently around 10% – is the lowest
in the broadcasting industry. It means that around 90%
of customers who join Sky choose to stay with us. We
will build on their loyalty by delivering more compelling
programmes, more inspired services and enhanced
customer care.

Increased customer loyalty

Delivering an
average revenue per
customer of £313
Compelling programmes. Inspiring services. Professional
customer care. These factors already persuade our
customers to spend a quarterly annualised average of
£313 with us. By the end of 2005, we anticipate that
this figure will reach £400. Higher customer revenues
are the key to transforming our digital promise into a
profitable business.

Promises delivered
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Chairman’s Statement
Digital vision

Rupert Murdoch, Chairman

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

At the end of 2000/01, British Sky Broadcasting’s
innovation and creativity have ensured that
the Group remains at the forefront of the UK’s
digital revolution.
Our digital vision is shared by many more
customers than at any time in the Group’s history.
In 2000/01, Sky increased its total number of
Direct-To-Home customers by almost one million.
Allied to this sustained strong growth, marketleading rates of customer retention are providing
a compelling endorsement of Sky’s constant
innovation in programming and its commitment
to the highest standards of service.
With more than 200 channels and a unique array
of interactive services, Sky digital puts one in four
UK viewers in control of how they watch news,
sport, movies and entertainment. In the past
year, independent service providers, including
the BBC and Channel Four, joined BSkyB in
embracing digital satellite as the distribution
platform for interactive enhancements to their
own programming. Record levels of multichannel viewing demonstrated continuing
consumer demand for increased choice.
The achievements of the past year are all
the more remarkable given the ever-stronger
competition faced by Sky’s content and
distribution businesses. Sky’s continued
leadership in Europe’s most competitive digital
television market is testament to the energy
and commitment of all of its staff. As BSkyB
reaches yet another milestone with the closure
of its analogue service, I am confident that we
will again meet the challenges of driving the
UK’s switch to digital broadcasting and create
lasting value for shareholders.
Finally, on a personal note, the Board extends
their thanks to Morton Topfer – who stepped
down as a director on 30 April 2001 – for his
valued contribution since his appointment in 1999.
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Chief Executive’s Statement
Digital delivered

Tony Ball, Chief Executive

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

This has been a year of delivery: delivering digital
to more customers who stay loyal and keep
spending with Sky. With this we have built strong
foundations for a thriving future.
Sky made significant progress this year in
continuing to drive the roll-out of digital. After
three years of investment, we are now starting
to harvest the returns. Operating profit before
goodwill and exceptionals rose by 88% during
the year to £160 million.
This performance was underpinned by strong
subscriber growth, increasing average revenue
per subscriber and low churn. In addition we
added substantially to our portfolio of attractive
content. Overall, we are well placed to deliver
strong revenue growth and increasing profitability
over the coming years.
Subscriber growth
Subscriber growth remained healthy over
the year, with a similar rate of growth as the
digital roll-out entered its third year. Including
cable, Digital Terrestrial Television (“DTT”) and
subscribers in the Republic of Ireland, there
are now 10 million homes with access to
Sky’s channels, an increase of 1 million over
the year. The number of Direct-To-Home (“DTH”)
subscribers rose to 5.5 million – 5.3 million of
whom were digital subscribers. This represents
a rise of 1.7 million digital subscribers in 2000/01.
Subscriber growth was such that we were able
to reach our target of 5 million DTH subscribers
by the end of December 2000 with six weeks to
spare. We remain committed to the target of 7
million DTH subscribers by the end of 2003.
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Chief Executive’s Statement
continued

01

01 Sky News’ coverage of the
June General Election drew
record audiences in the face
of fierce competition.
02 The high-profile launch of
Sky+ demonstrated Sky’s
uncompromising commitment
to expanding its offering.
03 In August 2001, Sky Sports
will begin a deal that will extend
its live coverage of the F.A. Premier
League for a further three years.

02

We were particularly pleased that around 20%
of our new customers cited recommendations
from friends as the reason for their decision to
take our product. Thus we are benefiting from
a real network effect.
In addition, it is clear that we are attracting a
disproportionate number of higher income
customers, which is encouraging as we begin
to market premium services such as the Sky+
integrated personal television recorder (“PTR”)
and service.
Average revenue per customer
Increasing the income we can generate from our
customers is crucial to our continued success.
Here again, the evidence is encouraging: 58%
of customers take the top tier package, including
premium movies and sports channels, and we
are providing additional revenue generating
services such as pay-per-view and interactive
services. The quarterly annualised average
revenue per DTH subscriber (“ARPU”) rose
to £313. This comprises £302 of core ARPU –
compared to £281 last year – and £11 from
interactive services, included this year for the
first time.

03

We remain committed to our target ARPU of
£400 by the end of 2005 and we are about
22% of the way to our target of around £50
from interactive features. Already we have raised
revenue from interactive gaming, quizzes and
voting, we will be rolling out these and other
interactive features to more channels in the
coming years.

04

04 During the year, Sky won a
DTI/Quality Foundation Business
Impact award for its community
initiative, Reach for the Sky.
05 Eminently approachable and
down-to-earth, Bob the Installer
converted many new customers to
Sky by communicating its digital
vision clearly, concisely and
convincingly.

Churn
The churn rate is a crucial indicator of the success
of our product and a major profit driver. This year
churn fell to a new record low of around 10%,
despite our first price rise in nearly three years.
No other pay television company in the world
has managed to get churn down to this level.
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Growth in digital subscribers
Total number in millions of digital
subscribers by quarter to June 2001
Q1
Q2
Q3
Q4

4.1
4.7
5.1
5.3

We place great emphasis on subscriber service
in order to maintain this level of customer
satisfaction. We have invested heavily in stateof-the-art customer relationship management
technology at our call centres in Scotland, and
we are starting to allow our customers to access
their bills on screen through Sky digital. Keeping
churn low will continue to be a major priority
going forward.
Content
Our success in delivering subscriber growth,
higher ARPU and low churn would not be
possible without our commitment to compelling
content. Overall, the viewing share of Sky
channels grew to 5.76% across all UK television
homes, compared to 5.28% last year. Sky One
remains the leading cable and satellite channel
in multi-channel homes, and we have invested
in original programming in order to deliver to
our target audiences. Sky News continues to
be the highest rating 24-hour news channel
and regularly outperforms its publicly funded
competition. Sky Movies has continued to
increase its share of viewing, and its 12 screens
are a major driver of digital take-up. Sky Sports
has an unrivalled line-up of live sports, with
extended contracts to show high quality football,
golf, cricket and rugby.
Conclusion
This has been an exciting year. We met
aggressive targets on growth and are on track
to meet new demanding targets on subscriber
levels and ARPU, while keeping churn low.
The rewards of our considerable investment are
now starting to come through into strong and
accelerating operating profit growth. We are
continuing to develop new interactive services
to enhance our product and increase our
revenues. We have delivered on our promises
and now confidently face the challenge of
continued delivery.
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Operational and Financial Review
Digital business

Martin Stewart, Chief Financial Officer

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

The sustained growth in DTH subscribers over
the past 12 months has meant that revenues
and operating profit before exceptional items
have demonstrated significant year-on-year
growth. Revenues were up 25% (£459 million)
to £2,306 million and operating profit before
goodwill and exceptional items was up 88%
(£75 million) to £160 million.
The loss before tax, goodwill and exceptional
items of £214 million was £86 million higher than
last year, principally due to a full year’s share of
KirchPayTV’s losses of £116 million, net interest
payable of £132 million and a £20 million increase
in the Group’s share of the losses of British
Interactive Broadcasting Limited (“BiB”) before
acquisition. After exceptional charges of £155
million and goodwill amortisation of £145 million,
the Group recorded a loss before tax of £515
million. The loss per share after exceptional items
was 29.2p compared to 11.3p (restated) last year.
Turnover
Turnover grew by 25% to £2,306 million.
Subscriber revenues, which account for 80%
of total turnover, grew 23% year-on-year. DTH
revenue, which accounts for 67% of total
turnover, increased by 29% to £1,537 million,
reflecting a 28% increase in the average number
of DTH subscribers and growth in the core
average revenue per subscriber of 7%, which
grew more strongly in the second half of the year,
following subscription price rises in January 2001.
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Operational and Financial Review
continued

Wholesale revenue from cable and
DTT subscribers decreased by 1%
to £299 million, with higher wholesale
prices and an increase in the average
number of DTT subscribers offset by
the lower average number of cable
subscribers and the decline in the
average number of premium channels
taken by both cable and DTT
subscribers.
Advertising revenue increased by
12% to £271 million, reflecting the
increased penetration of Sky’s
channels within UK TV homes,
and greater sponsorship revenues.
Interactive revenues for the year
were £93 million, including amounts
generated from gaming via the
telephone, the Internet and interactive
television.
Programming costs
Programming costs increased by £188
million to £1,134 million, reflecting the
growth in the number of subscribers
and the continued increase in the
amount of programming, both original
and acquired.
Sports costs, which represent 37% of
total programming costs (2000: 41%),
increased by £31 million (8%) to
£417 million, driven by an increase
of £29 million in football costs (mainly
contractual increases in Premier
League costs), together with the cost
of Rugby League, Rugby Union and
cricket internationals rights.
An increase in movie costs of 21%
(£59 million) to £336 million reflected
the higher average number of movie
subscribers and increased number of
SBO buys.
Entertainment programming costs
increased by 36% (£24 million) to £90
million, driven by greater investment in
commissioned programming (which
accounted for 43% of Sky One costs)
and increased licensed programming
costs for the higher number of first
run shows.
DTH distribution fees paid to third
party channels rose by 45% (£79
million) to £256 million, due to the
increased number of digital
subscribers.
Other operating costs
Marketing costs decreased by
£3 million (1%) to £378 million,
due mainly to lower above the line
advertising costs, lower subscriber

acquisition costs and lower customer
retention marketing costs, partly offset
by increased channel marketing costs.
Subscriber-related costs (mainly
subscriber handling and installation
costs) increased by 22% to £243
million, driven by the increased costs
of servicing a higher number of digital
subscribers taking more services,
and the higher number of digital
acquisitions.
Transmission and related costs
rose by £24 million to £129 million,
due to increased digital transmission
costs and the consolidation of
BiB transmission costs for the first
time, partly offset by savings from
decreasing analogue transmission
costs.
Administration costs increased by
£57 million to £187 million due mainly
to the consolidation of BiB costs and
other interactive costs for the first
time, increased depreciation and
technology management costs.
Gaming costs of £75 million (2000:
£nil), consist of telephone, Internet
and interactive television gaming
costs.
EBITDA for the year before
exceptional items increased by 67%
from £134 million to £224 million.
Goodwill and exceptional items
Goodwill amortisation of £44 million
included in operating profit relates to
the amortisation over seven years of
goodwill arising on the acquisition
of Sports Internet Group and of
provisional goodwill arising on
the acquisition of BiB. Goodwill
amortisation of £101 million included
below operating profit primarily relates
to the acquisition of the shareholding
in KirchPayTV.
Operating exceptional items consist of
a provision of £23 million for the costs
of the reorganisation within the newly
created Sky Interactive division. These
costs principally comprise the cost of
terminating certain contracts, the
closure of duplicate sites and a
reduction in headcount.
Non-operating exceptional items
comprise the Group’s share of
KirchPayTV’s loss on sale of BSkyB
shares of £70 million, a non-cash
charge relating to KirchPayTV’s
disposal of its remaining BSkyB
shares; the Group’s share of BiB’s
costs of £17 million, principally

comprising write down of the current
platform; and the provision against the
Group’s new media minority equity
investments of £39 million.
On 11 July 2001, BSkyB and
Ladbrokes, the betting and gaming
division of Hilton Group plc, reached
agreement to form a 50:50 joint
venture to develop and operate a
fixed-odds and pools gaming
business linked to Sky channels on
Sky digital. BSkyB will contribute its
wholly-owned bookmaker, Surrey
Sports, to the joint venture. When
Surrey Sports is transferred to the
joint venture, BSkyB will adjust
existing goodwill on its balance sheet
and a provision for this adjustment of
£10 million has been made in the year
to 30 June 2001.
Joint ventures
The Group’s share of net operating
losses from joint ventures before
exceptionals increased from £121
million to £239 million. The Group’s
share of KirchPayTV’s operating loss
increased from £11 million to £116
million with the inclusion of a full year’s
results this year compared to two and
a half months last year. The Group’s
share of BiB’s operating loss increased
by £36 million to £135 million, with the
Group accounting for BiB as a 32.5%
joint venture until 1 November 2000
and recognising 100% of BiB’s joint
venture losses between 1 November
2000 and 9 May 2001. On 9 May
2001, BiB became a subsidiary of
BSkyB and therefore from this date
BiB’s results have been fully
consolidated as a subsidiary. The
Group’s share of losses in Sky
Ventures reduced by £7 million to
£4 million.
Interest
Net interest costs of £132 million
increased by £41 million compared to
the prior year, due to an increase in
average borrowings and an increase
in the Group’s share of joint venture
interest payable relating to BiB and
KirchPayTV.
Taxation
The adoption of FRS19 has led to the
recognition of deferred tax assets in
certain group companies, principally
in respect of unused tax losses.
Prior year tax has been restated
accordingly. The tax charge of £24
million represents the offsetting of
brought forward losses against current
year profits. Deferred tax assets of
£102 million arising from losses in the

Group, and £100 million in respect of
losses of KirchPayTV, have not been
recognised and will reduce future
period tax charges when the losses
are used.
Cash flow
The operating cash inflow of £39
million was driven by the increase in
operating profit during the year; this
reflects an outflow of £151 million
in relation to transitioning analogue
subscribers to digital. Net debt
increased during the year by £402
million to £1,547 million, with the
operating cash inflow being offset
by the investment in joint ventures,
principally in BiB, of £137 million,
capital expenditure of £133 million,
net interest paid of £116 million,
consortium tax relief paid of £16
million and acquisition of fixed asset
investments of £25 million.
Financing
The Group issued Ordinary Shares
during the year to acquire 100% of
SIG in July 2000 and the remaining
67.5% of BiB in May and June 2001.
The acquisitions were funded by the
issue of 22 million new BSkyB shares
in July 2000 and 40 million new
BSkyB shares in May and June 2001.
Deferred consideration relating to the
acquisition of BiB of approximately
£253 million is payable 18 months
after completion.
In March 2001, the Group entered
into a new £300 million revolving
credit facility (“RCF”). The new facility
is in addition to the £750 million RCF
entered into in June 1999 (as further
described below), bringing the
aggregate amount available to the
Group under its syndicated bank
credit facilities to £1,050 million. The
£300 million facility has a maturity of
June 2004, which is coterminous with
the existing £750 million facility. Under
the terms of the March 2001 facility,
interest will accrue at between 0.50%
and 1.75% per annum above LIBOR,
depending on the Group’s credit
rating. The £750 million RCF matures
in June 2004, and interest accrues at
rates between 0.50% and 1.40% per
annum above LIBOR, depending on
the Group’s credit rating.
At the year end, the Group had in
issue US$300 million 7.300%
Guaranteed Notes, repayable in
October 2006, for which swap
transactions have been entered into to
convert the proceeds into sterling, half
of which carries a fixed rate of interest
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Churn rates
Year-on-year to June 2001
2000-2001
1999-2000
1998-1999

10.0%
10.5%
13.4%

Average revenue per subscriber
Q4 annualised

2000-2001

£313.00

Finally, the Group also had in issue
US$650 million and £100 million tenyear global Regulation S/144A bonds
with SEC registration rights, both
repayable in July 2009. The proceeds
of the dollar bonds were swapped
into sterling at a fixed semi-annual
rate of 7.653% per annum. The
sterling notes are at a fixed rate of
7.750% per annum.

2

3

4
5
1
Split of turnover
2000-2001

1
2
3
4
5

of 8.384% per annum for the full ten
years and the remainder is fixed at
7.940% until April 2002, thereafter
floating at 62 basis points above the
six month LIBOR rate. The Group also
had in issue US$600 million 6.875%
Guaranteed Notes repayable in
February 2009, for which swap
transactions have been entered into
to convert the proceeds into sterling
carrying an average fixed rate of
interest of 8.204%.

Direct-To-Home
Cable and DTT
Advertising
Interactive
Other

67%
13%
12%
4%
4%

Treasury policy and risk management
The main purpose of the Group’s
financial instruments is to raise
finance for its operations. In addition,
the Group enters into derivative
transactions to manage both
interest rate and currency risks
arising from the Group’s operations
and its sources of finance. It is the
Group’s policy that foreign exchange
transactions are restricted to fixed
price instruments, that all hedging
is to cover known risks, and that
no trading in financial instruments
is undertaken. The amount of cash
that can be placed with any one
institution is restricted according
to credit rating, and regular and
frequent reporting to management
is required for all transactions
and exposures.

6

The Group finances its operations
through bank borrowings, the issue
of long-term bonds and share capital.
The Group borrows at both fixed and
floating rates of interest and then
uses interest rate swaps to manage
exposure to interest rate fluctuations.
It is the Group’s policy to have an
appropriate mixture of fixed and
floating rates. At 30 June 2001, 78%
of the Group’s borrowings were at fixed
rates after taking account of interest
rate swaps (30 June 2000: 76%).

5

4

3
1
2
Split of operating costs
Before goodwill and exceptional items
2000-2001

1
2
3
4
5
6

Programming
Administration
Transmission and related functions
Subscriber management
Marketing
Gaming

53%
8%
6%
11%
18%
4%

To ensure continuity of funding, the
Group’s policy is to ensure that its
borrowings mature over a period
of years. At 30 June 2001, 61% of
the Group’s borrowings were due
to mature in more than five years
(2000: 76%).

The Group’s revenues are substantially
denominated in pounds sterling,
although a significant proportion of
operating costs is denominated in
US dollars. In the year to 30 June
2001, 17% of operating costs (£365
million) were denominated in US
dollars (2000: 15%). These costs
relate mainly to the Group’s longterm programming contracts with
US suppliers.
The Group currently manages its US
dollar/pound sterling exchange risk
exposure primarily by the purchase of
forward foreign exchange agreements
for up to 18 months ahead, which
substantially hedge the Group’s future
foreign exchange liabilities.
Occasionally, other financial
instruments are employed to manage
the exposure where these are more
appropriate. All US dollar-denominated
forward rate agreements and similar
financial instruments entered into
by the Group are in respect of firm
commitments which exceed the value
of such agreements and instruments.
The Group also incurs costs in
Euros relating to certain transponder
rental costs; these payments are also
covered by forward rate agreements
for approximately one year.
At 30 June 2001, the Group had
outstanding commitments to
purchase in aggregate US$885 million
and Euros 43 million at average rates
of US $1.4281 and Euros 1.6175
respectively to £1.00. Although these
financial instruments can mitigate
the effect of short-term fluctuations
in exchange rates, there can be no
effective or complete hedge against
long-term currency fluctuations.
The Group’s debt exposure is
currently denominated in sterling
after taking foreign exchange swaps
into account.
Going concern
The Directors consider, on the basis
of current financial projections and
facilities available, that the Group
has adequate resources to continue
in operational existence for the
foreseeable future and for this reason,
the going concern basis has been
adopted in preparing the accounts.
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Acquiring and Keeping Customers
In essence, Sky’s future success
continues to depend on acquiring
more customers and keeping them
longer – while at the same time
encouraging them to spend more
with us.
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How are we working to achieve
this? By communicating the Sky
promise persuasively; delighting
customers with our programmes,
services and innovations; and
offering them professional service
as a right, not a privilege.
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Winning Hearts and Minds
Sky is committed to winning the hearts and minds
of its customers. This understanding is the raw
material that produces clearly branded and
straightforward marketing campaigns; campaigns
that will attract the next wave of Sky customers
by capturing the essence of what Sky is about.
Bob Stevens: delivering results
The style in which Bob Stevens struck a chord
with Sky customers shows that Sky’s marketing
strategy is delivering results. With a down-toearth and friendly personality, Bob the Installer
has been highly effective at explaining the
benefits of Sky digital in a way that people find
understandable, relevant and believable. Bob
has also allowed Sky to communicate relatively
complicated ideas, such as interactive television,
in a clear and simple way.
01 Building an emotional bond
By weaving Sky into the fabric of
people’s lives, its marketing campaigns
help to build long-lasting and profitable
relationships with customers.
02 Bob the Installer: inspiring affection
Research indicates that Bob Stevens
has attracted a large and loyal following
as the friendly, dependable face of Sky.
03 A roaring success at raising emotions
This adrenaline-inducing campaign,
advertising the Lions summer tour
of Australia, reinforced Sky Sports’
status within UK sports broadcasting.

01

02

03

Bob was designed to appeal to families, and, by
winning their affection, he has helped to attract
entirely new audiences to Sky. His success as
a national spokesman for Sky has helped to
capitalise on the power of the Sky brand. In
short: Bob has done the job.
Animal magnetism
While Bob the Installer was selling the Sky
message to families, a highlight of the year was
a hard-hitting poster campaign which helped to
win over a new generation of Rugby Union fans.
A series of unforgettable images announced Sky
Sports’ exclusive coverage of the Lions tour to
Australia in a dramatic fashion. The images
had an immediate impact, attracting extensive
publicity in newspapers and on television.
They also reinforced the message that Sky’s
marketing strategy is delivering results.
Building long-term relationships
Persuasive marketing campaigns are essential
to attracting new viewers and keeping the Sky
brand in the public’s mind. The next challenge is
to offer both new and existing customers every
reason to stay with Sky for the long term, with
indispensable programmes and innovations and
services that they will not find elsewhere.

21

Acquiring and Keeping Customers

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

22

Acquiring and Keeping Customers

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Innovations that Add Value to Life
Sky’s interactive services are accelerating the
cultural shift now revolutionising the way that
people relate to their television. In the new digital
climate, viewers no longer play a passive role to
the broadcasting establishment. Instead, they
gain more control over and involvement in the
programmes they choose to watch.

01 Personal Planner
The introduction of the Personal Planner
demonstrates Sky’s commitment to
continually improving its services.
02 A smart business decision
The set-top box was designed to be easily
upgradable with no inconvenience to the
customer. This forward-thinking illustrates
how Sky puts customers first and continues
to build loyalty.
03 Sky+
The launch of Sky+ shows how Sky
continues to anticipate and meet its
customers’ requirements.

01

02

03

Sky+: placing control in customers’ hands
As the UK’s first fully integrated personal
television recorder (“PTR”), Sky+ is an important
strategic innovation. It allows customers to
watch one digital satellite programme while
recording another; is easily programmed to
record episodes from their favourite series
automatically; records without videotape,
and even pauses live television. The launch
of Sky+ follows the arrival of TiVo, the UK’s
very first personal video recorder and service.
Personal Planner: fingertip control
Upgrading Sky Guide – Sky’s advanced
electronic programme guide (“EPG”) – was
among the year’s most significant technical
advances. During the year, Sky Guide was
further enhanced with the extension of listings
and the introduction of the Personal Planner.
New services on TV
Sky’s Internet-compatible Wireless Markup
Language (“WML”) browser means it now has
one of the world’s biggest networks of Internetrelated devices. The benefits of using this
technology were highlighted at the December
launch of one of the world’s first TV gaming
services, operated on Sky by Surrey Sports.
Sky Interactive: at the forefront of the
interactive revolution
In May, a new division, Sky Interactive was
formed. This move came after BSkyB acquired
the remaining 67.5% shareholding in BiB.
The Sky Interactive division is responsible for
the development and launch of the Sky Active
service later in the year (October 2001). Sky
Active will consolidate all of Sky’s existing
interactive channels and services, further
enhancing the Sky digital viewing experience.
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Creating a Personal Rapport
Most people can identify what it takes to build
a long-term relationship. Sky applies the same
principles to its relations with customers, striking
a one-to-one rapport with each one, making
them feel valued. Sky would be under-playing
its strengths if it did not capitalise on the trust
and loyalty that customers invest in it.
The human factor at work
Sky is investing heavily to upgrade its customer
contact centres in Scotland into modern work
places stamped with Sky’s unique identity. It
has already unveiled one of its newly refurbished
centres in Livingston. Here, teams work at
ergonomically designed workstations that will
foster a sense of common purpose. Making
staff feel valued motivates them to take an even
greater interest in our customers.
01 Bringing the Sky vision to life
With the highest circulation of any
monthly magazine in the UK, the Sky
Customer Magazine adds an extra
dimension to people’s relationship
with Sky.
02 Where relationships thrive
The refurbishment of our customer
management centres has helped our
staff to continue to create an even
closer rapport with customers.
03 Satisfying demand
Our installation teams play a frontline
role in transforming our customer-first
philosophy into a reality. During the
year, they completed up to 40,000
installations every week.

01

02

03

In order to foster this interest, staff will be able
to access detailed information about each
customer, thereby helping to forge an instant
one-to-one rapport as they talk to them on the
telephone. This personal service helps to build
loyalty to Sky.
Sky is also investing in a comprehensive
campaign to reinforce its service culture. The
focus of this campaign is to empower service
teams with the initiative and skills to manage
customer relationships even more productively
and, consequently, more profitably.
Valuing customers: take it as read
The Sky Customer Magazine – which has the
highest readership of any monthly magazine
in the UK – plays an invaluable role when it
comes to reinforcing people’s loyalty to Sky.
It acts as an important shop window for
Sky’s rapidly expanding portfolio of interactive
services and is also the exclusive vehicle for
Sky’s popular reward scheme.
This highly personalised approach is helping to
build loyalty across the board by strengthening
people’s emotional attachment to Sky.
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Subscriber Growth
1999-2001

Digital DTH subscribers (millions)

Cable and DTT subscribers (millions)

5.308

4.591

Subscriber growth (millions)
Digital DTH subscribers

+48.1%

Cable and DTT subscribers
Analogue DTH subscribers
6
5

+2.6%

4
3
2

2001
2000
1999

5.308
3.583
0.753

Analogue DTH subscribers (millions)

2001
2000
1999

Total subscribers (millions)

0.145

10.044

-84.4%

+11.7%

2001
2000
1999

4.591
4.475
3.982

0.145
0.930
2.707

2001
2000
1999

1
0
1992 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 1998 1999 2000 2001

Sky digital subscriber demographics

10.044
8.988
7.442

51%

24%

25%

ABC1

C2

DE

Source: BARB/SPC
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Programming Overview
Providing quality and choice

The breadth of choice and the
quality of entertainment we offer
on our digital platform attract
thousands of new digital
customers every week. We are
committed to providing the best
range of programmes to continue
to delight all of our customers,
both existing and new.
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Sky One
First for entertainment

With home-grown favourites and classic imports,
and an expanding portfolio of entertainment, drama
and reality programming, Sky One remains the UK’s
most popular non-terrestrial entertainment channel.

Viewing profile by age
June 2000 to June 2001
4-15
16-34
35-54
55+

26%
41%
27%
6%

Viewing profile by class
June 2000 to June 2001
ABC1
C2
DE

45%
24%
31%

Viewing profiles by sex
June 2000 to June 2001
Men
Women

54%
46%

Sky One is Britain’s most popular
entertainment channel in multi-channel
homes, reaching 8.7 million people
weekly. In the face of intensifying
competition, the channel continues to
maintain its loyal core 16-34 audience.
It consistently draws more viewers
from this age group than Channel 5,
and regularly beats BBC2 and Channel
4. This explains why advertisers prize
Sky One as a vital link to such an
important demographic.
By putting the viewer in control, Sky
One’s interactive features are already
enhancing the channel’s popularity.
The distinctive red interactive icon has
added a new dimension to several
Sky One commissions, notably Hotter
Sex, Single Girls and Reps... In Ibiza.
Popular drama across the board
Sky One’s appeal extends across all
age groups, and the richness of its
programming is consistent across all
its strands, especially drama. Now
entering its fifth season, the football
serial Dream Team consolidated its
popularity among its loyal fans as
well as attracting new supporters.
This key commission also attracted
critical acclaim, winning a series of
industry awards.
The popular and critical success of
shows such as Bombmaker and

Do or Die signalled Sky’s arrival as
a key player in the production of
high-quality, original drama. This
commitment continues with the
new late-night soap, Crash Palace.
The growing strength of Sky One’s
relationships with respected
independent producers is another
sign of the channel’s growing maturity
and reputation, and comedy lovers
will continue to enjoy the results of
these partnerships. The channel has
commissioned a second series of
Time Gentlemen Please, starring
award-winning comic and Sky One
newcomer, Al Murray.
American hits from Sky One
Sky One has reinforced its place
as the home for the hottest hits
from the US. Ten years after the
channel brought The Simpsons to UK
audiences, Sky One viewers were the
first to enjoy the engaging new sitcom
Malcolm in the Middle – soon to
return for a second series. Meanwhile
Sky One struck quickly to bring
Temptation Island – the most talkedabout US reality show of the year –
to its viewers only 24 hours after
each episode was aired in the US.
Among Sky One’s US acquisitions,
Boot Camp also proved a huge
success. The raw tension, drama

Source: BARB/TNS
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Acquiring and keeping customers
Sky One’s ever-expanding portfolio of household
favourites, new and established American hits and
inventive reality shows ensures that it continues to
retain its loyal following while also attracting new
viewers to the channel.
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Angel – Sky One
Boot Camp – Sky One
Dream Team – Sky One
The Simpsons – Sky One
Las Vegas Uncovered – Sky One
The Corr Cam – Sky One Active
The Corrs in Concert – Sky One Active

02

03

Dream Team – Sky One
Now entering its fifth season, the football
drama serial Dream Team consolidated its
popularity among its loyal fans while attracting
new supporters.

04
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and emotion generated by this strong
reality format made for compulsive
viewing, and attracted just under a
million viewers on its first night.
US favourites such as The Simpsons,
Futurama, Buffy the Vampire Slayer
and Angel drew impressive viewing
figures throughout the year. Interest in
the Pokémon phenomenon remained
high among Sky One’s younger
viewers as the production of the
Pokémon movie got underway.
Reality bites on Sky One
As the reality phenomenon took
off, Sky One announced a series of
reality shows for the summer season;
including Reps... In Ibiza, Single Girls,
and the third season of The Villa. Las
Vegas Uncovered, meanwhile, built
on the entertainment-rich legacy of
previous Uncovered series.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Active comes to Sky One
In December, Sky One
broadcast the Corrs in concert –
the world’s first interactive music
concert. The introduction of
the Corr Cam allowed loyal
fans to follow their favourite
band member throughout the
performance, putting viewers
firmly in control of the cameras.

Many of the biggest talents in the
industry are keen to associate their
names with the Sky One success
story. They include high-calibre
producers and directors as well as
on-screen stars. In May, Lorraine
Kelly announced she was to join Sky
One to host her own mid-morning
show, Lorraine; more evidence that
the Sky One success story is set to
keep growing.

Reality programming
As reality programming grew ever popular in the
UK, Sky One ensured it continued to capitalise
on this compelling format. The arrival of Boot
Camp proved a great success, attracting
almost 1 million viewers on its first night.

06

07
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The channel has maintained its
position as Britain’s most popular
and authoritative 24-hour news
channel. Its status was reinforced
during the General Election campaign
when Sky News’ audience share beat
both its domestic rivals, who are
supported either by public funding
or an established terrestrial brand.

Sky News
Breaking news first

Sky News is where people of all ages and
backgrounds go to get breaking news first about
the events that touch their lives. Its maturity,
professionalism and authority appeal particularly
to ABC1 viewers aged between 35 and 54.
Viewing profile by age
June 2000 to June 2001
4-15
16-34
35-54
55+

7%
19%
42%
32%

Viewing profile by class
June 2000 to June 2001
ABC1
C2
DE

59%
21%
20%

Viewing profiles by sex
June 2000 to June 2001
Men
Women

60%
40%

Sky News: the voters’ choice
This year, election proceedings were
revolutionised by Sky News’ Vote
2001. The election-related features
that Sky News incorporated within
its interactive Sky News Active service
were a decisive factor in the success
of the channel’s election coverage.
These features offered viewers a
chance to comment and vote on key
issues throughout the election run-up.
Day after day, they responded in their
thousands.
Turning a fuel crisis into an
interactive drama
Adding interactivity to election
coverage marked a defining moment
in British broadcasting. In September,
Sky News’ reporting of the UK’s fuel
crisis gave an early indication of how
popular interactivity would be among
viewers. The channel’s coverage saw
its viewing figures surge by 300%. A
dedicated ‘fuel crisis channel’ on Sky
News Active provided a region-by-

region and city-by-city guide to the
latest tanker movements, roadblocks
and open petrol stations. In one
week, well over 100,000 people
phoned to voice their opinions.
Once again, Sky News’ impeccable
journalism and interactive features
captured the mood of the nation.
Breaking news at home and abroad
The fuel crisis and the election
were just two of many major news
stories that unfolded during the year.
At home and abroad, Sky News
reporters and crews excelled
themselves with the timeliness
and accuracy of their reports on –
among other stories – the UK footand-mouth epidemic, the Concorde
crash in France, unrest in the Middle
East, the arrest of Slobodan Milosevic
and the Zimbabwe land crisis. A new
bureau in Johannesburg will help
to keep Sky’s finger on the pulse in
this important region.
Building on a growing reputation
In October, Sky News launched its
own nine o’clock news, after the
BBC withdrew its long-running
programme. Presented by Martin
Sanford, Sky’s nine o’clock news
displays the same integrity and
immediacy that distinguishes the
channel’s entire output. It has
helped to build loyalty among

Source: BARB/TNS
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Acquiring and keeping customers
Over the year, Sky News continued to put its
viewers’ needs at the forefront of its broadcasting
agenda. Such measures helped to ensure that
Sky News regularly pulled in higher viewing
figures than its rivals, BBC News 24 and the
ITN News Channel.
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Sky’s nine o’clock news – Sky News
Today’s Vote – Sky News Active
Reporters at the Selby crash site – Sky News
Foot and Mouth coverage – Sky News Active
The Fuel Crisis – Sky News Active
Election coverage – Sky News Active
Election coverage – Sky News Active

02

Sky News Active
Since its launch in June 2000, Sky News
Active has proved a major success –
giving people the news they want, when
they want it.
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existing viewers while attracting new
viewers displaced by changes to
BBC news schedules.
Looking ahead, Sky News will continue
to focus its resources, reinforcing its
defining strength: timely, incisive
reports on breaking news stories –
wherever they happen.

Breaking news
Sky News’ growing reputation has resulted from
its professionalism and the fact that it is there, on
the ground, reporting as the news develops. It also
lets its viewers take part – asking them to voice
their opinions on important issues.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

The viewers’ voice
This year’s coverage of the UK
General Election was given a
new twist with the excitement
and immediacy of the Sky
News Active service. Over the
campaign, Sky News Active
voting – accessed through the
existing Sky handset – received
over 350,000 votes, giving
viewers a voice on the key
election issues.
Share of viewing during the 2001 Election campaign:

Sky News
BBC News 24
ITN News Channel
Source: BARB
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0.47%
0.35%
0.09%
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Sky Sports
Sports heaven

In April, Sky Sports celebrated its 10th anniversary.
Over the decade, it has grown to become a
network of five channels on Sky digital; it has
broadcast over 150,000 hours of sport – much of it
live, and it has launched a range of innovations that
have revolutionised sports broadcasting in the UK.
Viewing profile by age
June 2000 to June 2001
4-15
16-34
35-54
55+

11%
30%
36%
23%

Viewing profile by class
June 2000 to June 2001
ABC1
C2
DE

48%
27%
25%

Viewing profiles by sex
June 2000 to June 2001
Men
Women

70%
30%

A thoroughbred record
This year, Sky Sports continued its
impressive track record; it attracted
its 5 millionth subscriber, consolidated
its leading position in UK sports
broadcasting, and attracted new
subscribers with the quality and
diversity of its coverage.
The sporting highlights
Sky Sports’ viewers have enjoyed
12 months of outstanding live sport.
Last autumn, the channel extended
its interactive portfolio to include the
US Open tennis in New York, giving
viewers a choice of live matches
from three different courts. This
paved the way for Sky’s agreement
with the BBC to include interactive
features in its coverage from
Wimbledon. On the first day alone,
over 1 million people took advantage
of the interactive options.
Wembley, another bastion of English
sporting tradition, hosted its last
competitive match in October 2000
when England played Germany.
Sky Sports broadcast exclusive live
coverage of this emotional event,
which came to a dramatic conclusion
when England manager Kevin Keegan
announced his resignation live on air.
Keegan’s successor, Sven-Goran
Eriksson, fielded his first England side
against Spain in March. Sky Sports’

live coverage of this match attracted
its biggest audience of the year.
As Sky Sports raised its profile
on football’s international stage, it
cemented its position at the heart
of the domestic game. In November,
it broadcast its 500th live Premier
League match. In August it started
a milestone deal, extending its live
coverage of F.A. Premier League
matches for another three seasons.
Throughout the year, Sky Sports
continued to build loyalty among
Rugby Union and Rugby League
fans. In November, for example,
it introduced the world’s first live
interactive Rugby League match
at the World Cup final.
The summer saw a series of
memorable posters heralding
Sky Sports’ live coverage of all
ten matches on the British Lions’
summer tour to Australia. This
included live interactive coverage
of all Tests, three of the most eagerly
anticipated and hotly contested
matches in Rugby Union.
Cricket fans also turned to Sky
Sports in growing numbers. Indeed,
June’s England vs. Pakistan oneday international – part of the
NatWest one-day international

Source: BARB/TNS
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Acquiring and keeping customers
Sky Sports is the leader in UK sports broadcasting,
with a strong following among football, rugby, cricket
and golf enthusiasts. Deals to cover sports such as
speedway and greyhound racing – as well as the
introduction of TV gaming – are extending its fan
base into new viewing demographics.
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British and Irish Lions vs. Australia – Sky Sports
England vs. Germany – Sky Sports
Kevin Keegan resigns – Sky Sports
Sven-Goran Eriksson takes charge – Sky Sports
Wimbledon interactive – BBC Sport and Sky digital
Football Stats screen – Sky Sports Active
US Open Tennis – Sky Sports Active

02

First for football
Sky Sports follows football whatever
happens. It was there for Kevin Keegan’s
last match and his resignation and there
again for Sven-Goran Eriksson’s first
game in charge.

03

04
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cricket series – attracted Sky Sports’
highest recorded cricket audience.
Building for the future
Sky Sports’ pioneering achievements
are certainly impressive, and its focus
remains firmly fixed on the future.
During the year, it signed a series
of deals that will see it build on
its heritage by offering viewers
unprecedented access to an even
richer choice of events. In total, Sky
Sports secured 14 new broadcast
deals in the first half of 2001,
covering seven different sports.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Take control of the game
Sky’s interactive service has
proved an outstanding success
on Sky Sports since its launch
two years ago. Sky Sports Active
continues to add to its interactive
portfolio, giving sports fans greater
opportunity to take control of their
favourite matches.

Wimbledon 2001
Coverage of Wimbledon this year proved to
be a great success. Over 1 million Sky digital
viewers took advantage of the opportunity
to control their viewing on the opening day of
the Championships. Sky digital’s advanced
technology allowed the BBC to bring
interactivity to their coverage.

05
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07
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Deals and agreements
in the year include:
US PGA Tour
A five-year deal for exclusive live
coverage of US Tour golf.
UEFA Cup Football
Exclusive live coverage of all Chelsea
and Leeds United’s home ties.
England’s Cricket Tours
England’s next two Winter Tours,
to India and New Zealand.
IAAF Golden League
Sky Sports’ first major athletics deal –
the finest athletics outside the
Olympics.
International Football
All Republic of Ireland home
internationals live for the next five
years.
Speedway
The World Cup, British League and
knockout tournaments for the next
five years.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Golf followers will be able to enjoy
live coverage of the world’s finest
players and most prestigious events
for the next five years, thanks to Sky
Sports’ deal with the US PGA Tour.
This agreement complements longterm deals to cover the European
Tour and the next two Ryder Cup
tournamants.
International cricket, too, is live on
Sky Sports for the next five years.
In June, the England and Wales
Cricket Board awarded the channel
a three-year contract to broadcast
live international and county matches.
In addition, a series of deals with
cricket boards means the next five
England overseas tours are all live
on Sky Sports.
Other deals secured rights to
broadcast live boxing, including fights
featuring world super-middleweight
champion Joe Calzaghe, as well
as greyhound racing and domestic
and international speedway. A
deal with the IAAF Golden League
added live athletics to the Sky
Sports portfolio.
At the start of the 2001/02 football
season, Sky Sports will begin what
is arguably the year’s most important
deal. Under the terms of this threeyear agreement, it has rights to
broadcast 66 F.A. Premier League
matches live each season, compared
to 60 live matches previously.

Live Rugby Union
New long-term deals with the RFU and
Premier Rugby give Sky Sports live
Rugby Union – including England’s
autumn internationals and the Zurich
Premiership – for the next four seasons.

In addition, Sky customers can
enjoy an extra 40 live matches on
Premiership Plus, a new service
on Sky digital channel 433.
Interactivity: enhancing enjoyment
Technology has always been a
major factor in Sky Sports’ success.
It has introduced a succession of
technological innovations designed to
give viewers more control while taking
them to the very heart of the action.
The red Sky Sports Active icon has
now enhanced seven sports: football,
cricket, Rugby Union, snooker, golf
and – within the last 12 months –
Rugby League and tennis.
The new, interactive option Ref!-Link
allows Rugby Union fans to hear
referees during international matches.
Meanwhile, FanZone allows viewers
to hear the voice of the fans, as two
partisan football supporters tell the
game as they see it.
The year’s broadcast innovations
included Sky Scope in live cricket.
Incorporating the latest missiletracking technology, it enables
viewers to analyse the speed, flight
and pitch of a cricket ball, and judge
LBW decisions.
Sky Sports’ popularity was not
confined to television: skysports.com
continues to be one of the UK’s most
visited websites.

Interactivity: driving revenues
As well as enhancing viewers’
enjoyment of sports, Sky Sports’
interactive services are becoming
increasingly powerful revenue drivers.
This year, TV gaming was unveiled
on Sky Sports. Using their remote
control, viewers can now set up an
account and lay bets while watching
the action unfold on screen. In May,
the service was upgraded with a new
interactive ‘form guide’ on Sky Sports.
The popularity of Sky Sports’ new
interactive quizzes is equally positive.
The first prize quiz was introduced
during the FA Cup run-up, and
attracted over 500,000 entries.
Contestants entered a free prize
draw by post or through a premium
rate telephone line, which yielded
impressive revenues. This success
has since been repeated with
Rugby Union.
There are already plans to capitalise
further on the popularity of interactivity
and the power of the Sky digital
technology. In future, the service
will offer a game played by Sky
digital viewers during live televised
football matches.
In short, Sky Sports is not standing
still: it has the reputation, the content
and the technology to continue to
lead the way in forging new directions
in sports broadcasting.

Sky gaming
TV gaming emerged as one of the
year’s biggest successes, increasing
revenues substantially.
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Bet TV
Joe Calzaghe – Sky Sports
Sky Sports studio
Sky Sports News
US Open Golf – Sky Sports
Fanzone screen – Sky Sports Active

04

Sky Sports News
This year saw Sky Sports News
gain a 65% increase in viewing.
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Sky Sports Active
The red Sky Sports Active icon
has now enhanced seven
sports: football, cricket, Rugby
Union, snooker, golf and – within
the last 12 months – Rugby
League and tennis. Offering
everything from camera angles
to form guides to quizzes,
interactivity is set to ensure Sky
Sports’ future achievements
match its past successes.

Ten Years of Sky Sports

Sky Sports and innovation go together like Twickenham
and rugby, Lord’s and cricket. Since it launched ten
years ago, Sky Sports has redefined sports broadcasting
by enhancing world-class performances with quality
coverage and cutting-edge technology. This winning
combination has transported viewers from the sidelines
to the very heart of the action.

Sky Sports signalled its intention to revolutionise UK
sports broadcasting immediately, covering its first Premier
League game in 1992 with 16 cameras, a British record.
Nowadays, it can use up to 35 cameras to cover a live
match. In addition, the introduction of daily magazine
programmes to support its pioneering live coverage was
another example of innovative thinking from Sky Sports.
Sky Sports still remains ahead in the game of combining
technology and sport. The passion with which it has
embraced interactive technology has made it even
more popular among sports fans. Interactivity has given
Sky digital viewers a choice of camera angles, access
to comprehensive statistics, and the chance to track
individual players using PlayerCam as well as a whole
host of other features.
Sky Sports has expanded its technological advantage
to cover seven different sports and, as our programming
goes from strength to strength, the feeling remains that
this is still just the beginning.
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Andy Gray and Richard Keys – Ford Monday Night Football
England vs. Pakistan – Sky Sports Active
Sky Scope graphic – Sky Sports
Cameras screen – Sky Sports Active
Highlights screen – Sky Sports Active

36

Operational Review

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Sky Movies and Sky Box Office
Spoilt for choice

Sky Movies’ viewing figures rose significantly during
the year. Altogether, around 4 million viewers enjoyed
films on 12 screens, with screenings around the
clock, throughout the year.

Viewing profile by age
June 2000 to June 2001
4-15
16-34
35-54
55+

16%
34%
36%
14%

Viewing profile by class
June 2000 to June 2001
ABC1
C2
DE

41%
30%
29%

Viewing profiles by sex
June 2000 to June 2001
Men
Women

51%
49%

The rising popularity of Sky Movies
and Sky Box Office was one of the
year’s most positive developments.
Increasingly, customers were
attracted to Sky digital by the sheer
diversity and quality of the films it
carries. Adding a strong interactive
element to this compelling offer was
instrumental in winning customers’
loyalty and increasing revenues.
The Sky Movies multiplex comprises
four distinct strands offering a
formidable range of films. Sky Premier
– Sky Movies’ flagship channel – offers
five movie screens complemented
by shows featuring news and gossip
from the film industry. Among the
highlights in Sky Premier’s year was
its Star Wars season over Easter, the
first time all Star Wars films have been
shown together. The season attracted
phenomenal interest and an audience
of over 4 million people. Repeat
showings of this unique package
continue to fire the public’s
imagination.
With five screens, Sky Moviemax
presents a popular mix of non-stop
action, adventure and comedy, as
well as regular theme nights, featuring
stars such as Steven Seagal, Jackie
Chan and Jean-Claude Van Damme.
Sky Cinema has two screens devoted
to enduring classics and modern

masterpieces, acting legends and
celebrated directors.
Meanwhile, Sky Box Office continued
to go from strength to strength as
more people showed they were
prepared to pay for recent box office
hits and an expanding range of payper-view music and sports events. Its
top movie titles during the year were
The Sixth Sense, The Mummy and
Erin Brockovich. Live broadcasts of
WWF wrestling events and a concert
featuring boy band Westlife in Dublin
both drew high viewing figures.
Sky Movies prides itself on providing
the biggest and best selection of
different films. In the past year it has
shown more than 2,100 different titles
on Premier, MovieMax and Cinema,
and a further 300 titles on our Sky
Box Office service. Outside of the
US, this is the most comprehensive
movie offering on any TV service in
the world.
A starring role for Sky Movies Active
Sky Movies Active, the latest addition
to Sky’s interactive portfolio, proved
an immediate success following its
launch in May 2001.
Using their handsets, viewers can now
browse up to eight video screens
running trailers of forthcoming

Source: BARB/TNS
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Acquiring and keeping customers
This year, Sky Movies and Sky Box Office
continued to keep viewers enthralled with the
best movies and events. Among the highlights
of the year was Sky Premier’s Star Wars
season, which attracted phenomenal interest
and an audience of over 4 million people.
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Boys Don’t Cry – Sky Box Office
Erin Brockovich – Sky Box Office
Star Wars: Episode I – Sky Movies
Chicken Run – Sky Box Office
Fight Club – Sky Movies
Menu screen – Sky Movies Active
X-Men – Sky Movies Active
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attractions on Sky Movies and Sky
Box Office. The service also features
competitions, news and gossip, and
local cinema listings. Soon, viewers
will be able to purchase cinema
tickets using their handsets.
Sky Movies Active is also host to
some very special promotions. It
was the only place that viewers could
buy tickets to the Gala Premiere of
Tim Burton’s summer blockbuster,
Planet of the Apes. Indeed, Sky
Movies Active is a launch pad for
future interactive services that will
open a significant number of new
revenue streams.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

A multiplex in the home
The introduction of Sky Movies
Active this year has meant that
movie fans can now browse up
to eight video screens running
trailers of forthcoming attractions.
They can now enjoy the quality
and choice associated with
multiplex cinemas in the comfort
of their own homes.

Star Wars: Sky Premier
Sky Premier’s showing of the Star Wars
films proved a huge success, capitalising
on the Star Wars craze that continued to
sweep the country following the release of
Star Wars: Episode I.
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Digital channel line-up

Premium, A La Carte
& Bonus Channels

Sky has created one of the most powerful digital
television platforms in the world. To maximise
the value of this formidable asset, it continues
to forge partnerships with many third-party
broadcasters who share its belief in the potential
of interactive services.

Growth in channels on digital satellite
1999-2001
2001
2000
1999

28

330
265
175

Sky Premier (x 5)
Sky MovieMax (x 5)
Sky Cinema (x 2)
Sky Sports 1
Sky Sports 2
Sky Sports 3
Sky Sports Extra
Artsworld
Disney Channel
Disney Channel (+1 hour)
Toon Disney
Playhouse Disney
FilmFour
FilmFour (+1 hour)
FilmFour Extreme
FilmFour World
MUTV
Star Plus
Star News

% Share of viewing in multi-channel homes
Year-on-year to June 2001
2000/01
1999/00
1999/98
Terrestrial

59.7
61.8
62.9

40.3
38.2
37.1

Multi-channel

Throughout the year, there was a drive towards
expanding Sky’s digital line up, with particular
emphasis on two previously relatively under-served
audiences – women and children. Always quick to
spot new trends, Sky responded to evolving tastes
among female viewers by developing three lifestyle
channels: UK Drama, UK Style and Discovery
Health. Other signings included the Disney and
Film Four multiplexes – and a growing number of
radio channels. In addition, Sky welcomed several
broadcasters targeting ethnic communities, notably
Star Plus and Star News.
The year’s most memorable collaborations
included E4’s interactive coverage of the Big
Brother phenomenon on Sky digital. On screen
for 19 hours a day, it offered viewers a choice of
camera angles, a ticker-tape update of the latest
gossip, and the chance to vote for their favourite –
and least favourite – characters. The response was
overwhelming. In its first 24 hours, the programme
logged over 130,000 votes. By the end, it had
received almost 5 million votes.
During the year, Sky also worked successfully
with the BBC to add an interactive element to this
year’s Wimbledon coverage. The BBC’s interactive
coverage made a huge impact on viewers. On the
opening day of the tournament, over 1 million Sky
digital viewers took advantage of various interactive
features. Among other options, they were able to
select from a choice of matches – an innovation
that adds fresh excitement to the most traditional
of sporting events.
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The Matrix – Sky Box Office
Big Brother – E4
Saans – Star TV
Madonna – MTV
Pokémon – Sky One

24
Entertainment
Channels
Sky One (Sky One Eire)
BBC 1 (Eire)
BBC 2 (Eire)
UK Gold
UK Gold 2
Granada Plus
Challenge TV
Paramount Comedy
Sci-Fi
UK Drama
Tara TV
Hallmark
E4
Living
Bravo
Discovery Home & Leisure
Discovery Home & Leisure (+1hour)
Granada Breeze
Granada Men & Motors
Sky Travel
UK Style
Discovery Health
Wellbeing
Play UK
Ú

19
News & Documentary
Channels
Sky News Active (Sky News Eire)
Bloomberg
CNBC
Discovery Channel
Discovery Channel (+ 1 hour)
Discovery Travel and Adventure
Discovery Sci-Trek
Discovery Civilisation
Discovery Wings
Discovery Animal Planet
Discovery Animal Planet (+1 hour)
National Geographic Channel
National Geographic Channel (+1 hour)
Adventure One
The History Channel
The History Channel (+1 hour)
Biography
UK Horizons
UK Horizons (+1 hour)
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23

43

Music Channels

Non-Subscription
Channels

MTV
MTV Hits
MTV Base
MTV 2
VH1
VH1 Classic
The Box
Kiss
Q
Rapture
Kerrang!
MTV Dance
Smash Hits
Music Choice (10 audio)
03

9
Kids Channels

04

Cartoon Network
Cartoon Network Plus
Nickelodeon
Nickelodeon Replay
Nick Jr.
Trouble
Fox Kids
Fox Kids (+1 hour)
Discovery Kids

2
Sports Channels
Sky Sports News
British Eurosport

93
Pay Per View
Channels
61 SBO screens
1 SBO events screen
1 SBO preview channel
5 18+ screens
4 Adult Nightly channels
3 Red Hot adult channels
18 Other PPV channels*

87
Audio Channels
44 Music Choice Channels
43 Radio Channels

QVC
BBC1
BBC2
BBC Choice
BBC Parliament
BBC Knowledge
Channel 4
S4C
S4C2
Channel 5
BBC News 24
CNN
The Money Channel
Community Channel
Channel Health
Liberty TV
Game Network
Extreme Sports
ITN News
Euronews
The Einstein Channel
Boomerang
TCM
TV Travelshop
TV Travelshop 2
Shop!
PIN
Ideal World Shopping
Screenshop
Shop America
Bid-up.com
The Travel Channel
Travel Deals Direct
The Revival Channel
God Channel
Inspiration
Simply Shopping
TV Job Shop
Phoenix CNE Channel
Dating Channel
Magazine Showcase
Fashion TV
Whereits.at

18
Other Subscription
Channels
The Racing Channel
B4U Movies
B4U Music
Sony TV Asia
Zee TV
Zee Music Asia
Zee Cinema
Bangla TV
Pakistani Channel
Asia 1 TV
Prime TV
Channel East
Lashkara
Cee TV
Gurjari TV
Anjuman
Playboy TV and The Adult Channel
Television X/The Fantasy Channel

* The U>direct service ceased to
broadcast in August 2001.
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Sky Ventures
Investing in more choice

Sky Ventures – which manages BSkyB’s equity
interests in a portfolio of distinctive, consumerfocused broadcasters – is evolving rapidly from a
purely channel-based business into a formidable
collection of cross-platform brands operating in
all digital media.

Sky supports its joint venture partners with vital
expertise in advertising sales, programming,
marketing, operations and technology. In return,
partners reinforce Sky’s reputation for inventive,
creative programmes that challenge and entertain.
In line with Sky’s digital vision, they continue to
explore business opportunities embracing the
Internet, e-commerce, interactive TV, WAP and
broadband technology.
Soon, for example, Music Choice viewers will be
able to purchase CDs featuring the performers
they are watching on screen. Meanwhile, QVC is
also set to incorporate ‘buy button’ features into
its programmes by the second half of the year.
All Sky Ventures’ cross-platform innovations
share the same objective: to develop value added
interactive services that enhance revenues from
increasingly discerning viewers.
An expanding portfolio
The Biography Channel – a new service from
The History Channel – launched in October, and
has quickly carved itself a respectable niche in
the digital environment. So has Artsworld, the
UK’s only broad-based culture and arts service,
launched in December 2000. BSkyB has an option
to take a 20% stake in this popular channel.
A new joint venture, attheraces, owned equally by
Sky, Channel 4 and Arena Leisure, has acquired
the exclusive television rights to broadcast
horseracing from 49 British racecourses. The
company’s aim is to revolutionise coverage and
promotion of horseracing through several media
platforms including TV, web, itv, print and mobile
services. October 2001 will witness the launch
of the attheraces.co.uk website, tagged as the
world’s most advanced online horserace gaming
site. In May 2002, attheraces will launch an
interactive betting and information service on
a new channel available on Sky.
At present, the Sky Ventures portfolio comprises
Nickelodeon, Nick Jr., Paramount Comedy
Channel, National Geographic, Adventure One,
The History Channel, The Biography Channel,
Granada Plus, Granada Breeze, Granada Men
& Motors, Music Choice Europe, QVC, MUTV,
attheraces and Sky News Australia. Sky Ventures
also has responsibility for Sky Travel, a BSkyB
wholly-owned channel.
01
02
03
04
05
06

National Geographic
The Biography Channel
Sky Travel
The History Channel
Adventure One
QVC
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Nickelodeon
Ownership 50%
For the fourth consecutive year, Nickelodeon
emerged as the UK’s leading children’s
channel. It also operates the fastest-growing
children’s website, recording almost 4 million
page impressions a month. In January, it
secured a distribution deal with ONdigital
(became itv Digital July 2001) and has also
launched an interactive service on digital cable.
Nick Jr.
Ownership 50%
Nick Jr. sustained the extraordinary audience
growth it has achieved since it launched.
During 2000, it doubled its ratings,
outperforming the new pre-school channel,
Disney Playhouse. Nick Jr. is also seeing
positive returns on its investment in
programming. It recently sold one of its
in-house productions, Blue’s Clues, to C4.
Paramount Comedy Channel
Ownership 25%
With average adult ratings up 23% and
with full coverage across all platforms from
January, The Paramount Comedy Channel
has performed impressively. In February,
it also extended its broadcast hours from
9am-4am, increasing its advertising revenue
and channel reach.
National Geographic
Ownership 50%
Currently available to over 23 million homes
in 33 countries and 12 languages, National
Geographic has maintained subscriber
growth across its territories. In December
2000, the channel launched its website. This
development is in line with its multi-media
strategy, which aims to enhance the viewer’s
enjoyment and its brand equity through
interactivity and cross-platform initiatives.
Adventure One
Ownership 50%
From the National Geographic stable, Adventure
One continues to broadcast world-class
adventure programming 18 hours a day on
Sky digital.
The History Channel
Ownership 50%
The History Channel has maintained its
growth, now reaching 3 million adults every
month, including over 1 million ABC1 men.
The History Channel +1 launched in October
2000, and has helped to raise the brand’s
profile in an increasingly competitive market.
The channel broke even for the first time in
2001, and is now in profit.
The Biography Channel
Ownership 50%
Since its launch in October 2000, The
Biography Channel has matched the
performance of its factual channel
competitors, and has increased the
History Channel’s overall audience share.
Last year, the channel launched a website,
complementing its on-air programming. The
Biography Channel has a library containing
over 800 programmes, including portraits
that attract the highly valued ABC1 audience.
Granada Plus
Economic interest 49.5%*
From February, Granada Plus extended its
broadcast hours from 6am to 2am; and during
November-December 2000, it remained the
fifth most watched satellite/cable channel.

QVC
Economic interest 20%
QVC continues to grow strongly and is
now available to over 9.1 analogue/digital
satellite and cable homes in the UK and Eire.
In October 2000 it launched the Directory
on Sky’s Interactive Main Menu allowing
subscribers to view details on product
information, the day’s specials, and its
programmes. In the near future, QVC
will focus on building on its sales and
consolidating its presence in all areas of
the digital market.
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Granada Breeze
Economic interest 49.5%*

03

Having established itself as the only women’s
channel and after securing distribution across all
platforms, Granada Breeze’s ratings are up by
58% annually.
Granada Men & Motors
Economic interest 49.5%*
With a new on-air look and extended
broadcasting hours from March, Men & Motors
has increased its channel reach and advertising
revenue.
Music Choice Europe
Ownership 36.4%
Music Choice Europe successfully floated on the
Stock Exchange in October 2000, raising £46
million to fund future developments and reinforce
its brand value. In March, it launched its enhanced
interactive service, allowing it to carry advertising
and sponsorship for the first time. The channel
continues to secure international distribution, with
subscriber numbers rising to 8.5 million.

04

MUTV
Ownership 33.33%
MUTV is the first daily football channel dedicated
to one of the most successful teams in football
history. It has signed a two-year distribution deal
with the Telewest Active Digital Network, and is
now available in 22 countries. MUTV has delayed
rights to all 38 Premiership matches involving
Manchester United last season, and it will
broadcast them on the channel from July 2001.
Sky Travel
Ownership 100%
In March, Sky Travel extended the number of
hours it broadcasts from 5 to 12. It also acquired
new travelogue programming, such as Travel
Xpress and Five Star Adventure, and classic
adventure travel programmes such as the Rough
Guide and Beyond Borders. Travel is emerging as
an ideal genre for Internet-based and interactive
television. Sky Travel is ideally placed to become
a major player in this growing market.

05

Sky News Australia
Ownership 33.33%
Sky News Australia now reaches more than 1.3
million homes across all pay television platforms,
and remains the first and only Australian-produced
pay-TV news channel. It has sustained its growth,
increasing its monthly reach by 40%.
Artsworld
20% equity option
Launched in December 2000, Artsworld has
established itself as the digital platform’s
leading culture and arts service. With monthly
subscriptions set at £6, the channel has
successfully converted an impressive number
of Sky digital subscribers to its service.
attheraces
Ownership 33.33%
Following agreement, attheraces will launch
its website later this year. The launch of its
interactive broadcast channel is scheduled
for May 2002.

06

* This represents BSkyB’s economic interest.
BSkyB has an 80% equity interest and a 49.5%
economic interest in Granada Sky Broadcasting
Limited. BSkyB has a 20% equity interest and a
49.5% economic interest in Granada Sky
Broadcasting (DTT) Limited.
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Advertising

During a year in which advertising revenues across
the broadcasting industry were estimated to fall by
4%, Sky’s advertising revenues grew by 12% to
£271 million. Sky is the leader in both the number
of deals done and the proportion of total advertising
revenue that is sponsorship revenue. In the face of
intensifying competition for consumers’ attention,
advertisers still count on Sky to attract audiences
that other broadcasters struggle to reach.
Advertising revenue
In £millions year on year to June 2001
2000-2001
1999-2000
1998-1999

Top ten advertisers
2000-2001

01
02
03
04
05
06
07
08
09
10

Ford
COI (Central Office of Information)
Procter & Gamble
BT
VW Group
Unilever
Mars
AOL
Bass
McDonalds

271
242
217

The quality and diversity of
programmes on the Sky digital
platform are the single most powerful
factors in attracting the audiences
that advertisers want to target. Sky
channels are already first-choice
among businesses targeting relatively
affluent males, especially sports fans.
Now, Sky’s appeal is spreading
rapidly across all demographic
sectors, increasingly among ABC1
viewers. By the end of the year, multichannel television had exceeded
50% penetration in key sectors such
as children, young adults and ABC1
males. Nationally, income in Sky
customers households exceeds the
national average by over 20%.
The relative prosperity of Sky’s
audiences means Sky’s core
advertising revenues are less likely
to be damaged by any downturn
triggered by, for example, a global
economic slowdown or the dotcom
shakeout. Other positive developments
included the opening of an office in
Dublin. From here, Sky Ireland now
sells airtime specifically targeted
at Irish viewers watching Sky One
and Sky News. Sky has also been
awarded the contract to sell advertising
on behalf of the Discovery channels
from January 2002.
Going interactive
Sky’s interactive technology has been
the catalyst for a fundamental change
in the way viewers watch television,
a transformation that advertisers

01

01
02
03
04

Ford
Siemens
Virgin Mobile – Interactive screen
Ariel Liqui-Tabs – Interactive screen

simply cannot afford to ignore. Sky’s
digital platform offers them an ideal
environment in which they can
explore the potential of interactive
advertising, which launched on Sky
in March 2000.
Since then, Sky digital has been
running interactive ads on Sky
Channels that can ‘jump’ viewers
directly from the broadcast channel
to a site on Sky Active. So far, 30
interactive campaigns and over
£2 million of interactive airtime
have been booked for a mixture
of content partners and advertisers.
These have all been very successful
at driving high levels of traffic to
the sites, and online responses
directly from interactive ads have
hit 1.1 million.
During the year, BT, Persil and Sony,
among others, ran successful
interactive campaigns. In May,
Virgin Mobile followed them with
an interactive campaign that gave
viewers the chance to confess what
makes them ‘see red’ about mobile
networks. It also gave them the
chance to request a brochure
promoting Virgin Mobile. Meticulous
planning and pin-point targeting
ensured the campaign was an
outstanding success. Response
rates and brochure requests far
outstripped the client’s expectations.
In total, over 31,000 people took
part in the campaign, 63% of them
between 16 and 34 years old.
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The world’s longest sports sponsorship
With over 65 agreements during the
year, Sky continues to lead the field
in broadcast sponsorship. Forging
a wide range of partnerships across
Sky Sports, Sky One, Sky Movies
and Sky News, it has succeeded in
building many of the industry’s case
study sponsorships.

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Interactive advertising
During the year interactive advertising
was used across 30 campaigns. Its
success meant that many advertisers
came back for more, testifying to the
effectiveness of this new technology.

Now in its ninth consecutive year,
Ford’s association with Sky Sport’s
FA Premier League coverage is
the longest-running UK sports
sponsorship. In June, Ford signed
an exclusive agreement to sponsor
coverage during the 2001/02 season.
The deal – worth around £9 million –
covers all 66 live Premier League
matches, as well as support
programmes such as Goals on
Sunday, Results Extra and Football
Tonight. In addition, Ford will sponsor
several football and Rugby Union
internationals; plus coverage of the
US PGA Tour.

The study also revealed that viewers
who are most receptive to advertising
are those watching sports and movie
channels, two areas where Sky
excels. Furthermore, enjoyment levels
among Sky Sports viewers were 20%
higher than those among BBC1 and
itv viewers.

The success of Ford’s relationship
with Sky Sports thrives as Dominos
builds on its relationship with The
Simpsons. During the year, Siemens
Mobile Phones provided another
sponsorship highlight through its
cross-platform association with
Sky Movies. This year also saw
Sky building an on-air partnership
with Cisco Systems to develop Sky
Sports graphics – further evidence of
the flexibility and innovation Sky can
offer potential advertisers.

03

02

Official: Sky channels are
more effective
Sky viewers are more appreciative
and attentive to programmes than
viewers in terrestrial homes. For,
although terrestrial channels have
bigger audiences, Sky viewers have
more channels to choose from.
Which means they are more likely
to watch programmes they actually
enjoy and are more likely to be paying
attention during the programmes
and commercials. These are among
the findings of the PRIME report
conducted by BMRB and sponsored
by Sky. The study involved over
2,000 adults across the UK and
measured programme enjoyment,
attention and behaviour during the
advertising break.

04
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Directors’ Biographies
Tony Ball (age 45)
Executive Director
Tony Ball was appointed as Chief Executive and Managing Director in June 1999.
He was previously President and CEO of Fox/Liberty Networks, after serving as
President and COO of Fox Sports International, where he oversaw channels in
North America, Latin America, Asia and Australia. He spent three years of his career
with BSkyB beginning in 1993, holding the positions of Head of Production and
Operations of Sky Sports and General Manager/Broadcasting. In September 2000,
Mr Ball was appointed a Non-Executive Director of Marks and Spencer plc.
Martin Stewart (age 37)
Executive Director
Martin Stewart was appointed as Chief Financial Officer and a Director of the
Company in May 1998. He previously served the Company as Head of Commercial
Finance from March 1996. Prior to joining the Company, Mr Stewart was employed
at Polygram for five years, latterly at Polygram Filmed Entertainment, where he was
Finance Director for two years. In February 2001, Mr Stewart was appointed a
Non-Executive Director of Michael Page International plc.
Philip Bowman (age 48)
Independent Non-Executive Director
Philip Bowman has been a Director of the Company since December 1994. He is
Chief Executive of Allied Domecq plc and a member of the UK Industrial Advisory
Board of Alchemy Partners. He was previously Chairman of Liberty plc, a Director
of Coles Myer Ltd in Australia, an Executive Director of Bass plc and Chairman and
Chief Executive of Bass Taverns Ltd.
David DeVoe (age 54)
Shareholder Appointee
Non-Executive Director
David DeVoe has been a Director of the Company since December 1994. Mr DeVoe
has been an Executive Director of News Corporation since October 1990; Senior
Executive Vice President of News Corporation since January 1996; Chief Financial
Officer and Finance Director of News Corporation since October 1990 and Deputy
Finance Director from May 1985 to September 1990; Director of News America
Incorporated (NAI), News Corporation’s principal subsidiary in the United States,
since January 1991; and a Director of Star Television since July 1993. He has
also been a Director of Fox Entertainment Group Inc. (“FEG”) since 1991 and a
Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer since August 1998.
Mr DeVoe is one of Sky Global Operations Inc.’s (“SGO’s”) appointees as a Director
of the Company.
Dr Dieter Hahn (age 40)
Non-Executive Director
Dr Dieter Hahn was appointed a Director of the Company on 5 May 2000. He is
Vice Chairman and Managing Director of Kirch Holding GmbH & Co KG. He is also
a member of the supervisory Board of KirchPayTV and of Deutsches SportFernsehen
(“DSF”). Prior to joining Kirch Gruppe he was Managing Director of DSF.
Leslie Hinton (age 57)
Shareholder Appointee
Non-Executive Director
Leslie Hinton was appointed a Director of the Company on 15 October 1999. In
1995 he was appointed Executive Chairman of News International plc, responsible
for all the newspapers in the UK. Prior to this, he was Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer of Fox Television Stations, President and Chief Executive Officer of News
America Publishing and President of Murdoch Magazines. Mr Hinton is also a
member of the News Corporation Executive Committee. In 1996 he joined the
board of the Press Association in Britain, in 1998 he was elected Chairman of the
newspaper and magazine publishing industry’s Code of Practice Committee and
in 1999 he became Chairman of the Council of the Commonwealth Press Union.
Mr Hinton is one of SGO’s appointees as a Director of the Company.
Allan Leighton (age 48)
Independent Non-Executive Director
Allan Leighton was appointed a Director of the Company on 15 October 1999.
In March 1992, he joined Asda Stores Limited as Group Marketing Director, in
September 1996 he was appointed Chief Executive and in November 1999 he was
appointed President and CEO of Wal-Mart Europe. He resigned all of these positions
in September 2000. Mr Leighton is Chairman of Wilson (Connolly) Holdings PLC,
B.H.S. Ltd, Lastminute.com PLC, Deputy Chairman of Leeds Sporting PLC and
a Non-Executive Director of Scottish Power PLC, Consignia PLC, Dyson Ltd and
George Weston.

Rupert Murdoch (age 70)
Shareholder Appointee
Non-Executive Director
Rupert Murdoch has been a Director of the Company since 1990 and was appointed
Chairman in June 1999. Mr Murdoch has been an Executive Director and Chief
Executive of News Corporation since August 1979. Mr Murdoch has been a
Director of NAI since 1973; a Director of News International plc, News Corporation’s
principal subsidiary in the UK, since 1969; and a Director of News Limited, News
Corporation’s principal subsidiary in Australia, since 1953. Mr Murdoch has also
served as a Director of FEG and its predecessor company since 1985, Chairman
since 1992 and Chief Executive Officer since 1995. He has also been a Director of
Star Television since 1993 and a Director of Philip Morris Company Inc. since 1989.
Mr Murdoch is one of SGO’s appointees as a Director of the Company.
Martin Pompadur (age 66)
Shareholder Appointee
Non-Executive Director
Martin Pompadur was appointed a Director of the Company on 15 October 1999.
Mr Pompadur has been Executive Vice President and President of News Corporation
Eastern & Central Europe since June 1998. Prior to this, in 1983, he joined RP
Companies where he held the positions of Chairman, Chief Executive and Chief
Operating Officer. He is also a principal owner of Caribbean International News
Corporation. Mr Pompadur is one of SGO’s appointees as a Director of the
Company.
Arthur Siskind (age 62)
Shareholder Appointee
Non-Executive Director
Arthur Siskind has been a Director of the Company since June 1992. Mr Siskind has
been a Senior Executive Vice President of News Corporation since January 1996 and
an Executive and Group General Counsel of News Corporation since 1991. He was
an Executive Vice President of News Corporation from February 1991 until January
1996. Mr Siskind has been a Director of NAI since 1991 and a Director of Star
Television since 1993. Mr Siskind has also been Senior Executive Vice President,
General Counsel and a Director of FEG since April 1998. Mr Siskind has been a
member of the Bar of the State of New York since 1962. Mr Siskind is one of SGO’s
appointees as a Director of the Company.
Lord St John of Fawsley (age 72)
Independent Non-Executive Director
Lord St John of Fawsley has been a Director of the Company since 1991. He has
been Master of Emmanuel College, Cambridge, since 1991, of which he is a Life
Fellow, and Chairman of the Royal Fine Art Commission since 1985.
John Thornton (age 47)
Independent Non-Executive Director
John Thornton has been a Director of the Company since 1994. He is President
and co-Chief Operating Officer of the Goldman Sachs Group, Inc. Mr Thornton is a
Director of the Ford Motor Company, the Pacific Century Group and Laura Ashley
Holdings plc. He is also a member of the Council on Foreign Relations and a Director
or Trustee of several educational and philanthropic organisations.
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Directors’ Biographies continued
Alternate directors
Richard Linford (age 49)
Alternate Director to David DeVoe, Leslie Hinton,
Martin Pompadur, Rupert Murdoch and Arthur Siskind.
Richard Linford has been Chief Financial Officer of News International plc since
January 1995. Previously he was Director of Finance at BSkyB from September 1991
to December 1994.
Jay Itzkowitz (age 41)
Alternate Director to David DeVoe, Leslie Hinton,
Rupert Murdoch, Martin Pompadur and Arthur Siskind.
Jay Itzkowitz has been Executive Vice President and General Counsel of Sky Global
Networks, Inc. since October 2000. Prior to that he was Director of Legal Affairs of
News International plc and Senior Vice President, Legal Affairs, for Fox Entertainment
Group and Associate General Counsel for News America Incorporated.
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Directors’ Report
The Directors present their Annual Report on the affairs of British Sky Broadcasting
Group plc (“BSkyB”, “the Company”) and its subsidiary undertakings (“the Group”),
together with the Accounts and Auditors’ Report for the year ended 30 June 2001.
Activities
The Chairman’s Statement on page 8, the Chief Executive’s Statement on pages 10 to
13 and the Operating and Financial Review on pages 14 to 17 report on the principal
activities of the Group, its financial and operating performance during the year and the
future development of the business.
Results and dividends
The loss on ordinary activities after taxation for the year ended 30 June 2001 was
£538.6 million (2000: loss of £197.7 million as restated). On 5 May 1999 it was
announced that the Board had decided to suspend dividend payments to
shareholders. Accordingly, no dividend is proposed.
Payment policy
The policy of the Group is to agree terms of payment with suppliers prior to entering
into a contractual relationship. In the absence of a specific agreement it is the policy
of the Group to pay suppliers on a monthly basis. The Group had 10 days’ purchases
outstanding at 30 June 2001 (2000: 27 days) based on the total amount invoiced by
non-programme trade suppliers during the year ended 30 June 2001. Programme
creditors include significant balances which are not yet contractually due. In respect
of amounts both contractually due and invoiced the outstanding number of days’
purchases is below 40 days (2000: 40 days). The Company has no trade creditors,
so the number of creditor days outstanding at the year end was nil (2000: nil).

Directors
The Directors who served during the year are listed on page 52.
Philip Bowman and Lord St. John of Fawsley retire from the Board by rotation, and
being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.
Employment policies
The Directors’ interests in the Ordinary Shares and options of the Company are
disclosed within the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 50 to 53.
Applications for employment by disabled persons are always fully considered,
bearing in mind the respective aptitudes and abilities of the applicants concerned.
In the event of members of staff becoming disabled, every effort is made to ensure
that their employment with the Group continues and that appropriate training is
arranged. It is the policy of the Group that the training, career development and
promotion of disabled persons should, as far as possible, be identical to that of other
employees. BSkyB is an active participant in the Broadcasters Disability Network.
The health and safety of the Group’s employees is a matter of primary concern.
Accordingly, it is the Group’s policy to manage its activities so as to avoid causing
any unnecessary or unacceptable risk to the health and safety of its employees.
Our commitment to health and safety has been recognised by the British Safety
Council who have presented us with a 4 star award.

Sky Global Operations Inc. .............................................................................. 36.32%
BSB Holdings Limited ..................................................................................... 10.78%
Vivendi S.A. ..................................................................................................... 11.22%

It is the policy of the Group to develop employee involvement throughout the
organisation and to ensure that employees are aware of the financial and economic
factors affecting the Company and its subsidiary undertakings. Communication
meetings between management and employees’ representatives are held both
formally and informally, where matters of specific interest are discussed. Consultation
with employees or their representatives occurs on a regular basis covering a range
of employment related issues, including pensions and health and safety, and their
views are taken into consideration when making decisions. The Group publishes an
employee newspaper covering a wide range of employee issues, and our Company
Intranet provides a wealth of information on employment issues and policies.
Employees also have the opportunity to participate in a range of training programmes.

Vivendi SA owns 100% of the share capital of BSB Holdings Limited and therefore
retains a beneficial interest in these shares. Therefore Vivendi SA’s indirect and direct
shareholding is 22.00%.

Environmental responsibility
The Group recognises the need to address and improve its environmental
performance, in order to respond to the views of its key stakeholders.

Corporate governance
Details concerning the Group’s arrangements relating to corporate governance and
its compliance with the Combined Code of Best Practice and the Best Practice
Provisions annexed to the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority are given
on pages 48 and 49. The Report on Directors’ Remuneration is on pages 50 to 53.

A review of the Group’s activities was carried out during the year to understand
where and how we had an impact on the environment and how well we were
managing these impacts. Based on the findings of this review, an Environmental
Policy has been agreed and issued to all BSkyB employees, which lays out the
Group’s commitments in relation to protecting the environment.

Charitable and political contributions and community activities
BSkyB is an active corporate citizen. Community investment is focused on young
people, both nationwide and around its areas of operation.

To support the implementation of the policy across the Group, an Environmental
Committee has been set up, comprising representatives from a number of different
BSkyB locations and departments, and an external environmental consultant. The
remit of the Committee, which meets on a regular basis, is to drive forward actions
to meet the objectives and targets that have been set within an Environmental
Management Programme.

Share capital
Details of changes in the share capital during the year are disclosed in note 24 to the
accounts. On 24 July 2001 the following companies, or their subsidiary undertakings,
held more than 3% of the Company’s share capital:

BSkyB’s social marketing activity is recognised by Business in the Community.
Reach for the Sky was awarded a DTI Impact Endorsement mark as an example
of cause related marketing excellence. The initiative has used Sky’s brand to provide
inspirational advice to teenagers on careers in entertainment, journalism, technology
and sport.
BSkyB continues its soccer roadshows for primary school children. These take place
in Education Action Zones across England, as well as deprived areas in Scotland and
Northern Ireland. Places on the roadshow are awarded by teachers to children who
improve attendance, motivation or effort at school. By the end of 2001, 30,000
children will have attended a Sky Soccer Roadshow.
Other activities include:
• Sponsoring the auditorium of the Chicken Shed Theatre Company
• Supporting a production of the National Youth Music Theatre at the Edinburgh
Fringe Festival
• Updating Sky’s media studies curriculum resource pack for schools
• Maintaining the provision of free bandwidth for the Community Channel
(a dedicated charity-fundraising TV channel)
• Working with local schools, Education Business Partnerships and charities around
our main sites in England and Scotland
• Running a Give as You Earn Programme for employees, and matching (up to £500)
monies raised for charity by staff.
Charitable contributions of the Group in the UK amounted to £566,000 during the
year (2000: £659,000), and BSkyB has given additional value in kind through staff
involvement, donations to schools and Sky merchandise and products.

The overall aims of the Programme are to build on existing good environmental
practices, to collect reportable environmental data, and achieve improved
environmental performance on an ongoing basis. The Group will then analyse
this information to provide an Environmental Report later in the year.
Annual General Meeting
The notice convening the Annual General Meeting to be held on 2 November 2001
at 11.30am can be found in a separate notice accompanying the Annual Report.
Auditors
The Directors will place a resolution before the Annual General Meeting to re-appoint
Arthur Andersen as auditors for the ensuing year.
By order of the Board,
David Gormley
Company Secretary
24 July 2001
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Corporate Governance
BSkyB is committed to high standards of corporate governance and, except as noted
below, has complied throughout the year with the best practice provisions of Section
1 of the Combined Code on corporate governance (“the Code”) appended to the
Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority.

The Group Executive Committee generally meets more regularly than the Board to
allow prompt decision making and discussion of business issues. It is chaired by the
Chief Executive and comprises the Chief Financial Officer and other senior executives
from within the Group.

The Board
The Board currently comprises 12 Directors, made up of two Executive Directors, five
Shareholder Appointee Non-Executive Directors, one Non-Executive Director who is
not Independent, and four Independent Non-Executive Directors. The Non-Executive
Directors of the Company bring a wide range of experience and expertise to the
Company’s affairs and they carry significant weight in the Board’s decisions. Short
biographies of each of the Directors are set out on pages 45 and 46, which also
clearly identify those Directors who are, in the view of the Board, independent within
the meaning of the Code.

Board Committees
The Articles of Association contain certain rights for SGO, dependent on their
shareholding in the Company, to appoint and remove members of any standing
Committee established by the Board. SGO has the right to appoint two members
to any Committee.

The roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive are separate and have been so since
the Company obtained its listing in 1994. The Company has to date not identified a
member of the Board to act as a senior Independent Director; it believes that the
composition of the Board is such that the appointment of a senior Independent
Director is not necessary.
There is not a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors as required by the
Code. The Board has noted this requirement and is currently in the process, with
the help of an executive recruitment consultancy, of recruiting additional Independent
Non-Executive Directors to the Board.
The Board is scheduled to meet at least six times a year to review appropriate
strategic operational and financial matters as required. A schedule of items reserved
for the full Board’s approval is in place, which includes, inter alia, the approval of
annual and interim results, significant transactions, agreements or arrangements
between the Group and members of the News Corporation, Vivendi or Kirch groups
of companies, major capital expenditure and the yearly business plan and budget.
The Board has also delegated specific responsibilities to Board committees, notably
the Audit and the Remuneration Committees. Directors receive Board and Committee
papers several days in advance of Board and Committee meetings and also have
access to the advice and services of the Company Secretary. In addition, the Board
members have access to external professional advice, although no advice has been
sought to date.
Appointments of Independent Non-Executive Directors are for an initial term of three
years subject to initial election by shareholders following appointment, subsequent
re-election by shareholders, and Companies Act provisions relating to the removal
of Directors. In addition, re-appointment for a further term is not automatic but may
be made by mutual agreement.
The Executive Directors and Non-Executive Directors, who are not Shareholder
Appointees, comply with the requirement for Directors to retire and offer themselves
for re-election at least once every three years.
The Shareholder Appointee Non-Executive Directors appointed by Sky Global
Operations (“SGO”), a subsidiary of News Corporation, are not subject to election
by shareholders, nor do they have to retire by rotation as required by the Code.
The Articles of Association of the Company permit the News Corporation or such
subsidiary of News Corporation to appoint a number of Directors dependent on
their shareholding in the Company. SGO have the right to appoint five Directors.
The right of SGO to appoint Directors was agreed with the London Stock Exchange
at the time of flotation.
At the time that the Company took a 24% stake in KirchPayTV, they in return
acquired a shareholding in the Company. As part of this transaction it was agreed
that KirchPayTV would have the right to appoint one Director (Dieter Hahn) to the
Board. This right was not enshrined in the Company’s Articles of Association.
Though subsequently KirchPayTV have sold their stake in the Company, it was
agreed that Mr Hahn should remain as a Director of the Company. He is subject
to re-election in accordance with the Articles of Association.

Remuneration Committee
The Remuneration Committee, on behalf of the Board, is responsible for
recommending to the Board the framework and policy for Executive Directors’
remuneration and remuneration for any Executive of the Company earning in excess
of £250,000 per annum. The Committee has clearly defined terms of reference,
meets not less than once a year and takes advice from the Chief Executive and
independent consultants as appropriate in carrying out its work. The Remuneration
Committee comprises two Non-Executive Directors, both of whom are appointed
by SGO (David DeVoe and Rupert Murdoch). John Thornton, an Independent
Non-Executive Director, acts as Chairman. The Company, whilst noting that the
composition of the Committee does not comply with the Code, which requires that
all the members should be independent Non-Executive Directors, does not intend
to change the rights that exist for SGO to appoint members to the Committee.
The Board also notes that the Remuneration Committee’s objective on Executive
Directors’ service contracts and method of granting awards under the Group’s Long
Term Incentive Plan do not comply with the Code. This is more specifically discussed
on pages 50 and 51.
The Report on the Directors’ Remuneration can be found on pages 50 to 53. The
Company does not propose to put forward the report for approval by shareholders
at the Annual General Meeting.
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee, which consists exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, has
clearly defined terms of reference as laid out by the Board. The Committee is
chaired by Philip Bowman, an Independent Non-Executive Director, and its members
are John Thornton, an Independent Non-Executive Director, Allan Leighton, an
Independent Non-Executive Director, and David DeVoe and Arthur Siskind, both of
whom are Directors appointed by SGO. It meets not less than four times a year to
review all significant judgements made in the preparation of the quarterly, half yearly
and annual financial results before they are submitted to the Board. It reviews with
the external auditors the nature, scope and cost of their work, discusses with them
the results thereof, and reviews the audit plans and findings of the Group’s internal
audit function, together with any related party transactions entered into by the Group.
The Committee has the power to seek external advice as and when required. The
Company notes that the composition of the Audit Committee did not comply with the
Code during the year, but following the appointment of Allan Leighton, it does now
comply with the Code, which requires that a majority of the members should be
Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Nomination Committee
The Company has not formally established a standing nomination committee as
required by the Code. The Company has from time to time engaged an executive
search company to assist in the recruitment of Independent Non-Executive Directors.
Suitable candidates who are nominated to serve on the Board meet with the
Chairman and Chief Executive and other members of the Board. They are then
put forward for consideration and appointment by the Board as a whole.
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Appointment of Directors
No Directors were appointed to the Board during the year.
Communication with Shareholders
The Board is keen to maintain a dialogue with institutional shareholders in order to
ensure that the objectives of both the Company and the shareholders are understood.
A programme of meetings with institutional shareholders, fund managers and analysts
takes place each year. The Company also makes presentations to analysts and fund
managers following the half year and full year results of the Company.
The Board views the Annual General Meeting as an opportunity to communicate
with private investors and sets aside time at these meetings for shareholders to ask
questions of the Board. A presentation is made to the shareholders reviewing the
previous year’s activities of the Company and its plans for the forthcoming year.
The Company, in accordance with the Code, announces the number of proxy votes
cast on resolutions at the Annual General Meeting.
Directors’ Responsibilities
The responsibilities of the Directors are set out on page 54.
Internal Control
The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for the Group’s system of internal
control. The system of internal control is essentially an ongoing process embedded in
the Group’s operations for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks
faced by the Group. The effectiveness of this process for the year ended 30 June
2001 and up to 24 July 2001 has been reviewed by the Directors in line with the
criteria set out in the Turnbull Guidance issued in September 1999. The Directors’
review relates to the Company and its subsidiaries and does not extend to material
joint ventures and other investments.
There are inherent limitations in any system of internal control and accordingly even
the most effective system can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance
against material misstatement or loss.

Key features of the Group’s system of internal control include:
• the Risk Committee, chaired by the Chief Financial Officer and comprising
senior executives, which meets on a quarterly basis. The Risk Committee reviews
the management of risks in all areas of the business on a cyclical basis. The
outcome of the work of the Risk Committee is reported to the Audit Committee,
which in turn reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal control on
behalf of the Board of Directors;
• well-structured financial and administrative functions throughout the Group staffed
by appropriately qualified personnel. These functions include Group accounting,
central treasury management, company secretarial, legal and human resources;
• approval of the Group’s long term plan and annual budget by the Board of
Directors;
• comparing financial results and key performance indicators against the annual
budget and prior period results on a weekly and monthly basis with corrective
action being taken as necessary. Monthly information is provided to the Board
of Directors and the quarterly results are published;
• authority limits for the ordering of goods and services and for payments by
the Group;
• procedures for the approval and monitoring of capital expenditure, with defined
authority limits;
• treasury policies that have been established are reviewed and approved by the
Audit Committee;
• detailed financial analysis and evaluation undertaken for all new business
opportunities, including joint ventures; and
• division of responsibilities between the approval, execution and monitoring of
business transactions.
The internal controls are monitored as follows:
• an Audit and Risk Management team reviews key business risks, controls and
procedures across the Group, reporting findings to the Audit Committee; and
• the Audit and Risk Management team also takes account of the external auditors’
review of the operation of certain controls performed as part of the annual audit,
the key findings of which are reported to the Audit Committee.
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Report on Directors’ Remuneration
Remuneration Committee
Independent Non-Executive member: John Thornton (Chairman). Shareholder
Appointee Non-Executive members: Rupert Murdoch and David DeVoe. The
Committee was chaired by Morton Topfer, an Independent Non-Executive Director,
until his resignation from the Board on 30 April 2001.
The Remuneration Committee’s (“the Committee’s”) terms of reference are principally
concerned with the remuneration (in all its forms) of main Board Directors and other
senior executives of the Company with a basic salary of at least £250,000 per annum
(other than key production personnel or on-air talent). The Committee meets not
less than once a year, has access to information and advice provided from external
sources and from sources within the Company and ensures that:
a) the salary, benefits and pension arrangements of the Executive Directors are
competitive, but fair;
b) awards under the Company’s Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Option
Scheme, Additional Executive Bonus Scheme and Long Term Incentive Plan
(“LTIP”) are consistent with the Group’s overall performance and provide an
additional incentive to management; and
c) there is an objective and independent assessment of benefits granted to
Executive Directors.
Compliance
The Auditors’ Report set out on page 55 confirms that the scope of their work covers
the amounts disclosed relating to the emoluments, share options, LTIP interests and
pension benefits of the Directors contained in sections 11 to 14 of this report as
required by the Listing Rules.
1. Remuneration Policy for the Executive Directors and Senior Executives
The Committee operates a policy of competitive remuneration packages to attract,
retain and motivate Executive Directors and senior executives of the highest calibre.
2. Total Remuneration
Remuneration for Executive Directors and senior executives consists of basic salary,
performance related bonuses, share incentive schemes and benefits including
pension, life assurance, medical insurance and, where appropriate, company cars.
3. Basic Salary
The basic salary for each Executive Director and senior executive is determined by
the Committee upon the recommendation of the Chief Executive, other than his own
salary, and takes account of information provided from external sources relative to
the industry sector in which the Company operates.

4. Senior Management Bonus Scheme
Executive Directors and senior executives participate in a bonus scheme under which
awards are made to participants at the discretion of the Committee, based on key
indicators of their performance and that of the Company in the relevant financial year.
5. Pension Benefits
The Group provides pensions to eligible employees through the BSkyB pension
plan which is a defined contribution plan. The Group does not currently operate a
Supplementary Pension Scheme in excess of the Inland Revenue earnings cap.
6. Long Term Incentive Plan
The Company operates a Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for Executive Directors
and senior executives. An award under the LTIP comprises a Core Award and a
Performance Award. The Core Award vests dependent on continued service with
the Company for a specified period. The Performance Award vests, in full or in
part, dependent on the satisfaction of certain performance targets. Awards are not
transferable or pensionable and are made over a specified number of shares in the
Company, determined by the Committee. Awards may be in a variety of forms with
equivalent values.
Awards may be made to any employee or full time Director of the Company at the
discretion of the Committee. During the year, awards under the plan were made to
Tony Ball and Martin Stewart. Further information on the awards to the Directors can
be found in section 13 of this report.
The performance targets selected for the Awards made to date have been based
on a combination of business measures derived from the Company’s business plan,
and the Company’s relative total shareholder return performance against a range of
comparable companies in the UK and international media and telecommunications
sectors.
When the Committee introduced the LTIP, they considered whether the awards
should be in the form of a block award, or phased over a period of time. Given the
importance of strategic goals contained in the performance targets attached to the
initial award and the need to motivate and tie in the Executive Directors and key
senior executives to the long-term success of the Company, it was decided that
the first awards should be made in the form of a block award and hence this does
not comply with the provisions of the Code. With effect from November 2001, the
Awards made under the LTIP are intended to be made on an annual basis, in line
with the Combined Code’s recommendation on phased grants.
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7. Additional Executive Bonus Scheme
The Company operates an Additional Executive Bonus Scheme in which beneficiaries
who participate have the right to receive the growth in value on a number of notional
shares. No awards have been made under this scheme since 1999 and the only
existing awards are those made at that time to Tony Ball on his commencement
of employment as Chief Executive. Any exercise is subject to the Group achieving real
earnings per share growth, or an alternative performance target where exercise is
subject to an increase in the Group’s operating profit but adjusted for digital costs.
Any rights not exercised after seven years from the date of grant will lapse. At
exercise, the Company will pay a cash sum equal to accrued gains on the notional
shares, subject to deduction of any tax. Accrued gains will be calculated by reference
to the difference between the middle market price of the shares at the date of exercise
and the price at which the notional shares were granted. Alternatively, the Company
may elect to transfer shares of equal value to the accrued gains to the holders, in
satisfaction of the Company’s obligation to pay any accrued gains.
8. Share Option Schemes
The Company operates both an Approved and an Unapproved Executive Share
Option Scheme (“the Executive Schemes”). The Company also operates a Sharesave
Scheme (“the Sharesave Scheme”).
Under the Executive Schemes options have been normally only exercisable after the
expiry of three years from the date of grant and lapse if not exercised within ten years.
Options are only exercisable if the pre-determined performance target of real growth
in the Company’s earnings per share over any three-year period during the life of the
option is achieved. This performance target was subsequently amended as the launch
of the Company’s free set-top box offer impacted upon the growth in the Company’s
earnings per share. The Alternative Performance Target introduced for options granted
during the period 29 October 1999 to 23 November 2000 by the Company makes the
exercise of options conditional on the achievement of certain subscriber growth
measures.
At the Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) held in November 2000, the rules of the
Executive Schemes were changed such that there is now no limit on the number of
share options that may be granted to an individual (other than for the purposes of
granting Inland Revenue approved options). The Company follows a policy of granting
options to employees by reference to a multiple of salary. This is then subject to
approval by the department heads who may recommend that the person receives an
additional allocation dependent upon performance. The Company intends to continue
with this policy and any recommendations that will result in an employee receiving a
one off grant of share options over four times salary (irrespective of their level of salary)
will require the approval of the Committee. Following approval by shareholders at
the 2000 AGM, any options granted after November 2000 may be exercised over a
phased period of years, provided that, in normal circumstances, no part of an option
will be capable of exercise earlier than one year from the date of grant. Options
granted during the year become capable of exercise over a period of four years,
with 25% vesting annually for exercise by a participant.
Given the nature of the market in which the Company competes for talent, the
Committee considers the circumstances merit this vesting profile and that this is,
therefore, not inconsistent with paragraph 2 of Schedule A to the Combined Code.
During the year the Inland Revenue confirmed that the Company could, with the
consent of the employee, pass on to the employee the cost of employers’ National
Insurance Contributions on the exercise of share options granted to UK employees
under the Unapproved Executive Share Option Scheme. In order to compensate the
employees for this extra cost, additional options are granted under the Unapproved
Executive Share Option Scheme to take account of the National Insurance
contributions to ensure that the UK employees, as far as possible, are no worse off
than if no National Insurance was passed to them.

No options were granted to any Director under the Executive Schemes during the year.
With the exception of special grants made to certain individuals on hiring, grants
under the Option Plan have been made and continue to be made on an annual basis.
In addition, in December, a grant was made to all employees who had not been
granted options or awards under the LTIP or the Executive Schemes in November
2000. In each case this grant was over 500 shares. These awards were made under
the Approved Executive Share Option Scheme and become exercisable three years
from the date of grant.
The Sharesave Scheme is open to all employees, including Executive Directors.
Options are normally exercisable after either three, five or seven years from the date
of grant. The price at which options are offered is not less than 80% of the middlemarket price on the dealing day immediately proceeding the date of invitation. It is
the policy of the Company to make an invitation for the employees to participate in
the scheme following the announcement of the end of year results.
9. Service Contracts
Tony Ball has an employment contract with the Company for a term of three years
to 3 June 2002. The contract can be terminated by the Company subject to the
payment of two years’ salary or, if the contract is not extended at expiry, of one year’s
salary. The Committee is aware that this is not entirely consistent with the provisions
of the Combined Code and, for this reason, the Committee considered very carefully
what was in the Company’s interest. Taking into account the very competitive nature
of the media industry for top executives and the need for the Company to have
access to the most able management, the Committee concluded that this contract
was in the interests of the shareholders. Tony Ball’s remuneration consists of a base
salary of £725,410, plus an annual cost of living provision and an annual bonus based
on performance criteria to be agreed by the Committee but to be no less than
£500,000 annually. Tony Ball is also entitled to other benefits, namely participation
in the LTIP, Additional Executive Bonus Scheme and Executive Schemes, pension
benefits, company car, life assurance equal to four times base salary and medical
insurance.
Martin Stewart has an employment contract with the Company which is deemed to
commence on 1 December 1998 and shall continue unless or until terminated by
either party giving to the other not less than 12 months’ notice in writing and such
notice to expire on or after 30 August 2001, after which it shall operate on the basis
of a rolling notice period of not less than 12 months’ notice in writing by either party.
Martin Stewart’s remuneration consists of a base salary of £325,000 per annum and
an annual discretionary bonus to be agreed by the Committee. He is also entitled to
other benefits, namely pension benefits, company car, life assurance equal to four
times base salary and medical insurance. He also participates in the LTIP.
10. Non-Executive Directors
The basic fees payable to the Non-Executive Directors are set by the Board of
Directors and during the year were increased to £35,000 each per annum, to reflect
the fact that the fees had not increased since they were originally set in December
1994. It is intended that in future these will be increased on an annual basis by
5% or RPI, whichever is the greater unless the Board determines otherwise. The
Independent Non-Executive Directors are paid an additional £5,000 per annum each,
for membership of each of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee.
The Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee each receive an additional £5,000 per annum. The Shareholder Appointee
Non-Executive Directors do not receive any fees in their roles as Directors of the
Company. Each Independent Non-Executive Director is engaged by the Company for
an initial term of three years at which time the individual and the Board will make a
conscious decision regarding whether or not they should continue in their position.
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11. Directors’ emoluments
The emoluments of the Directors for the year are shown below:

Executive
Tony Ball
Martin Stewart
Non-Executive
Philip Bowman
Dr Dieter Hahn
Allan Leighton
Lord St. John of Fawsley
John Thornton
Morton Topfer (i)
David DeVoe
Leslie Hinton
Eric Licoys (ii)
Martin Pompadur
Rupert Murdoch
Arthur Siskind
Former Directors
Total emoluments

Total
emoluments
before
Benefits
pensions
£
£

Total
Total
emoluments emoluments
including
including
pensions
pensions
Pensions
2001
2000
£
£
£

Salary
and fees
£

Bonus
schemes
£

725,410
325,000

1,103,100
447,125

108,333
23,607

1,936,843
795,732

27,540
25,719

1,964,383
821,451

1,542,555
597,029

30,750
–
25,500
25,500
28,125
25,000
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
1,185,285

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
1,550,225

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
95,268
227,208

30,750
–
25,500
25,500
28,125
25,000
–
–
–
–
–
–
95,268
2,962,718

–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
53,259

30,750
–
25,500
25,500
28,125
25,000
–
–
–
–
–
–
95,268
3,015,977

30,000
–
17,724
25,000
26,770
28,334
–
–
–
–
–
–
705,784
2,973,196

(i) Morton Topfer resigned as a Director of the Company on 30 April 2001
(ii) Eric Licoys resigned as a Director of the Company on 31 January 2001
12. Executive bonuses
The amounts received by the Directors under bonus schemes are shown below:
Additional
Executive
Bonus Scheme (i)
£

Senior
Management
Bonus Scheme (ii)
£

Other (iii)
£

Total
£

Executive
Tony Ball
Martin Stewart

–
–

750,000
300,000

353,100
147,125

1,103,100
447,125

i) Additional Executive Bonus Scheme
Tony Ball has rights over 600,000 notional shares which become exercisable from 12 August 2002 at an option price of £5.35 and may not exceed a price per notional share
of £5.83 on exercise.
During the year to 30 June 2001 no shares (notional or actual) had been awarded or exercised under this scheme.
ii) Senior Management Bonus Scheme
The amounts shown above are those which have been approved by the Committee for the year ended 30 June 2001.
(iii) Other
This represents the value as at 31 January 2001, of the additional shares to which each of the Directors would have been entitled under the LTIP as at 23 November 2000 had
all relevant information been available. Following this cash payment, 30,000 shares made under the award to Tony Ball in August 1999 lapsed and 12,500 shares made under
the award to Martin Stewart in November 1998 lapsed.
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13. LTIP
Details of outstanding awards receivable under the LTIP are shown below:
Number of Shares under Award
At
30 June
2000

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

1,200,000
600,000
–

–
–
908,000

350,000
100,000
150,000
–

–
–
–
454,000

Market
price at
date of
exercise

Date
from
which
exercisable

Lapsed
during
the year

At
30 June
2001

Exercise
Price

–
570,000
–

600,000
30,000 (ii)
–

600,000
–
908,000

£5.83
£21.415
£10.04

N/A
£10.44

23.11.01
N/A
03.11.02 (i)

12.08.09
N/A
03.11.10

–
95,000
142,500
–

100,000
5,000 (ii)
7,500 (ii)
–

250,000
–
–
454,000

£5.02
£21.415
£21.415
£10.04

N/A
£10.44
£10.44
N/A

23.11.01
N/A
N/A
03.11.02 (i)

23.11.08
N/A
N/A
03.11.10

Expiry
date

Name of Director
Tony Ball

Martin Stewart

Notes:
Awards under the LTIP take the form of a market value option with a cash bonus equal to the exercise price. Based on the extent to which the available data indicated that
the performance conditions to which awards were subject had been satisfied, awards granted in November 1998 partially vested in November 2000 as to 570,000 shares
(Tony Ball) and 237,500 shares (Martin Stewart). However, since the market price of a share at the date of vesting of such awards was below the exercise price, the awards in
this form were treated as having lapsed. Instead, participants were eligible to receive shares, for no consideration, equal to the value of their vested awards.
The aggregate amount received by the Directors under the LTIP was £8,430,300 (2000: £nil).
(i) 50% of the award will vest subject to meeting performance conditions in November 2002, with the remaining 50% being exercisable from November 2003, subject to similar
performance conditions.
(ii) See section 12 note (iii) Other.
(iii) All LTIP awards outstanding at the year end are comprised of a share option together with a cash bonus equal to the exercise price of that share option.
Elisabeth Murdoch resigned as an Alternate Director and executive of the Company on 30 June 2000 and the Committee agreed that she would retain her option entitlements
in full.
14. Executive Share Options
Details of all outstanding options held under the Executive and Share Schemes are shown below:
Number of options

Tony Ball
Martin Stewart

Exercise
Price

Market
price at
date of
exercise

Date
from
which
exercisable

Expiry
date

5,145
594,855

£5.83
£5.83

N/A
N/A

12.08.2002
12.08.2002

12.08.2009
12.08.2006

2,096

£4.62

N/A

01.01.2003

30.06.2003

At
30 June
2000

Granted
during
the year

Exercised
during
the year

Lapsed
during
the year

At
30 June
2001

5,145
594,855

–
–

–
–

–
–

–

–

–

2,096 (i)

Note:
(i) Options granted under the Company’s Sharesave Scheme
The aggregate gain made by Directors on the exercise of share options was £nil (2000: £255,464).
During the year ended 30 June 2001 the share price traded within the range of £6.42 to £13.20 per share. The middle-market closing price on the last working day of the
financial year was £6.84.
15. Share interests
The interests of the Directors in the Ordinary Share capital of the Company during the year were:

Lord St. John of Fawsley

At 30 June 2001

At 30 June 2000

2,000

–

Except as disclosed in this report, no other Director held any interest in the share capital, including options, of the Company, or of any subsidiary of the Company, during the
year. All interests at the date shown are beneficial and there have been no changes between 1 July 2001 and 24 July 2001.
The ESOP is interested in 3,354,512 Ordinary Shares in which the Directors who are employees are deemed to be interested by virtue of Section 324 of the Companies Act
1985 (see note 16 of the accounts).
Rupert Murdoch, a Director of the Company, and members of his family have a significant interest in The News Corporation Limited, and therefore in companies within The
News Corporation Group of companies (“The News Corporation Group”). The News Corporation Group has certain significant transactions with the Group as set out in note
27 of the accounts.
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Directors’ Responsibilities
Accounts, including adoption of going concern basis
Company law requires the Directors to prepare accounts for each financial year which
give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and Group and of the
profit or loss of the Group for that period.
After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing the accounts.
In preparing the accounts, the Directors are required to: select suitable accounting
policies and then apply them consistently; make judgements and estimates that
are reasonable and prudent; and state whether applicable accounting standards
have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in
the accounts.
Other matters
The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and
Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the Companies
Act 1985. They are also responsible steps for the prevention and detection of fraud
and other irregularities.
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Auditors’ Report
Independent Auditors’ Report to the Shareholders of
British Sky Broadcasting Group plc:
We have audited the financial statements of British Sky Broadcasting Group plc
for the year ended 30 June 2001 which comprise the Profit and Loss Account, the
Balance Sheets, the Cash Flow Statement, the Statement of Total Recognised Gains
and Losses and the related Notes numbered 1 to 30. These financial statements
have been prepared under the accounting policies set out therein.
Respective responsibilities of Directors and Auditors
The Directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual Report and the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom accounting
standards are set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities. Our responsibility
is to audit the financial statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, United Kingdom Auditing Standards and the Listing Rules of the
Financial Services Authority.
We report to you our opinion as to whether the financial statements give a true and
fair view and are properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We
also report to you if, in our opinion, the Directors’ Report is not consistent with the
financial statements, if the Company has not kept proper accounting records, if we
have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit, or if
information specified by law or the Listing Rules regarding Directors’ remuneration
and transactions with the Company and other members of the Group is not disclosed.
We review whether the Corporate Governance Statement reflects the Company’s
compliance with the seven provisions of the Combined Code specified for our review
by the Listing Rules, and we report if it does not. We are not required to consider
whether the Board’s statements on internal control cover all risks and controls, or
form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s corporate governance procedures
or its risk and control procedures.
We read the other information contained in the Annual Report, including the Corporate
Governance Statement, and consider whether it is consistent with the audited financial
statements. This other information comprises only the Chairman’s Statement, the
Chief Executive’s Statement, the Operating and Financial Review and the Corporate
Governance Statement. We consider the implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with United Kingdom Auditing Standards
issued by the Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, on a test
basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements.
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates and judgements made
by the Directors in the preparation of the financial statements and of whether the
accounting policies are appropriate to the circumstances of the Company and of
the Group, consistently applied and adequately disclosed.
We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all the information and
explanations which we considered necessary in order to provide us with sufficient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the presentation
of information in the financial statements.
Opinion
In our opinion the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Company and of the Group at 30 June 2001 and of the Group’s loss for the
year then ended and have been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985.
Arthur Andersen
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
1 Surrey Street,
London WC2R 2PS
24 July 2001
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Turnover: Group and share of joint ventures
Less: share of joint ventures’ turnover
Group turnover

Before
goodwill and Goodwill and
exceptional exceptional
2001
items
items
Total
as restated
as restated
£m
£m
£m

Notes

Before
goodwill and
exceptional
items
£m

Goodwill and
exceptional
items
£m

3

2,530.1
(224.1)
2,306.0

–
–
–

2,530.1
(224.1)
2,306.0

1,934.7
(87.7)
1,847.0

–
–
–

1,934.7
(87.7)
1,847.0

2000
Total
as restated
£m

Continuing operations
Acquisitions
Group turnover

2

2,220.1
85.9
2,306.0

–
–
–

2,220.1
85.9
2,306.0

1,847.0
–
1,847.0

–
–
–

1,847.0
–
1,847.0

Operating expenses, net

4

(2,145.8)

(67.4)

(2,213.2)

(1,761.7)

(105.0)

(1,866.7)

EBITDA
Depreciation
Amortisation

1

224.3
(64.1)
–

(16.1)
(7.0)
(44.3)

208.2
(71.1)
(44.3)

134.2
(48.9)
–

(101.9)
(3.1)
–

32.3
(52.0)
–

171.4
(11.2)

–
(67.4)

171.4
(78.6)

85.3
–

(105.0)
–

(19.7)
–

160.2

(67.4)

92.8

85.3

(105.0)

(19.7)

6
15
5
5
5
5

(239.2)
–
–
–
–
–
(79.0)

(16.5)
(101.1)
–
(69.5)
(38.6)
(10.0)
(303.1)

(255.7)
(101.1)
–
(69.5)
(38.6)
(10.0)
(382.1)

(121.3)
–
–
–
–
–
(36.0)

–
(14.4)
(1.4)
(14.0)
–
–
(134.8)

(121.3)
(14.4)
(1.4)
(14.0)
–
–
(170.8)

7
7
8

18.2
(153.3)
(214.1)

2.7
–
(300.4)

20.9
(153.3)
(514.5)

10.7
(102.6)
(127.9)

–
–
(134.8)

10.7
(102.6)
(262.7)

Taxation (charge) credit
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation

10
25

(23.3)
(237.4)

(0.8)
(301.2)

(24.1)
(538.6)

33.5
(94.4)

31.5
(103.3)

65.0
(197.7)

Equity dividends – paid and proposed
Retained loss

11

Loss per share – basic and diluted

12

Continuing operations
Acquisitions

2

Operating profit (loss)
Share of operating results of joint ventures
Joint ventures’ goodwill amortisation
Loss on sale of fixed asset investments
Share of joint venture’s loss on sale of fixed asset investment
Amounts written off fixed asset investments
Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary
Loss on ordinary activities before interest and taxation
Interest receivable and similar income
Interest payable and similar charges
Loss on ordinary activities before taxation

–
(538.6)
(12.9p)

(16.3p)

(29.2p)

–
(197.7)
(5.4p)

(5.9p)

(11.3p)

Details of movements on reserves are shown in note 25.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated profit and loss account.

Consolidated Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses for the year ended 30 June 2001
Notes

2001
£m

2000
£m

(375.5)
291.6
(454.7)
(538.6)

(146.4)
(1.5)
(123.6)
(271.5)
–
4.1
(267.4)

BSkyB Group plc
Subsidiary undertakings
Joint ventures
Loss for the financial year

25

Net loss on deemed disposals
Translation differences on foreign currency net investment
Total recognised gains and losses relating to the year

25
25

(20.7)
(2.1)
(561.4)

Prior year adjustment
Total gains and losses recognised since last annual report

10

150.5
(410.9)

25

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated statement of total recognised gains and losses.
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Fixed assets
Intangible assets
Tangible assets
Investments:
Investments in joint ventures: Share of gross assets
: Share of gross liabilities
: Joint ventures’ goodwill
: Transfer to creditors
Total investments in joint ventures

Notes

2001
£m

2000
as restated
£m

13
14

789.3
315.4

–
224.9

270.5
(248.3)
1,140.6
0.9

667.2
(513.4)
1,358.0
0.5

15

1,163.7

1,512.3

16

142.2
1,305.9

148.3
1,660.6

2,410.6

1,885.5

17
18
18

424.1
493.4
324.6
223.6
1,465.7

358.2
333.5
421.1
281.2
1,394.0

20
20

(2.1)
(988.7)
(990.8)

(13.8)
(808.9)
(822.7)

474.9

571.3

2,885.5

2,456.8

21
21
21

(1,768.0)
(13.9)
(1,781.9)

(1,412.4)
(22.0)
(1,434.4)

Provisions for liabilities and charges

23

(43.0)
1,060.6

(225.5)
796.9

Capital and reserves – equity
Called-up share capital
Share premium
Shares to be issued
Merger reserve
Profit and loss account
Total shareholders’ funds

24
25
25
25
25
25

944.4
2,377.6
256.9
340.8
(2,859.1)
1,060.6

912.9
2,209.9
–
–
(2,325.9)
796.9

Other fixed asset investments
Total investments

Current assets
Stocks
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year
Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
Cash at bank and in hand
Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
– short-term borrowings
– other creditors
Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
– long-term borrowings
– other creditors

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated balance sheet.
Signed on behalf of the Board
Tony Ball Chief Executive Officer
Martin Stewart Chief Financial Officer
24 July 2001
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Notes

2001
£m

2000
as restated
£m

Fixed assets
Tangible assets
Investments

14
16

2.1
6,239.7
6,241.8

2.3
6,545.9
6,548.2

Current assets
Debtors: Amounts falling due within one year
Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

18
18

1,141.5
146.2
1,287.7

1,229.3
132.6
1,361.9

Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

20

(830.3)

(558.3)

457.4

803.6

6,699.2

7,351.8

Net current assets
Total assets less current liabilities
Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

21

(2,112.4)
4,586.8

(2,845.6)
4,506.2

Capital and reserves – equity
Called-up share capital
Share premium
Shares to be issued
Capital reserve
Profit and loss account
Total shareholders’ funds

24
25
25
25
25
25

944.4
2,377.6
256.9
843.9
164.0
4,586.8

912.9
2,209.9
–
843.9
539.5
4,506.2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this balance sheet.
Signed on behalf of the Board
Tony Ball Chief Executive Officer
Martin Stewart Chief Financial Officer
24 July 2001
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 30 June 2001
Notes

2001
£m

2000
£m

28a

38.9

(232.5)

4.6
(118.6)
(1.7)
(115.7)

9.8
(73.9)
(0.8)
(64.9)

(16.2)
(16.2)

(23.6)
(23.6)

Capital expenditure and financial investment
Payments to acquire tangible fixed assets
Payments to acquire fixed asset investments
Receipt from sales of fixed asset investments
Receipt from sales of intangible assets
Receipt of government grants
Net cash outflow from capital expenditure and financial investment

(133.3)
(25.5)
–
0.2
–
(158.6)

(57.9)
(48.0)
5.3
–
0.6
(100.0)

Acquisitions and disposals
Purchase of subsidiary undertakings
Net cash acquired with subsidiary undertakings
Funding to joint ventures
Repayments of funding from joint ventures
Net payments made in the acquisition of joint ventures
Net cash outflow from acquisitions and disposals

(27.3)
11.7
(137.3)
–
–
(152.9)

–
–
(79.9)
1.7
(333.0)
(411.2)

Net cash outflow before management of liquid resources and financing

(404.5)

(832.2)

85.0

(155.0)

6.5
(3.5)
357.6
360.6

359.8
(7.7)
697.4
1,049.5

Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities
Returns on investments and servicing of finance
Interest received and similar income
Interest paid and similar charges on external financing
Interest element of finance lease payments
Net cash outflow from returns on investments and servicing of finance
Taxation
Consortium relief paid
Net cash outflow from taxation

Management of liquid resources
Decrease (increase) in short-term deposits
Financing
Proceeds from issue of ordinary shares
Payments made on the issue of ordinary shares
Net increase in total debt
Net cash inflow from financing

28c

28c

Increase in cash

28c

41.1

62.3

Increase in net debt

28c

(401.5)

(480.1)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated cash flow statement.
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Notes to Accounts
1. Accounting policies
The principal accounting policies are summarised below. All of these have been
applied consistently throughout the year and the preceding year, with the exception
of the change in accounting policy resulting from the adoption of FRS 19.
a) Basis of accounting
The accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention, modified
to include the revaluation of certain investments, and in accordance with applicable
financial reporting and accounting standards, including the following Financial
Reporting Standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board which have come
into force since the previous year end:
FRS 17 – Retirement benefits
This standard addresses the measurement and valuation of retirement benefit
pension schemes. Compliance with this standard has not given rise to any change
in accounting policies or any restatement of figures reported for prior periods since
the Group operates defined contribution plans.
FRS 18 – Accounting policies
This standard addresses the adoption of appropriate accounting policies, judged
against the objectives of relevance, reliability, comparability and understandability.
Compliance with this standard has not given rise to any change in accounting policies
or any restatement of figures reported for prior periods.
FRS 19 – Deferred tax
This standard addresses the recognition, on a full provision basis, of deferred tax
assets and liabilities arising from timing differences between the recognition of gains
and losses in the financial statements and their recognition in a tax computation.
Further details regarding the change in accounting policy resulting from the adoption
of FRS 19 are set out in note 1l) and 10.
b) Basis of consolidation
The Group accounts consolidate the accounts of the Company and all its subsidiary
undertakings. All companies are consolidated using acquisition accounting.
The Group maintains a 52-53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday nearest to 30
June in each year. In fiscal year 2001 this date was 1 July 2001, this being a 52 week
year (2000: 2 July 2000, 53 week year).
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in section 230 of the Companies
Act 1985 not to present its own profit and loss account. The Company’s result for
the financial year determined in accordance with the Act is disclosed in note 25. The
Company takes advantage of section 131 of the Companies Act 1985 to apply merger
relief where it is entitled to do so.
c) Acquisitions
On the acquisition of a business, fair values are attributed to the Group’s share of
separable net assets acquired. Where the cost of acquisition exceeds the fair values
attributable to such net assets, the difference is treated as purchased goodwill and
capitalised on the Group balance sheet in the year of acquisition. The results and cash
flows relating to a business are included in the consolidated profit and loss account
and the consolidated cash flow statement from the date of acquisition.
d) Turnover
Turnover, which excludes value added tax, represents the invoiced value of advertising,
pay channel subscriptions and other revenues.
e) Goodwill
Prior to 1 July 1998, goodwill arising on acquisitions was eliminated against reserves.
As permitted by FRS 10, this goodwill has not been restated on the balance sheet.
On disposal or closure of a previously acquired business, the goodwill previously
written off to reserves will be included in calculating the profit or loss on disposal.
Purchased goodwill (representing the fair value of the consideration over the fair
value of the separable net assets acquired) arising on acquisitions from 1 July 1998
is capitalised.
Where capitalised goodwill is regarded as having a limited useful economic life, the
cost is amortised on a straight line basis over that life, of up to 20 years.
Impairment reviews are carried out to ensure that goodwill is not carried at above its
recoverable amount. Any amortisation or impairment write-downs are charged to the
profit and loss account.

f) Interests in joint ventures
Joint ventures are entities in which the Group holds a long-term interest and shares
control under a contractual arrangement. These investments are dealt with by the
gross equity method of accounting. Provision is made within creditors where the
Group’s share of a joint venture’s losses exceeds the Group’s funding to date.
g) Investments
In the Company’s accounts, investments in subsidiary undertakings are stated at cost,
with the exception of the investment in Sky Television Limited (“Sky”) which is stated
at valuation. Provision is made for any permanent diminution in value.
The Company’s shares held by the Employee Share Ownership Plan (“ESOP”) are
included in the consolidated balance sheet as a fixed asset investment until such
time as the interest in the shares is transferred unconditionally to the employees.
A charge is made in the profit and loss account in relation to the shares held by
the ESOP for awards under the Long Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) and the
Key Contributor Plan (“KCP”), based on an assessment of the probability of the
performance criteria under the LTIP and KCP being met. The charge is allocated
on a straight-line basis over the performance period of the LTIP and KCP.
Provision is made for any permanent diminution in the value of shares held by
the ESOP.
The Group’s other fixed asset investments are stated at cost, less any provision for
permanent diminution in value.
h) Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost net of accumulated depreciation and any
provision for impairment. Land is not depreciated.
Depreciation is provided to write off the cost, less estimated residual value, of each
asset on a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life. Principal annual rates used
for this purpose are:
Freehold buildings
Leasehold improvements
Equipment, fixtures and fittings:
– Fixtures and fittings
– Computer equipment
– Technical equipment
– Motor vehicles

4%
Lower of lease period or life of the asset
10% – 20%
20% – 331/3%
10% – 20%
25%

i) Stocks
Stocks, apart from programme rights, are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value (“NRV”).
The stock of set-top boxes is valued at the lower of cost and NRV (which reflects the
value to the business of the set-top box in the hands of the customer). Any subsidy
is expensed on enablement.
Programme rights are stated at cost (including, where applicable, estimated escalation
payments) less accumulated amortisation.
Acquired programme rights, and the related liability, are recorded at cost when the
programmes are available for transmission.
Contractual obligations for programme rights not yet available for transmission are
not included in the cost of programme rights, but are disclosed as contractual
commitments (see note 26).
Programme payments made in advance of the Group having availability to transmit
the related acquired programmes are treated as prepayments.
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1. Accounting policies continued
Amortisation is provided to write off the cost of acquired programme rights as follows:
Sports – 100% on first showing, or where contracts provide for sports rights for
multiple seasons or competitions, the amortisation of each contract is based on
anticipated sports revenue.
Current affairs – 100% on first showing.
General entertainment – Straight-line basis on each transmission at the following rates:
• One showing planned – 100%
• Two showings planned – 60%; 40%
• Three showings planned – 50%; 30%; 20%
• Four showings planned – 40%; 30%; 20%; 10%
Movies – Straight-line basis over the period of transmission rights. Where movie rights
provide for a second availability window, 10% of the cost is allocated to that window.
Own movie productions are amortised in line with anticipated revenue over a
maximum of five years.
Provisions are made for any programme rights which are excess to Group
requirements or which will not be shown for any other reason.
j) Transponder rentals
Payments made in advance to secure distribution channels on the Astra satellites have
been recorded as prepaid transponder rentals. These payments are amortised to the
profit and loss account over the period from commencement of broadcasting to the
end of the rental period, normally between five and ten years.
k) Taxation
Corporation tax payable is provided at current rates on all taxable profits.
l) Deferred taxation
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but
not reversed at the balance sheet date, where transactions or events that result in an
obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have
occurred at the balance sheet date.
A net deferred tax asset is regarded as recoverable and therefore recognised only
when, on the basis of all available evidence, it can be regarded as more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits against which to recover carried forward
tax losses and from which the future reversal of underlying timing differences can
be deducted.
Deferred tax is recognised in respect of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries
only to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have been accrued as
receivable or a binding agreement to distribute past earnings in future periods has
been entered into by the subsidiary.
Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the
periods in which the timing differences are expected to reverse, based on tax rates
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.
Deferred tax is measured on a non-discounted basis.
On adoption of FRS 19, the Group has changed its accounting policy in respect of
deferred taxation, and restated prior year results accordingly (see note 10).

m) Foreign currency
Trading activities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in sterling at actual
exchange rates as of the date of the transaction or at the contracted rate if the
transaction is covered by a forward foreign exchange contract or other hedging
instrument. Monetary assets, liabilities and commitments denominated in foreign
currencies at the year end are reported at the rates of exchange prevailing at the
year end or, if hedged, at the appropriate hedged rate.
The results of the overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures are translated at the
average rates of exchange during the period and the balance sheet at the rates ruling
at the balance sheet date. Exchange differences arising on translation of the opening
net assets and results of the overseas subsidiaries and joint ventures and on foreign
currency borrowings, to the extent that they hedge the Group’s investment in these
operations, are dealt with through reserves.
n) Derivatives and other financial instruments
The Group uses a limited number of derivative financial instruments to hedge its
exposures to fluctuations in interest and foreign exchange rates. Instruments accounted
for as hedges are structured so as to reduce the market risk associated with the
underlying transaction being hedged and are designated as a hedge at the inception
of the contract. Receipts and payments on interest rate instruments are recognised
on an accruals basis, over the life of the instrument. Gains and losses on contracts
hedging forecast transactional cash flows are recognised in the hedged periods.
Cash flows associated with derivative financial instruments are classified in the cash
flow statement in a manner consistent with those of the underlying transactions being
hedged. If an instrument ceases to be accounted for as a hedge, for example, by the
underlying hedged position being eliminated, the instrument is marked to market and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the profit and loss account.
The Group does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for speculative
purposes.
o) Pension costs
The Group provides pensions to eligible employees through the BSkyB pension plan
which is a defined contribution plan. The assets of the plan are held independently of
the Group.
The amount charged to the profit and loss account is based on the contributions
payable for the year.
p) Leases
Assets held under finance leases are treated as tangible fixed assets. Depreciation
is provided accordingly and the deemed capital element of future rentals is included
within creditors. Deemed interest is charged as interest payable over the period of
the lease.
The rental costs arising from operating leases are charged to the profit and loss
account in the year in which they are incurred.
q) Government grants
Government grants relating to tangible fixed assets are reported as deferred income
and amortised over the expected useful life of the asset concerned. Other grants are
credited to the profit and loss account as the related expenditure is incurred.
r) EBITDA
EBITDA (Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation) is calculated
as operating profit before depreciation and amortisation of goodwill and intangible
fixed assets.
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2. Acquisitions
British Interactive Broadcasting Holdings Limited (“BiB”)
During 2001, the Group acquired 67.5% of the issued share capital of BiB, 47.6% on 9 May 2001 and 19.9% on 28 June 2001, increasing the Group’s interest to 100%
(2000: 32.5%). The amount of provisional goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition is £564.9 million, which is being amortised over a seven year period on a straight-line basis.
The results of BiB prior to acquisition were as follows:
Loss after tax
£m
1 July 2000 to 9 May 2001
Preceding financial year ended 30 June 2000

214.6
232.3

The following table shows the adjustments made to the book value of the major categories of assets and liabilities acquired to arrive at fair values included in the consolidated
financial statements at the date of acquisition. The cash flow effects are shown below.
Provisional adjustments

Book value
£m
Tangible fixed assets
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net (liabilities) assets

26.7 (i)
4.4
80.3
(120.5)
(156.0)
(165.1)

Fair value
adjustments
£m
–
(1.2)
(0.4)
–
–
(1.6)

Provisional goodwill arising on acquisition

Accounting
policy
adjustments
£m
–
–
22.8 (ii)
–
–
22.8

Fair value to
Group of
100% of BiB
£m
26.7
3.2
102.7
(120.5)
(156.0)
(143.9)
564.9
421.0

Satisfied by:
Original equity funding (see note 15)
Debentures capitalised (see note 15)
Fair value of shares issued (see note 25)
Fair value of deferred consideration (see note 25)
Cash
Cumulative share of joint venture losses at completion (see note 15)
Costs associated with the acquisition

44.7
85.1
290.9
253.2
23.1
(282.1)
6.1
421.0

i) This is stated after a provision for impairment of £13.1 million to write down the value of the current platform (see note 5).
ii) The accounting policy adjustment aligns BiB’s policy of recognising the cost of the set-top box subsidy when the set-top box is delivered with the Group’s policy of
recognising the cost of the set-top box when the set-top box is enabled.
Deferred consideration, estimated at £75 million, £56 million and £122 million will be payable to HSBC, Matsushita and BT respectively through the issue of new BSkyB
Ordinary Shares or loan notes.
As it has not been possible to complete the investigation to determine the fair value of BiB before the approval of the financial statements, provisional valuations have been
made. Based on these valuations, provisional goodwill of £564.9 million has arisen on acquisition. Further valuations will be made which might, if necessary, result in an
adjustment being made to goodwill in the next annual financial statements.
The effect of the acquisition of BiB on the Group’s results was to increase turnover by £6.9 million and to decrease operating profit before goodwill and exceptional items by
£1.0 million.
Cash flow
From 9 May 2001, BiB contributed £24.4 million to the Group’s net operating cash outflows, paid £1.5 million in respect of net returns on investment and servicing of finance,
utilised £0.1 million for capital expenditure and financial investment and received £19.7 million from financing.
Contingent consideration
If the valuation of BiB, based on agreed criteria, is £3 billion or greater, either at 30 or 36 months from the date of the purchase agreement, a further estimated £75 million,
£56 million and £122 million will be payable to HSBC, Matsushita and BT respectively, through the issue of new BSkyB Ordinary Shares or loan notes. Due to the degree of
uncertainty, these amounts have not been recognised.
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2. Acquisitions continued
Sports Internet Group plc (“SIG”)
100% of the issued share capital of SIG was acquired on 12 July 2000. The amount of goodwill arising as a result of the acquisition is £272.4 million, which is being amortised
over a seven year period on a straight-line basis. SIG has now changed its name to Sports Internet Group Limited (see note 30).
The results of SIG prior to acquisition were as follows:
Loss after tax
£m
1 April 2000 to date of acquisition
Preceding financial period from 8 February 1999 to 31 March 2000

6.7
9.5

The following table shows the adjustments made to the book value of the major categories of assets and liabilities acquired to arrive at fair values included in the consolidated
financial statements at the date of acquisition. The cash flow effects are shown below.

Adjustments

Book value
£m
Intangible fixed assets
Other non-current assets
Current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net assets (liabilities)

73.0
3.8
6.0
(9.2)
(0.4)
73.2

Fair value
adjustments
£m

Fair value to
Group of
100% of SIG
£m

(72.2) (i)
(0.6)
–
(1.1)
–
(73.9)

0.8
3.2
6.0
(10.3)
(0.4)
(0.7)

Goodwill arising on acquisition

272.4
271.7

Satisfied by:
Fair value of shares issued (see note 25)
Costs associated with the acquisition

267.3
4.4
271.7

(i) This adjustment removes the goodwill recorded in the books of SIG.
The effect of the acquisition of SIG on the Group’s results was to increase turnover by £79.0 million and to decrease operating profit before goodwill and exceptional items by
£10.2 million.
Cashflow
From 12 July 2000, SIG contributed £12.2 million to the Group’s net operating cash outflows, paid £0.1 million in respect of net returns on investment and servicing of finance,
utilised £3.9 million for capital expenditure and financial investment, utilised £2.2 million for acquisitions and received £17.1 million in respect of financing.
WAP TV Limited (“WAP TV”)
On 29 May 2001 the Group acquired a 5% minority interest in WAP TV for total consideration of £5.0 million, increasing the Group’s interest to 100%. The consideration
comprises 169,375 new BSkyB Ordinary Shares issued on 29 May 2001, and contingent consideration to be satisfied by the issue of a further 169,375 new BSkyB Ordinary
Shares on 30 June 2002, and the issue of 338,755 new BSkyB Ordinary Shares on 30 September 2003. This consideration is contingent upon the vendors remaining
continuously in the employment of the Group from completion until the date the deferred consideration is due. This has been recognised as it is considered probable that
these criteria will be fulfilled. Provisional goodwill of £5.2 million arose on the acquisition, which is being amortised over a seven year period on a straight-line basis.
The £(0.2) million book value of the assets and liabilities of the minority interest acquired was deemed to be equal to the fair value.
3. Turnover

Direct-To-Home subscribers
Cable and DTT subscribers
Advertising
Interactive*
Other

2001
£m

2000
£m

1,536.7
299.1
270.5
93.0
106.7
2,306.0

1,189.0
303.0
242.3
4.6
108.1
1,847.0

* Interactive income includes income from gaming, online advertising, internet, e-commerce, interconnect, text services and Sky Interactive set-top box subsidy recovery.
All turnover is derived from the Group’s sole class of business, being television broadcasting together with certain ancillary functions, and arises principally within the United
Kingdom from activities conducted from the United Kingdom, with the exception of £65.2 million of turnover (2000: £nil) which relates to activities conducted from the Channel
Islands. Subscription revenue is recognised over the period to which it relates. In order to provide shareholders with additional information, the Group’s turnover has been
analysed as shown above.
Loss before tax and net assets relate to activities conducted in the United Kingdom, with the exception respectively of £292.4 million loss (2000: £43.8 million loss) and
£1,142.1 million of net assets (2000: £1,479.9 million) which relate to activities conducted from Germany, and £1.2 million loss (2000: £nil) and £1.5 million of net liabilities
(2000: £nil) which relate to activities conducted from the Channel Islands.
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4. Operating expenses, net

Programming (i)
Transmission and related functions (i)
Marketing
Subscriber management
Administration
Gaming

Before
goodwill and
exceptional
items
£m

Goodwill and
exceptional
items
£m

2001
Total
£m

1,133.8
128.6
378.1
243.4
186.6
75.3
2,145.8

–
–
–
–
67.4
–
67.4

1,133.8
128.6
378.1
243.4
254.0
75.3
2,213.2

Before
exceptional Exceptional
items
items
£m
£m
945.6
105.2
381.3
199.9
129.7
–
1,761.7

–
41.0
58.3
5.7
–
–
105.0

2000
Total
£m
945.6
146.2
439.6
205.6
129.7
–
1,866.7

(i) The amounts shown are net of £55.1 million (2000: £51.3 million) receivable from the disposal of programming rights not acquired for use by the Group, and £53.9 million
(2000: £61.3 million) in respect of the provision to third party broadcasters of spare transponder capacity.
In addition to the £75.3 million of gaming costs, £47.8 million of other ’Sky Interactive’ operating costs are allocated to the relevant operating expenses lines.
The analysis of these operating costs for acquisitions is as follows: for BiB; transmission and related functions costs of £3.6 million; marketing costs of £0.6 million; subscriber
management costs of £0.4 million and administration costs before goodwill and exceptional items of £3.3 million; and for SIG: programming costs of £0.5 million; transmission
and related functions costs of £1.5 million; marketing costs of £1.9 million; administration costs of £10.0 million and gaming costs of £75.3 million.
5. Exceptional items

Estimated cost of reorganisation of Sky Interactive
Estimated cost of termination of analogue operations
Estimated cost of transitioning analogue customers to digital service
Estimated cost of Sky In-Home Service Limited reorganisation
Exceptional operating items
Loss on sale of fixed asset investments (see note 16)
Share of joint venture’s operating exceptional item (see note 6)
Share of joint venture’s loss on sale of fixed asset investment (see note 15)
Amounts written off fixed asset investments (see notes 15 and 16)
Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary (see note 13)
Finance credit (see note 7)

Before
taxation
£m

Taxation
credit
as restated
£m

2000
After
taxation
as restated
£m

Before
taxation
£m

Taxation
charge
£m

2001
After
taxation
£m

23.1
–
–
–
23.1

–
–
–
–
–

23.1
–
–
–
23.1

–
41.0
58.3
5.7
105.0

–
(12.3)
(17.5)
(1.7)
(31.5)

–
28.7
40.8
4.0
73.5

–
16.5
69.5
38.6
10.0
(2.7)
155.0

–
–
–
–
–
0.8
0.8

–
16.5
69.5
38.6
10.0
(1.9)
155.8

1.4
–
14.0
–
–
–
120.4

–
–
–
–
–
–
(31.5)

1.4
–
14.0
–
–
–
88.9

2001
Reorganisation of Sky Interactive
In May 2001, the Group announced the consolidation of all of its interactive and online activities within the ’Sky Interactive’ division. This division brings together BiB with the
Group’s Interactive properties including SIG. The costs of reorganisation within Sky Interactive are estimated at £23.1 million and principally comprise the cost of termination of
certain contracts, the closure of duplicate sites and a reduction in headcount. Of these costs, £7.0 million are included within fixed assets, £4.0 million are included within other
creditors and the remainder within provisions.
Share of joint ventures’ operating exceptional item
In April 2001, BiB incurred exceptional operating costs of £16.5 million, principally comprising the cost of the write down of the current platform. Of these costs, £13.1 million
are included within fixed assets and the remainder within provisions.
Share of joint ventures’ loss on sale of fixed asset investment
On 31 August 2000, KirchPayTV GmbH & Co KGaA (“KirchPayTV”) disposed of their remaining 58 million holding of BSkyB shares. The Group’s share of the loss on disposal
was £69.5 million. The loss is calculated as BSkyB’s share of the difference between the balance sheet value of the 58 million shares at £15.21 per share (based on the value
of the shares at the date of acquisition of 24% of KirchPayTV by BSkyB) and the net proceeds realised by KirchPayTV of £10.05 per share.
Amounts written off fixed asset investments
At 30 June 2001, £38.6 million has been provided against BSkyB’s minority investments in new media companies (see note 16). This consists of £40.0 million originally
provided, reduced by £1.4 million to reflect the post year end disposal of the Group’s investment in Static 2358 Limited (see note 29). Of the £38.6 million provision, £0.5 million
relates to investments held by BiB (see note 15).
Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary
On 11 July 2001, BSkyB and Ladbrokes, the betting and gaming division of Hilton Group plc, reached agreement to form a 50:50 joint venture to develop and operate a
fixed-odds and pools betting business linked to Sky channels on Sky digital. BSkyB will contribute its wholly-owned bookmaker, Surrey Sports, to the joint venture. When
Surrey Sports is transferred to the joint venture, BSkyB will adjust existing goodwill on its balance sheet and a provision for this has been made in the year to 30 June 2001.
Finance credit
An exceptional accrual was made in June 1999 in respect of the mark to market of a floating-to-fixed interest rate swap over £100 million of the £1,000 million revolving credit
facility (“RCF”) which was no longer required when the RCF was cancelled and replaced with a £750 million RCF. The swap was closed out in September 2000, and the
remaining accrual of £2.7 million was released.
2000
Termination of analogue operations
In May 2000, the Group committed to terminating its current analogue service in June 2001, earlier than the previously announced date of 31 December 2002. The costs of the
termination were estimated at £41.0 million and principally comprise the cost of early termination of analogue transponder leases and other costs to be incurred to terminate
the Group’s analogue operations. As previously announced, the Group substantially terminated its analogue service in June 2001; however, a limited analogue service will
continue to be broadcast until at least September 2001.
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5. Exceptional items continued
Transitioning analogue customers to digital service
On 5 May 1999, the Group announced a marketing promotion under which it committed to transitioning its existing analogue subscribers onto its digital service. The net
costs associated with this process were estimated at £450 million, before taking account of tax relief of £135 million. This did not include subsidy costs provided by
BiB, 32.5% of whose funding was met by the Group. Following the agreement by the Group to acquire a further 47.6% shareholding in BiB (see note 2) and the consequent
agreement for the Group to provide 100% of BiB’s funding, it became appropriate to increase the provision by £58.3 million in June 2000, principally to provide for the costs of
subsidising the set-top boxes for the remaining analogue subscribers.
Sky In-Home Service Limited reorganisation
In May 2000, the Group announced the reorganisation of the Sky In-Home Service Limited distribution network at a cost of £5.7 million. These costs principally comprised the
costs of staff redundancies, termination of building leases and fixed asset write downs.
Loss on sale of fixed asset investments
During the prior year the Group reduced its holdings in Manchester United PLC and Manchester City PLC so as to bring the holdings below the 10% holding limit stipulated
by the rules of the Premier League. These disposals resulted in a total loss of £1.4 million (see note 16).
Share of joint venture’s loss on sale of fixed asset investment
On 7 June 2000, KirchPayTV sold 20 million of its holding of BSkyB shares. The Group’s share of the loss on disposal was £14.0 million. The loss was calculated as 24% of
the difference between the balance sheet value of the 20 million shares at £15.21 per share (based on the value of the shares at the date of acquisition of 24% of KirchPayTV
by BSkyB) and the net proceeds realised by KirchPayTV of £12.30 per share.
Taxation credit
The exceptional tax credit of £31.5 million is due to the recognition of £105.0 million of previously unrecognised deferred tax asset (see note 10), as a result of the adoption of FRS 19.
6. Share of operating results of joint ventures

Joint ventures:
KirchPayTV (see note 15)
BiB (see note 15)
Programming joint ventures, net

Before
exceptional items
£m

Exceptional
items
£m

2001
Total
£m

2000
Total
£m

116.0
118.9
4.3
239.2

–
16.5
–
16.5

116.0
135.4
4.3
255.7

11.0
99.1
11.2
121.3

This relates to the Group’s equity share of the operating results of the Group’s joint ventures.
The Group recognised 32.5% of the results of BiB up until November 2000. From this date, to 9 May 2001, 100% of BiB’s losses were recognised due to the agreement
dated 17 July 2000, under which the Group agreed to provide 100% of BiB’s funding after existing funding had been utilised. From 9 May 2001, the Group fully consolidated
BiB as a subsidiary (see note 2).
7. Interest
a) Interest receivable and similar income
2001
£m

2000
£m

Interest receivable on short-term deposits
Share of joint ventures’ interest receivable
Interest receivable on funding to joint ventures
Other interest receivable

3.8
3.5
10.4
0.5
18.2

7.3
0.9
2.0
0.5
10.7

Exceptional finance credit (see note 5)

2.7
20.9

–
10.7

2001
£m

2000
£m

0.8
38.5
–
31.6
7.8
30.1
15.5
0.9
27.8
0.3
153.3

–
11.0
0.2
31.1
7.7
27.2
15.8
0.9
8.3
0.4
102.6

b) Interest payable and similar charges

On bank loans, overdrafts and other loans repayable within five years, not by instalments:
– £300 million revolving credit facility
– £750 million revolving credit facility
– £1,000 million revolving credit facility
US$650 million of 8.200% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009
£100 million of 7.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009
US$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009
US$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2006
Finance lease interest
Share of joint ventures’ interest payable
Other interest payable and similar charges
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8. Loss on ordinary activities before taxation

The loss on ordinary activities before taxation is stated after charging (crediting):
– depreciation (see note 14)
– amortisation (see note 13)
– joint ventures’ goodwill amortisation (see note 15)
– amounts written off fixed asset investments (see note 15 and note 16)
– auditors’ remuneration for audit services
– rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements: land and buildings
– rentals on operating leases and similar arrangements: plant and machinery
– staff costs (see note 9)
– government grants

2001
£m

2000
£m

71.1
44.3
101.1
38.6
0.6
7.2
112.2
260.9
(0.1)

52.0
–
14.4
–
0.4
6.8
111.8
255.5
(1.3)

Amounts payable to the auditors for other services during the year were £13.8 million (2000: £5.7 million). These amounts relate principally to services as reporting
accountants in connection with acquisitions of £nil (2000: £1.5 million); taxation advice of £0.6 million (2000: £0.4 million); programming the Group’s websites of £6.0 million
(2000: £0.6 million); assisting with the development of the new call centres of £4.9 million (2000: £nil); and other consulting services of £2.3 million (2000: £3.2 million).
9. Staff costs
a) Employee costs
Employee costs for permanent employees, temporary employees and Executive Directors during the year amounted to:

Wages and salaries
Costs of Additional Executive Bonus Scheme
Costs of Long Term Incentive Plans
Costs of Key Contributor Plan
Social security costs
Other pension costs

2001
£m

2000
£m

213.2
0.1
11.3
2.6
25.4
8.3
260.9

219.2
0.1
6.0
–
23.1
7.1
255.5

The Company operates a defined contribution pension scheme, contributions to which are charged to the profit and loss account on an accruals basis. The pension charge
for the year represents contributions payable by the Group to the scheme and amounted to £8.3 million (2000: £7.1 million).
The average monthly number of full time equivalent persons employed by the Group during the year was as follows:

Programming
Transmission and related functions
Marketing
Subscriber management
Administration
Gaming

2001
Number

2000
Number

1,134
1,071
173
6,472
872
226
9,948

982
1,040
141
7,809
758
–
10,730

b) Directors’ emoluments
A detailed breakdown of remuneration by Director, the terms of their employment contracts and their rights under the Group’s bonus schemes are given within the Report on
Directors’ Remuneration on pages 50 to 53.
10. Taxation
a) Analysis of charge in year

Tax charge (credit) on profit before exceptional items:
Consortium relief payable
Adjustment in respect of prior year – consortium relief
Adjustment in respect of prior year – share of joint ventures’ tax credit
Adjustment in respect of prior year – deferred tax
Share of joint ventures’ tax credit
Deferred tax (see note 19)
Tax charge (credit) on exceptional items:
Deferred tax (see note 5)

2001
£m

2000
as restated
£m

–
–
–
–
–
23.3
23.3

25.7
16.6
(6.2)
(16.4)
(27.3)
(25.9)
(33.5)

0.8
24.1

(31.5)
(65.0)

The Group has adopted FRS 19, Deferred tax, and has restated prior year figures accordingly.
Adoption has resulted in the recognition of deferred tax assets in respect of losses and other timing differences incurred in prior years, and corresponding restatement of the
prior year results.
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10. Taxation continued
The effect of the FRS 19 restatement is as follows:
2000
as previously
FRS 19
2001
stated restatement
£m
£m
£m
Tax on profit before exceptional items:
Consortium relief payable
Adjustment in respect of prior years
Share of joint ventures’ tax credit
Deferred tax (see note 19)
Tax charge (credit) on exceptional items:
Deferred tax (see note 5)
Balance sheet
Deferred tax asset
Advance corporation tax

2000
as restated
£m

–
–
–
4.1
4.1

25.7
10.4
(27.3)
–
8.8

–
(16.4)
–
(25.9)
(42.3)

25.7
(6.0)
(27.3)
(25.9)
(33.5)

–
4.1

–
8.8

(31.5)
(73.8)

(31.5)
(65.0)

(4.1)
–
(4.1)

88.8
14.0
102.8

79.2
71.3
150.5

168.0
85.3
253.3

–

624.9

(76.7)

548.2

Reserves at beginning of year
b) Factors affecting the tax charge for the year
The tax charge for the year is higher than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK (30%). The differences are explained below:

2001
£m

2000
as restated
£m

(514.5)
350.0
(164.5)

(262.7)
142.7
(120.0)

Loss on ordinary activities multiplied by standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% (2000: 30%)

(49.4)

(36.0)

Effects of:
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes (primarily goodwill amortisation)
Other timing differences
(Utilisation) creation of tax losses
Consortium relief
Adjustment in respect of prior year

63.9
(2.9)
(11.3)
(0.3)
–

6.7
9.7
46.7
(1.4)
16.6

–

42.3

Loss on ordinary activities before tax
Less: Share of joint ventures’ loss before tax
Group loss before tax

Current tax charge for the year
c) Factors that may affect future tax charges

A deferred tax asset of £102.4 million arising principally from losses in the Group has not been recognised (2000: £16.1 million). These losses can be offset only against taxable
profits generated in the entities concerned. Although the Directors ultimately expect sufficient profits to arise, there is currently insufficient evidence to support recognition of a
deferred tax asset. The losses are available to be carried forward indefinitely under current law. For similar reasons, an estimated deferred tax asset of £99.7 million has not
been recognised in respect of losses of KirchPayTV.
11. Dividends
The Directors do not propose an interim or final dividend for the financial year (2000: £nil).
The ESOP has waived its rights to dividends.
12. Loss per share

Before
goodwill and
exceptional
items
Loss on ordinary activities after taxation
Loss per share – basic and diluted

£237.4m
12.9p

2001
Before
After goodwill and
goodwill and exceptional
Exceptional exceptional
items
Goodwill
Goodwill
items
items
as restated as restated
£145.4m
7.9p

£155.8m
8.4p

£538.6m
29.2p

£94.4m
5.4p

£14.4m
0.8p

2000
After
goodwill and
Exceptional exceptional
items
items
as restated as restated
£88.9m
5.1p

£197.7m
11.3p

Basic and diluted loss per share represents the loss attributable to the equity shareholders in each year divided by the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue
during the year of 1,847,057,433 (2000: 1,744,379,069).
Loss per share is shown calculated by reference to losses both before and after goodwill and exceptional items and related tax, since the Directors consider that this gives a
useful additional indication of underlying performance.
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13. Intangible fixed assets
The movement in the year was as follows:

Group
Cost
Beginning of year
Subsidiaries acquired (see note 2)
Additions
Disposals
End of year

Amortisation
Beginning of year
Charge
Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary
End of year
Net book value
Beginning of year
End of year

Goodwill
£m

Other
£m

Total
£m

–
–
842.6
–
842.6

–
0.8
0.4
(0.2)
1.0

–
0.8
843.0
(0.2)
843.6

–
44.2
10.0
54.2

–
0.1
–
0.1

–
44.3
10.0
54.3

–
788.4

–
0.9

–
789.3

Goodwill of £272.4 million arising on the acquisition of SIG (see note 2) is being amortised over a period of 7 years on a straight-line basis. Provisional goodwill of £564.9 million
arising on the acquisition of BiB (see note 2) is being amortised over a period of 7 years on a straight-line basis. Provisional goodwill of £5.2 million arising on the acquisition of
WAP TV (see note 2) is being amortised over a period of 7 years on a straight-line basis. Other intangibles consist mainly of domain names, which are being amortised over a
period of 7 years on a straight-line basis.
The provision for loss on disposal of a subsidiary comprises the estimated net loss on disposal of the Group’s interest in Surrey Sports, which has been provided for as at
30 June 2001 (see note 5).
14. Tangible fixed assets
The movement in the year was as follows:
Freehold land
and buildings
£m

Short leasehold
improvements
£m

Equipment, fixtures
and fittings
£m

Total
£m

26.9
1.7
1.3
–
29.9

75.6
0.1
4.9
(0.1)
80.5

335.3
28.7
126.8
(2.3)
488.5

437.8
30.5
133.0
(2.4)
598.9

Depreciation
Beginning of year
Charge
Disposals
End of year

4.0
1.0
–
5.0

36.1
3.7
(0.1)
39.7

172.8
66.4
(0.4)
238.8

212.9
71.1
(0.5)
283.5

Net book value
Beginning of year
End of year

22.9
24.9

39.5
40.8

162.5
249.7

224.9
315.4

Group
Cost
Beginning of year
Subsidiaries acquired (see note 2)
Additions
Disposals
End of year

Included in freehold land and buildings are assets held under finance leases with a net book value of £7.0 million (2000: £7.3 million). Depreciation charged during the year
on such assets was £0.3 million (2000: £0.3 million). Included in equipment, fixtures and fittings are assets held under finance leases with a net book value of £3.9 million
(2000: £nil). No depreciation was charged during the year on these assets (2000: £nil).
Depreciation was not charged on £6.1 million of land (2000: £5.0 million).
The Company’s only tangible fixed assets relate to leasehold improvements at the Group’s head office, the net book value of which amounted to £2.1 million (2000: £2.3 million).
The depreciation charged during the year on the Company’s tangible fixed assets was £0.2 million (2000: £0.2 million).
15. Investments in joint ventures
The following are included in the net book value of investments in joint ventures:

Joint ventures:
– KirchPayTV
– BiB
– Programming joint ventures
Total investments in joint ventures

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

1,142.1
–
21.6
1,163.7

1,479.9
17.7
14.7
1,512.3

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
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15. Investments in joint ventures continued
Investment in joint ventures
The movement in the year was as follows:
Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

345.9
137.3
–
–
(3.6)
(129.8)
(131.9)
217.9

116.3
76.4
151.4
1.8
–
–
–
345.9

0.9

0.5

(192.1)
(255.7)
(69.5)
3.5
(27.8)
–
(0.5)
282.1
(23.2)
89.6
(2.1)
(195.7)

(87.1)
(121.3)
(14.0)
0.9
(8.3)
33.5
–
–
–
–
4.2
(192.1)

Goodwill
Beginning of year
Additions
Amortisation
Deemed disposals
Acquisition costs adjusted
End of year

1,358.0
–
(101.1)
(110.3)
(6.0)
1,140.6

–
1,372.4
(14.4)
–
–
1,358.0

Net book value
Beginning of year
End of year

1,512.3
1,163.7

29.6
1,512.3

Cost and funding
Beginning of year
Loans advanced to joint ventures, net
Acquisition of 24% stake in KirchPayTV
Subscriptions for shares in other joint ventures
Release of deferred consideration
Disposal of BiB as a joint venture – equity and debentures (see note 2)
Disposal of BiB as a joint venture – other loans
End of year
Transfer from creditors
Movement in share of underlying net assets
Beginning of year
Share of operating results of joint ventures (see note 6)
Share of joint venture’s exceptional loss on sale of fixed asset investment (see note 5)
Share of joint ventures’ interest receivable (see note 7)
Share of joint ventures’ interest payable (see note 7)
Share of joint ventures’ tax credits
Share of joint venture’s amounts written off fixed asset investments
Disposal of BiB as a joint venture – cumulative losses (see note 2)
Group transition provision utilised (see note 23)
Deemed disposals
Exchange adjustments
End of year

The investment in joint ventures excludes cumulative losses of £0.9 million (2000: £0.5 million), which represent losses in excess of the funding provided. The related obligation
is recorded within creditors.
Goodwill of £1,386.5 million on the investment in KirchPayTV is being amortised over a period of 7 years on a straight-line basis. The goodwill was reduced by £110.3 million in
September 2000 following the deemed disposal resulting from additional third party investment in KirchPayTV. The goodwill has, up to 31 March 2001, been amortised over a
useful economic life of 20 years. During the year, the Group acquired SIG and BiB (see note 2), and, for both of these acquisitions, a life of 7 years was chosen as the relevant
amortisation period. As at 1 April 2001, it was considered appropriate to revise KirchPayTV’s useful economic life to 7 years in line with the lives of those entities.
KirchPayTV’s results included in the Group’s results for the year to 30 June 2001 have not met expectations, and KirchPayTV’s management have formulated plans to improve the
performance of the business, both through increasing revenues and through reducing operating costs. KirchPayTV’s management are currently assessing the impact of
the implementation of these changes; when reviewed under FRS 11, the initial assessment shows that the Group’s investment is not impaired as at 30 June 2001. To support
their plans to improve the performance of the business, KirchPayTV’s management is currently negotiating with several financial institutions for the expansion of its existing
credit facilities.
In the event KirchPayTV is unable to secure additional financing from third parties, a shareholder, other than the Group, has committed to provide temporary financing up to a
specified maximum, until such time as additional financing may be obtained, for a certain period expiring on 30 June 2002.
In June 2000, the Group acquired a 20% holding in Medical Information and Broadcasting Limited for £3.9 million with a warrant to acquire an additional 10% at nominal value.
However, since this entity has ceased trading, the provisional goodwill of £3.9 million, which arose on the acquisition, has been written off during 2001.
The following information is given in respect of the Group’s share of all joint ventures:

Turnover
Fixed assets
Current assets
Liabilities due within one year
Liabilities due after more than one year
(i) This includes the Group’s share of BiB’s results to acquisition on 9 May 2001.

Group (i)
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

224.1
139.7
130.8
(124.2)
(124.1)

87.7
381.7
285.5
(439.6)
(73.8)
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KirchPayTV
Included within the above is the Group’s 22% share of KirchPayTV (24% up until deemed disposal of shares, as a result of additional third party investment in KirchPayTV in
August and September 2000), which is detailed individually below:
Group’s share
of KirchPayTV
(as adjusted)
Year to
31 March
2001
£m

Group’s share
of KirchPayTV
(as adjusted)
Period to
31 March
2000
£m

Turnover

117.4

20.8

Operating loss

(116.0)

(11.0)

Loss on sale of fixed asset investment (see note 5)
Net interest payable
Loss before taxation

(69.5)
(9.7)
(195.2)

(14.0)
(4.4)
(29.4)

Taxation
Loss after taxation

–
(195.2)

(0.3)
(29.7)

Fixed assets

135.5

362.5

67.9

189.6

(110.8)

(362.9)

(91.1)

(63.4)

Current assets
Liabilities due within one year
Liabilities due after more than one year

In the absence to date of results for KirchPayTV for the year from 1 July 2000 to 30 June 2001, the results for a similar period, the year to 31 March 2001, have been used. In
June 2000, due to the absence of results for KirchPayTV for the period from investment on 14 April 2000 to 30 June 2000, the results for a similar period to 31 March 2000
were used. The 2000 results were adjusted to include the loss from the sale by KirchPayTV, on 7 June 2000, of 20 million of its holding of BSkyB shares. Consequently this
loss has been excluded from the 2001 results.
The results for the two week period ended 15 January 2000 and the two week period ended 15 April 2000 are not materially different from any two week period within the
results for the period to 31 March 2000 before adjustments.
BiB
Following the acquisition of a further 47.6% of BiB on 9 May 2001, the results of BiB have been fully consolidated within the Group. As a result BiB is no longer treated as a
joint venture within the Group accounts, and accordingly no joint venture balance sheet disclosure has been provided for 2001.
Group’s share
of BiB to
9 May 2001
£m

Group’s share
of BiB
2000
£m

49.7

19.6

Operating loss

(135.4)

(99.1)

Loss before taxation
Taxation
Loss after taxation

(150.3)
–
(150.3)

(101.8)
33.3
(68.5)

Fixed assets

–

15.5

Current assets

–

56.2

Liabilities due within one year

–

(46.2)

Liabilities due after more than one year

–

(7.8)

Turnover

16. Other fixed asset investments
The following are included in the net book value of other fixed asset investments:

Subsidiary undertakings
Own shares
Other investments

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

–
19.1
123.1
142.2

–
27.5
120.8
148.3

6,118.5
–
121.2
6,239.7

6,464.6
–
81.3
6,545.9
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16. Other fixed asset investments continued
Investment in subsidiary undertakings
The movement in the year was as follows:
Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

Cost or valuation
Beginning of year
Additions
Provision against investment in Sky
Provision against investment in KirchPayTV
End of year

6,464.6
1,026.3
(1,004.7)
(367.7)
6,118.5

4,944.3
1,520.3
–
–
6,464.6

Net book value
Beginning of year
End of year

6,464.6
6,118.5

4,944.3
6,464.6

Additions in the period principally relate to the acquisition by the Company of 67.5% of BiB in May and June 2001 and 100% of SIG in July 2000 (see note 2). Additionally,
during the year a £556.4 million loan to BSkyB Finance Limited was capitalised.
The provision against the investment in Sky was made to reduce the carrying value of this investment to the underlying net asset value, following the waiver by Sky of
£1,087.8 million of a loan to the Company.
The provision against the investment in KirchPayTV aligns the value of KirchPayTV in the Company’s balance sheet with the carrying value of KirchPayTV in the Group’s
balance sheet.
Additions during 2000 principally relate to the acquisition of 24% of KirchPayTV by the Company (see note 15).
Since 30 June 1994, excluding provisions, the Company’s investment in Sky has been carried at a Directors’ valuation of £994.6 million (an increase of £930 million),
being Sky’s net asset value at that date.
Investment in own shares
The movement in the year was as follows:
Number of
Ordinary Shares

Group
£m

4,842,687
(1,488,175)
3,354,512

27.5
(8.4)
19.1

Beginning of year
Utilised during the year
End of year

At the beginning of the year the ESOP held 4.8 million Ordinary Shares in the Company, at an average value of £5.68 per share. These shares were primarily designated to
hedge against the obligations of the Group then outstanding under the Additional Executive Bonus Scheme (0.6 million shares) and the Group’s Long Term Incentive Plan
(“LTIP”) (2.8 million shares).
At the end of the year, the ESOP held 3.4 million Ordinary Shares in the Company, which were designated as primarily held to hedge against the LTIP (2.6 million shares), and
the Key Contributor Plan (“KCP”), which was introduced in August 2000 (0.8 million shares). The 1.5 million Ordinary Shares utilised during the year relate to the exercise of
options under the LTIP scheme and the grant of shares under the KCP.
The cost to the Group of the LTIP and KCP shares hedged by the ESOP is being accrued over their vesting periods. An amount of £9.8 million is included within accruals (2000:
£8.9 million).
The market value of the shares held by the ESOP at 30 June 2001 was £22.9 million (2000: £62.6 million), and the nominal value was £1.7 million (2000: £2.4 million).
Other investments

Cost
Beginning of year
Additions
Disposals
End of year
Provision
Beginning of year
Provided during the year
End of year
Net book value
Beginning of year
End of year

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

120.8
40.4
–
161.2

66.9
60.8
(6.9)
120.8

81.3
39.9
–
121.2

66.9
21.3
(6.9)
81.3

–
38.1
38.1

–
–
–

–
–
–

–
–
–

120.8
123.1

66.9
120.8

81.3
121.2

66.9
81.3
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16. Other fixed asset investments continued
2001
On 3 March 2000, the Group entered into arrangements with Chelsea Village Plc (“Chelsea Village”) to subscribe for ordinary and preference shares in Chelsea Village and
to become their exclusive media agent, for total consideration of £40 million. Of the £40 million consideration, £15 million was paid during the prior year and the remaining
£25 million was paid on completion on 14 July 2000. Shares acquired in Chelsea Village represent 9.9% of its enlarged share capital.
New media investments represent minority interests in companies. As at 30 June 2001, £38.6 million has been provided against these investments. This consists of
£39.5 million originally provided, reduced by £1.4 million to reflect the post year end disposal of our investment in Static 2358 Limited (see note 29). An additional £0.5 million
relates to investments held by BiB (see note 15).
On 29 May 2001, the Company acquired a 95% holding in WAP TV Limited from another Group company at cost. On the same day, the Company acquired the remaining
5% minority interest for total consideration of £5.0 million (see note 2).
2000
The Group subscribed for listed investments in Leeds Sporting plc, Sunderland PLC and gameplay.com plc. The Group also subscribed for unlisted investments in
Toyzone.co.uk Limited, Static 2358 Limited, Manchester City PLC, Sportal Investment Limited, Streets OnLine Limited, Letsbuyit.com N.V. and mykindaplace Limited. In
addition, during the year the Group reduced its holding in Manchester United PLC from 11.12% to 9.99% and its holding in Manchester City PLC from 10.36% to 9.91%,
so as to bring the holdings below the 10% holding limit stipulated by the rules of the Premier League. This resulted in a total loss on disposal of £1.4 million (see note 5).
The Company subscribed for listed investments in Leeds Sporting plc, Sunderland PLC and an unlisted investment in Manchester City PLC for £21.3 million. During the year
the Company also reduced its holdings in Manchester United PLC and Manchester City PLC as described above. The net book value of these disposals was £6.9 million.
Further analysis of listed investments is shown below:

Listed investments included above
Aggregate market value at end of year

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

100.9
49.4

88.3
111.2

100.9
49.0

75.9
99.2

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

364.6
55.4
4.1
424.1

313.1
42.9
2.2
358.2

Company
2001

£m

Group
2000
as restated
£m

£m

Company
2000
as restated
£m

231.7
–
11.2
1.9
29.0
51.4
25.1
68.9
3.0
71.2
493.4

125.0
–
30.9
2.3
5.9
41.3
30.8
32.0
3.4
61.9
333.5

–
1,139.2
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
2.3
1,141.5

–
1,224.8
–
–
–
–
–
–
–
4.5
1,229.3

–
78.2
61.8
85.3
75.0
11.9
12.4
324.6

6.7
86.4
71.2
85.3
136.0
9.4
26.1
421.1

–
–
–
77.3
63.2
–
5.7
146.2

–
–
–
77.3
51.7
–
3.6
132.6

No tax liability would arise on the sale of these listed investments at the market value shown above as no gains would arise.
17. Stocks

Television programme rights
Digital set-top boxes
Raw materials and consumables
At least 71% (2000: 77%) of the existing television programme rights at 30 June 2001 will be amortised within one year.
18. Debtors
Group
2001

Debtors: amounts falling due within one year
Trade debtors
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings
Amounts owed by joint ventures (see note 27)
Amounts owed by other related parties (see note 27)
Other debtors
Prepaid programme rights
Prepaid transponder rentals
Deferred tax (see note 19)
Prepaid media rights
Other prepayments and accrued income
Debtors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by joint ventures (see note 27)
Prepaid programme rights
Prepaid transponder rentals
Advance corporation tax
Deferred tax (see note 19)
Prepaid media rights
Other prepayments and accrued income
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19. Deferred tax asset
Group
2001

Included within debtors due within one year:
– tax losses carried forward
Included within debtors due after more than one year:
– accelerated capital allowances
– tax losses carried forward
– other

Deferred tax asset
Beginning of year (as restated)
(Charge) credit in the profit and loss account during the year (see note 10)
End of year

Company
2001

£m

Group
2000
as restated
£m

£m

Company
2000
as restated
£m

68.9

32.0

–

–

6.3
63.2
5.5
75.0

2.8
119.7
13.5`
136.0

–
63.2
–
63.2

–
51.7
–
51.7

143.9

168.0

63.2

51.7

168.0
(24.1)
143.9

94.2
73.8
168.0

51.7
11.5
63.2

1.1
50.6
51.7

A deferred tax asset of £143.9 million has been recognised at 30 June 2001 (30 June 2000 restated – £168.0 million) (see note 10). This asset arose as a result of losses and
certain exceptional items booked in 1999 and 2000. These losses and costs were associated with the launch of digital television and the termination of analogue operations.
Given recent and forecast trading, the Directors are of the opinion that the level of profits in the foreseeable future is more likely than not to be sufficient to recognise these losses.
20. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year

Short-term borrowings
Bank overdrafts
Obligations under finance leases
Other
Trade creditors
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings
Amounts due to joint ventures (see note 27)
Amounts due to related parties (see note 27)
UK corporation tax
VAT
Social security and PAYE
Other creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Government grants

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

–
2.1
2.1

13.7
0.1
13.8

–
–
–

–
–
–

457.4
–
–
18.3
4.7
62.3
6.2
8.4
431.3
0.1
988.7

349.2
–
25.0
39.3
4.7
36.8
5.4
22.6
325.8
0.1
808.9

–
776.5
–
–
–
–
–
–
53.8
–
830.3

–
511.1
–
–
–
–
–
–
47.2
–
558.3

990.8

822.7

830.3

558.3

Included within trade creditors are £291.9 million (2000: £227.5 million) of US dollar-denominated programme creditors. At least 90% (2000: 90%) of these were covered by
forward rate currency contracts (see note 26).
21. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year

Long-term borrowings
£750 million revolving credit facility
AUS$1 million facility
US$650 million of 8.200% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009
£100 million of 7.750% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009
US$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2009
US$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed Notes repayable in 2006
Obligations under finance leases
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings
Other borrowings
Other
Accruals and deferred income
Government grants

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

690.0
–
412.5
100.0
367.2
189.2
8.9
–
0.2
1,768.0

335.0
0.4
412.5
100.0
367.2
189.2
8.1
–
–
1,412.4

690.0
–
412.5
100.0
367.2
189.2
–
353.5
–
2,112.4

335.0
0.4
412.5
100.0
367.2
189.2
–
1,441.3
–
2,845.6

13.1
0.8
13.9

21.1
0.9
22.0

–
–
–

–
–
–

1,781.9

1,434.4

2,112.4

2,845.6
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21. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year continued
In March 2001, a new £300 million revolving credit facility (“RCF”) was entered into, which is in addition to the existing £750 million RCF. The £300 million facility is repayable
in full on 29 June 2004 and bears interest at rates between 0.50% and 1.75% per annum above LIBOR, depending on the Group’s credit rating. This facility was undrawn at
30 June 2001.
In July 1999, an existing £1,000 million RCF was cancelled and replaced by a £750 million RCF repayable in full on 29 June 2004 and bearing interest at rates between 0.50%
and 1.40% per annum above LIBOR, depending on the Group’s credit rating. AUS$1 million was drawn down on a facility to fund the Group’s ongoing investment in Australia
News Channel Pty Limited. Until the loan was repaid on 8 February 2001, interest accrued at AUS$ LIBOR per annum.
In July 1999, the Group issued US$650 million and £100 million 10-year global Regulation S/144A bonds, which are SEC registered. The US$650 million Notes carry a coupon
of 8.200% payable semi-annually and are repayable on 15 July 2009. They have been swapped into sterling at a fixed rate of 7.653% payable semi-annually. The £100 million
Notes carry a fixed coupon of 7.750% payable annually and are repayable on 9 July 2009.
In February 1999 the Group issued, in the US public debt market, US$600 million of 6.875% Guaranteed Notes repayable in February 2009. As at 30 June 2000 the proceeds
were swapped into sterling at a fixed rate of 8.200% payable semi-annually and are repayable in February 2009.
In October 1996 the Group issued, in the US public debt market, US$300 million of 7.300% Guaranteed Notes repayable in October 2006. The Group subsequently entered
into swap transactions to convert the proceeds into sterling, half of which carries a fixed rate of interest of 8.384% per annum for the full ten years and the remainder of which
is fixed at 7.940% per annum for five years until April 2002 and thereafter floating at 0.62% above the six month LIBOR rate.
Amounts due to subsidiary undertakings relate to an intercompany loan from Sky to the Company. Interest of 1.5% above LIBOR was charged on the balance outstanding from
1 July 1997 to 25 July 2000 on which date Sky waived £1,087.8 million of the loan. From this date the interest rate applicable on the balance is the HSBC base lending rate
plus 1.5%. The loan is fully repayable on 30 June 2007.
Following the grant in December 1997 of the three Digital Terrestrial Television licences to ONdigital, £60 million was received by the Group. This was credited to accruals and
deferred income and is being released to income to match the associated costs, which include a shortfall arising on the sub-lease of the Marco Polo property. The net balance
is being credited to other revenue over the five year period of programme supply.
Borrowings outstanding, which exclude finance leases, are repayable as follows:

Amounts repayable:
– on demand or within one year
– within one to two years
– within two to five years
– after five years

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

–
–
690.1
1,069.0
1,759.1

13.7
0.4
335.0
1,068.9
1,418.0

–
–
690.0
1,422.4
2,112.4

–
0.4
335.0
2,510.2
2,845.6

Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

2.1
1.2
0.8
6.9
11.0

0.1
0.2
0.7
7.2
8.2

–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–

Obligations under finance leases are repayable as follows:

Amounts repayable:
– within one year
– within one to two years
– within two to five years
– after five years

Obligations under finance leases represent amounts drawn down in connection with the Subscriber Management Centre in Dunfermline. Repayments of £0.2 million
(2000: £0.2 million) were made each quarter. A proportion of these payments has been allocated to the capital amount outstanding. Interest accrues on the finance lease
at a rate of 8.5%. An additional finance lease was entered into during the year in respect of IT assets. Repayments of £1.0 million were made in the year. The new finance
lease bears interest at 0%.
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22. Derivatives and other financial instruments
On pages 16 and 17, the Operating and Financial Review provides an explanation of the role that financial instruments have had during the year in the management of the
Group’s funding, liquidity and foreign exchange rate risks.
As permitted by FRS 13, short-term debtors and creditors have been excluded from the FRS 13 disclosures, other than the currency risks disclosures.
Interest rate risks
After taking into account interest rate swaps and forward foreign currency contracts entered into by the Group, the interest rate profile of the Group’s financial liabilities was:

£m
Weighted average interest rate
Weighted average period for which the rate is fixed (years)
Weighted average term (years)

Fixed

Floating

2001
Total

Fixed

Floating

2000
Total

1,379.9
7.6%
5.8
6.5

390.2
6.3%
n/a
3.0

1,770.1
7.3%
n/a
5.7

1,077.1
8.0%
8.0
8.4

349.1
7.2%
n/a
4.0

1,426.2
7.8%
n/a
7.3

Further details of interest rates on long-term borrowings are given in note 21.
In addition, cash at bank and in hand of £223.6 million (2000: £281.2 million) consists mainly of sterling deposits, in bank accounts or on money markets at call. At 30 June 2001,
£70 million (2000: £155 million) relates to sterling time deposits which expire within 14 days of year end (average interest rate of 4.8125%). The remaining sterling cash deposits
comprise deposits placed on the money market at three-day rates and in sterling currency accounts.
Currency risks
The table below shows the Group’s currency exposures after hedging that give rise to the net currency gains and losses recognised in the profit and loss account. Such exposures
comprise the net monetary assets and liabilities of the Group that are not denominated in the functional currency of the operating unit involved and principally consist of cash
deposits, trade debtors and trade creditors.
Net foreign currency monetary assets (£m)
Functional currency of Group operating unit

Sterling

USD

Irish
Punts

Euros

2001
Total

USD

Irish
Punts

Euros

2000
Total

4.4

12.9

4.1

21.4

0.6

2.8

2.8

6.2

As at 30 June 2001 and 30 June 2000, the Group also held open various currency forward contracts that the Group had taken out to hedge expected future foreign currency
commitments (see note 26 a)).
Liquidity risks
The profile of the Group’s financial liabilities, other than short-term creditors, is shown in note 21.
The Group’s undrawn committed bank facilities, subject to covenants, were as follows:

Expiring in more than two years
Total

2001
£m

2000
£m

360.0
360.0

415.0
415.0
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22. Derivatives and other financial instruments continued
Fair values
Set out below is a comparison by category of the book values and the estimated fair values of the Group’s financial assets, financial liabilities, and associated derivative financial
instruments as at 30 June 2001 and 30 June 2000:

Primary financial instruments held or issued to finance the Group’s operations
Short-term financial liabilities
Bank borrowings
Quoted bond debt
Finance leases
Cash deposits

Book
value
£m

2001
Fair
value
£m

Book
value
£m

2000
Fair
value
£m

–
(690.2)
(1,068.9)
(11.0)
223.6

–
(690.2)
(1,148.8)
(11.0)
223.6

(13.7)
(335.4)
(1,068.9)
(8.2)
281.2

(13.7)
(335.4)
(966.2)
(8.2)
281.2

–
–

91.8
(1.8)

–
–

7.5
16.3

Derivative financial instruments held to manage the interest rate and currency profile
Combined interest and exchange rate swaps
Forward foreign currency contracts

The fair values of quoted bond debt are based on period-end mid-market quoted prices. The fair values of other borrowings are estimated by discounting the future cash flows
to net present value. The fair values of derivative financial instruments are estimated by calculating the difference between the contracted rates and the appropriate market rates
prevailing at the period ends.
In addition to the fair value table, the Group had holdings in the equity share capital of other listed investments at 30 June 2001 and 30 June 2000. See note 16 for disclosure
of their book and fair values.
The difference between book value and fair value reflects unrealised gains or losses inherent in the instrument, based on valuations as at 30 June 2001 and 30 June 2000.
The volatile nature of the markets means that values at any subsequent date could be significantly different from the values reported above.
Hedges
The Group’s policy is to hedge the following exposures:
– interest rate risk, using interest rate swaps
– transactional currency exposures, using forward foreign currency contracts
– exposures on long term foreign currency debt
Gains and losses on instruments used for hedging are not recognised until the hedged position is recognised. Unrecognised gains and losses on instruments used for hedging,
and the movements therein, are as follows:

Gains
£m

Losses
£m

2001
Total net
gains
(losses)
£m

Gains
£m

Losses
£m

2000
Total net
gains
(losses)
£m

Unrecognised gains and losses at the start of the year
45.3
Gains and losses arising in previous years that were recognised in the year
(17.4)
Gains and losses arising before the start of the year that were not recognised in the year 27.9

(21.5)
1.1
(20.4)

23.8
(16.3)
7.5

10.1
(10.1)
–

(21.6)
2.5
(19.1)

(11.5)
(7.6)
(19.1)

Gains and losses arising in the year that were not recognised in the year
Unrecognised gains and losses on hedges at the end of the year

85.8
113.7

(3.3)
(23.7)

82.5
90.0

45.3
45.3

(2.4)
(21.5)

42.9
23.8

25.7
88.0

(4.0)
(19.7)

21.7
68.3

17.4
27.9

(1.1)
(20.4)

16.3
7.5

Of which:
Gains and losses expected to be recognised in the next year
Gains and losses expected to be recognised after the next year
23. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Analogue
termination
provision
£m
At beginning of year
Charged to profit and loss account
Subsidiary acquired
Utilised in year
At end of year

30.7
–
–
(22.5)
8.2

Transition
provision
£m

Sky In-Home
Service Limited
reorganisation
provision
£m

192.9
–
–
(174.3)
18.6

1.9
–
–
(1.5)
0.4

Sky
Provision
Interactive for closure
reorganisation
of Sky
provision
Pictures
£m
£m
–
12.1
3.4
–
15.5

–
0.3
–
–
0.3

Group
2001
Total
£m
225.5
12.4
3.4
(198.3)
43.0

Sky In-Home
Analogue
Service Limited
termination Transition reorganisation
provision provision
provision
£m
£m
£m
–
30.7
–
–
30.7

405.4
58.3
–
(270.8)
192.9

Group
2000
Total
£m

– 405.4
1.9
90.9
–
–
– (270.8)
1.9 225.5

The analogue termination provision principally comprises the cost of early termination of analogue transponder leases and various other costs to be incurred to terminate the
Group’s analogue operations (see note 5).
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23. Provisions for liabilities and charges continued
The transition provision utilised during the year of £174.3 million (2000: £270.8 million) is net of £21.2 million (2000: £50.1 million) of installation income received from
subscribers. The transition provision comprises the cost of the set-top box, installation costs, BiB subsidy costs and various other costs to be incurred to enable a subscriber
to use the digital service, less any upfront income received from the subscriber. As at 30 June 2001 the Group believes that the transition provision reflects the estimated cost
of transitioning the remaining analogue subscribers. The provision was originally calculated on the basis of the number of analogue subscribers at 5 May 1999 less allowance
for churn (i.e. customers ceasing Direct-To-Home (“DTH”) subscriptions). This did not include subsidy costs provided by BiB, 32.5% of whose funding was supplied by the
Group. As part of the Group’s agreement to acquire an additional 47.6% holding in BiB, the Group’s share of BiB’s funding increased to 100% and hence as at 30 June 2000
the Group increased the transition provision by £58.3 million principally to reflect the increased costs to the Group of subsidising set-top boxes (see note 5).
The Sky In-Home Service Limited reorganisation provision principally comprised the costs of staff redundancies (see note 5).
The Sky Interactive reorganisation provision relates to costs associated with the reorganisation and consolidation of all interactive and online activities within the division
‘Sky Interactive’. The post acquisition provision principally comprises the cost of termination of certain contracts, the closure of duplicate sites and a reduction in headcount
(see note 5).
The Sky Pictures provision principally comprises the cost of a reduction in headcount.
24. Called-up share capital

Authorised
3,000,000,000 Ordinary Shares of 50p
Allotted, called-up and fully paid – equity
Ordinary Shares – 1,888,793,111 (2000: 1,825,858,144) of 50p

2001
£m

2000
£m

1,500.0

1,500.0

944.4

912.9

Allotted during the year
Number
Allotted and fully-paid up at start of year
Options exercised under the Executive Share Option Scheme at between £2.560 and £5.675
Options exercised under the Sharesave Scheme at between £2.050 and £4.620
Shares issued in respect of the acquisition of 100% of SIG (see note 2)
Shares issued in respect of the acquisition of 67.5% of BiB (see note 2)
Shares issued in respect of the acquisition of 5% of WAP TV (see note 2)
Allotted and fully-paid up at end of year

1,825,858,144
925,643
532,085
21,633,099
39,674,765
169,375
1,888,793,111

Movements in share capital in the year ended 30 June 2001 are described in note 25.
Share option schemes
Total options in existence at 30 June 2001 are as follows:
Number of
Ordinary Shares
Approved and Unapproved Executive Share Options
Sharesave Scheme
LTIP

25,518,737
2,745,182
4,448,250
32,712,169
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24. Called-up share capital continued
Options in existence at 30 June 2001 under the Executive Schemes are shown in the table below:
Date of grant
08-Dec-94
15-May-97
10-Jun-97
18-Aug-97
18-Aug-97
14-Nov-97
14-Nov-97
04-Feb-98
04-Feb-98
09-Mar-98
09-Mar-98
01-Dec-98
07-May-99
07-May-99
12-Aug-99
18-Oct-99
29-Oct-99
01-Nov-99
22-Nov-99
01-Mar-00
05-Apr-00
12-May-00
22-May-00
23-May-00
12-Jun-00
30-Jun-00
26-Jul-00
30-Aug-00
23-Nov-00
01-Dec-00
04-Jan-01
26-Feb-01
06-Mar-01
14-Mar-01
21-May-01
04-Jun-01

Number of
Ordinary Shares
189,565
448,739
38,491
6,864
21,809
7,308
36,253
8,298
111,261
14,050
238,805
6,019,760
53,925
4,589
600,000
127,620
4,909,136
214,231
107,775
31,222
41,517
32,355
21,842
126,529
34,993
100,931
46,077
282,446
5,902,064
5,183,000
59,534
114,919
92,416
121,289
74,644
94,480
25,518,737

Option price
£
2.560
5.675
5.975
4.370
4.420
4.105
4.030
3.615
3.685
4.270
4.355
5.010
0.500
4.350
5.830
0.980
6.385
6.535
6.495
16.270
13.970
12.980
10.530
9.800
11.430
12.880
12.370
11.400
9.900
9.840
10.750
9.340
9.290
8.950
7.190
7.165

Exercisable
from
08-Dec-97
15-May-00
10-Jun-00
18-Aug-00
18-Aug-00
14-Nov-00
14-Nov-00
04-Feb-01
04-Feb-01
09-Mar-01
09-Mar-01
01-Dec-01
07-May-02
07-May-02
12-Aug-02
18-Oct-02
29-Oct-02
01-Nov-02
22-Nov-02
01-Mar-03
05-Apr-03
12-May-03
22-May-03
23-May-03
12-Jun-03
30-Jun-03
26-Jul-03
30-Aug-03
23-Nov-01
01-Dec-03
04-Jan-02
26-Feb-02
06-Mar-02
14-Mar-02
21-May-02
04-Jun-02

Options under the Executive Schemes will normally only be exercisable after the expiry of three years from the date of the grant, and lapse if not exercised within seven years
for share options issued under the Unapproved Scheme prior to 29 October 1999, and within ten years under the Approved Scheme, or for share options issued under the
Unapproved Scheme after 29 October 1999. Options granted before 29 October 1999 are usually only exercisable if the pre-determined performance target of real growth in
the Company’s earnings per share over any three year period during the life of the option is achieved. On 29 October 1999 the Company introduced a performance target
based on the achievement of certain subscriber growth measures.
For share options issued after 23 November 2000 (except those issued on 1 December 2000), 25% of the shares under option become exercisable, on each of the first four
anniversaries of the date of grant.

79

Notes to Accounts

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Notes to Accounts continued
24. Called-up share capital continued
Options in existence at 30 June 2001 under the Sharesave Scheme are shown in the table below:
Date of grant
08-Dec-94
25-Oct-95
25-Oct-95
02-Nov-96
02-Nov-96
27-Oct-97
27-Oct-97
27-Oct-97
01-Dec-98
01-Dec-98
01-Dec-98
18-Oct-99
18-Oct-99
18-Oct-99
03-Oct-00
03-Oct-00
03-Oct-00

Number of
Ordinary Shares
104,916
12,790
51,898
87,326
24,873
28,996
115,717
31,689
477,489
195,778
110,622
411,104
194,178
72,609
519,431
237,508
68,258
2,745,182

Option price
£
2.050
3.020
3.020
4.620
4.620
3.720
3.720
3.720
3.780
3.780
3.780
4.620
4.620
4.620
9.710
9.710
9.710

Exercisable
from
01-Mar-02
01-Feb-01
01-Feb-03
01-Jan-02
01-Jan-04
01-Jan-01
01-Jan-03
01-Jan-05
01-Dec-01
01-Dec-03
01-Dec-05
01-Jan-03
01-Jan-05
01-Jan-07
01-Jan-04
01-Jan-06
01-Jan-08

Option price
£
5.020
5.830
10.040
10.040

Exercisable
from
23-Nov-01
30-Nov-01
03-Nov-02
03-Nov-03

Further details regarding the Sharesave Scheme can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 50 to 53.
Options in existence at 30 June 2001 under the LTIP are shown in the table below:
Date of grant
23-Nov-98
12-Aug-99
03-Nov-00
03-Nov-00

Further details regarding the LTIP can be found in the Report on Directors’ Remuneration on pages 50 to 53.

Number of
Ordinary Shares
783,750
600,000
1,532,250
1,532,250
4,448,250
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25. Reconciliation of movement in shareholders’ funds
Movement in shareholders’ funds includes all movements in reserves.
Total equity
shareholders’
funds
as restated
£m

Share
capital
£m

Share
premium
£m

Shares to
be issued
£m

Merger
reserve
£m

Profit and loss
account
as restated
£m

Group
As at 1 July 1999 – as restated (see note 10)
Issue of share capital
Share issue costs
Loss for the financial year – as restated (see note 10)
Translation differences on foreign currency net investment
As at 1 July 2000

863.0
49.9
–
–
–
912.9

703.0
1,514.6
(7.7)
–
–
2,209.9

–
–
–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–
–
–

(2,114.2)
(18.1)
–
(197.7)
4.1
(2,325.9)

(548.2)
1,546.4
(7.7)
(197.7)
4.1
796.9

Issue of share capital
Shares to be issued
Share issue costs
Loss for the financial year
Net loss on deemed disposals
Transfer to merger reserve (see note 2)
Translation differences on foreign currency net investment
As at 30 June 2001

31.5
–
–
–
–
–
–
944.4

171.2
–
(3.5)
–
–
–
–
2,377.6

–
256.9
–
–
–
–
–
256.9

378.1
–
–
–
–
(37.3)
–
340.8

(9.1)
–
–
(538.6)
(20.7)
37.3
(2.1)
(2,859.1)

571.7
256.9
(3.5)
(538.6)
(20.7)
–
(2.1)
1,060.6

At 30 June 2001, the cumulative goodwill written off directly to reserves amounted to £523.8 million (2000: £523.8 million). The cumulative amortised goodwill included in
reserves amounted to £159.8 million (2000: £14.4 million).
A merger reserve has been created in relation to 21.6 million shares, issued during the period as consideration for the acquisition of 100% of SIG and in relation to 19.1 million
shares issued during the period as part consideration for the acquisition of the remaining 19.9% of BiB (see note 2).
In May and June 2001, the Company issued a total of 39,674,765 shares, with a total value of £290.9 million, which were used as consideration in respect of the acquisition of
the remaining 67.5 % interest in BiB (see note 2). Shares with a total value of £253.2 million will be issued as deferred consideration.
In May 2001, the Company issued 169,375 shares which were used as consideration in respect of the acquisition of the remaining 5% minority interest in WAP TV Limited
(see note 2). A further 169,375 and 338,755 new BSkyB Ordinary Shares comprise the contingent consideration of £3.7 million, to be issued on 30 June 2002 and 30
September 2003 respectively.
During the year the Company issued shares with a market value of £15.6 million (2000: £29.9 million) in respect of the exercise of options awarded under various share option
plans, with £6.5 million (2000: £11.8 million) received from employees.
In March 2000, the Company made a share placing of 19,062,000 shares with a market value of £347.9 million, which, together with a further 78,019,778 shares (market
value £1,186.7 million) was used as consideration in respect of the acquisition of a 24% interest in KirchPayTV.
The movement in the Company’s shareholders’ funds are shown below:
Total equity
shareholders’
funds
as restated
£m

Share
capital
£m

Share
premium
£m

Shares to
be issued
£m

Capital
reserve
£m

Profit and loss
account
as restated
£m

Company
As at 1 July 1999
Issue of share capital
Share issue costs
Loss for the financial year – as restated
As at 1 July 2000

863.0
49.9
–
–
912.9

703.0
1,514.6
(7.7)
–
2,209.9

–
–
–
–
–

843.9
–
–
–
843.9

635.3
–
–
(95.8)
539.5

3,045.2
1,564.5
(7.7)
(95.8)
4,506.2

Issue of share capital
Shares to be issued
Share issue costs
Loss for the financial year
As at 30 June 2001

31.5
–
–
–
944.4

171.2
–
(3.5)
–
2,377.6

–
256.9
–
–
256.9

–
–
–
–
843.9

–
–
–
(375.5)
164.0

202.7
256.9
(3.5)
(375.5)
4,586.8

The Company has distributable reserves of £164.0 million (2000: £539.5 million).
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26. Guarantees, contingencies and other financial commitments
Group
2001
£m

Group
2000
£m

Company
2001
£m

Company
2000
£m

110.0
2,839.1
17.3
2,966.4

143.1
3,161.6
3.7
3,308.4

–
–
–
–

–
–
–
–

a) Future expenditure
Contracted for but not provided for in the accounts
– set-top boxes
– television programme rights
– capital expenditure

As at 30 June 2001, the Group had made commitments to manufacturers, in relation to the supply of set-top boxes as shown above. This amount includes the subsidies which
have been committed to by BiB, except for the subsidies already provided for (see note 23).
Of the commitments for television programme rights, some £1,147 million (2000: £1,408 million) relates to commitments which are payable in US dollars and are for periods
of up to six years. At 30 June 2001 the US dollar commitments have been translated at the year end rate of US$1.4041:£1 (2000: US$1.5122:£1), except for US$462 million
(2000: US$75 million) covered by forward rate contracts or other hedging instruments, where the average forward or hedged rate of US$1.4281:£1 (2000: US$1.6064:£1) has
been used.
According to the terms of certain of the movie programme rights contracts, the minimum contracted amount is subject to price escalation clauses. The extent of the escalation,
and hence of the commitments, is dependent both upon the number of subscribers to the relevant movie channel and upon the audience achieved on US theatrical release.
If subscriber numbers were to remain at 30 June 2001 levels, the commitment in respect of subscriber escalation would be some £377 million (US$529 million) (2000: £303
million (US$458 million)), and would be in addition to the figures shown above.
Certain contracts may be extended at the licensor’s option depending on subscriber levels to the relevant movie channel.
KirchPayTV has entered into various long term commitments, including leases for decoders, transponders, cable lines and buildings. As at 31 March 2001, the Group’s share
of their non-cancellable aggregate minimum rental payments under operating leases was approximately £89 million (2000: £86 million), and under capital leases was £52 million
(2000: £39 million). KirchPayTV has also entered into long-term contracts for the purchase of film and programming rights. As at 31 March 2001, the Group’s share of their
aggregate minimum commitments was approximately £498 million (2000: £341 million).
b) Contingent liabilities
The Group has contingent liabilities by virtue of its investments in unlimited companies, or partnerships, which include Nickelodeon UK, The History Channel (UK), Paramount
UK, QVC, National Geographic Channel UK, KirchPayTV and BSkyB Germany GmbH & Co KG.
The Directors do not expect any material loss to arise from the above contingent liabilities.
c) Guarantees
The Company and certain subsidiaries have given joint and several guarantees in relation to the £300 million and the £750 million revolving credit facilities and the $650 million,
$600 million, $300 million and £100 million Guaranteed Notes (see note 21).
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26. Guarantees, contingencies and other financial commitments continued
d) Contingent consideration
BiB
A further 67.5% of the issued share capital of BiB was acquired on 9 May 2001 and 28 June 2001, increasing the Group’s interest to 100%. If the valuation of BiB, based on
agreed criteria, is £3 billion or greater, either at January 2003 or July 2003, an estimated further £75 million, £56 million and £122 million will be payable to HSBC, Matsushita
and BT respectively through the issue of new BSkyB Ordinary Shares or loan notes (see note 2). Due to the degree of uncertainty, these amounts have not been recognised.
WAP TV
On 29 May 2001 the Group acquired the 5% minority interest in WAP TV Limited for a total consideration of £5.0 million. The consideration comprises 169,375 new BSkyB
Ordinary Shares issued on 29 May 2001, and contingent consideration to be satisfied by the issue of a further 169,375 new BSkyB Ordinary Shares on 30 June 2002, and the
issue of 338,755 new BSkyB Ordinary Shares on 30 September 2003. This consideration is contingent upon the vendors remaining continuously in the employment of a
member of the Group from completion until the date the deferred consideration is due (see note 2). This consideration has been recognised as it is considered probable that
these criteria will be fulfilled.
e) Lease and similar commitments

The minimum annual rentals under these arrangements are as follows:
30 June 2001
Operating leases and similar arrangements which expire:
– within one year
– within two to five years
– after five years
30 June 2000
Operating leases and similar arrangements which expire:
– within one year
– within two to five years
– after five years

Group
property
£m

Group
transponder,
computer
and technical
equipment
£m

Company
property
£m

0.3
2.5
8.6
11.4

4.7
3.8
66.5
75.0

–
–
1.0
1.0

0.1
0.3
6.7
7.1

61.0
7.1
34.6
102.7

–
–
1.0
1.0

The Group leases certain land and buildings on short-term and long-term leases. The rents payable under these leases are subject to renegotiation at various intervals specified
in the leases. In addition the Group has agreements for the use of transponders on the Astra satellites.
The Group has forward rate contracts to purchase Euros 43 million (2000: Euros 70 million), covering certain commitments in relation to transponder rental costs, at average
rates of Euros 1.6175: £1 (2000: Euros 1.5775: £1).
In addition to the amounts shown above, the Company remains liable for leases for up to 15 years, in respect of certain of its former premises which have been sublet and for
the use of one transponder which has been fully sublet on similar terms to those entered into by the Group. The Group’s additional commitment should the sub-lessees default
in respect of the premises amounts to some £1.6 million per annum and in respect of the transponder £0.5 million per annum.
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27. Transactions with related parties and major shareholders
a) Transactions with major shareholders
The Company and Group conduct business transactions on a normal commercial basis with, and receive a number of services from, shareholder companies or members of
their groups and associated undertakings.
A number of transactions are conducted with members of the News Corporation Group. These companies include 20th Century Fox, News Digital Systems Limited (“NDS”),
Broadsystems Ventures Limited (“BVL”), Fox Kids Europe Limited, STAR Television Group (“STAR”) and Zee TV with which the Group has significant contracts.
20th Century Fox supplied programming with a total value of £44.8 million in the year (2000: £47.8 million), the majority of which is supplied under arrangements which have
been extended to December 2004 with a variable annual value dependent on the number of films supplied.
NDS supplied smart cards and encryption services with a value of £46.1 million in the year (2000: £50.0 million) under a contract extending to September 2004. The Group also
has a number of contracts with NDS for the supply of digital equipment of which £nil (2000: £5.7 million) was paid during the year.
BVL supplied telephony services with a value of £2.2 million during the year (2000: £1.8 million). The Group also purchased sports rights from subsidiaries of the News
Corporation Group for £3.0 million during the year (2000: £2.6 million).
During the year £2.4 million (2000: £7.3 million) was earned from Fox Kids Europe Limited and ZeeTV (a channel aimed at Asian consumers) for the provision of transponder
capacity and subscriber and support services respectively. Carriage fees of £9.3 million (2000: £7.6 million) were paid for the supply of Fox Kids, a children’s television channel,
pursuant to an agreement with Fox Kids European Properties SARL and Fox Kids Europe Limited.
During the year £0.4 million (2000: £nil) was earned from STAR for the provision of transponder capacity, and carriage fees of £0.3 million (2000: £nil) were paid to STAR for the
supply of programming.
Certain other related party transactions are entered into with shareholders, also in the normal course of business. These include advertising by the Group in media owned by
shareholders of £5.8 million (2000: £5.8 million) and revenue earned by the Group for the sale of airtime to shareholders of £1.8 million (2000: £1.5 million).
Balances payable to members of The News Corporation Group, a major shareholder, analysed by activity:

Programming
Encryption services
Other

2001
£m

2000
£m

10.8
5.8
1.7
18.3

35.8
7.1
1.7
44.6

2001
£m

2000
£m

0.9
1.0
1.9

0.8
1.5
2.3

2001
£m

2000
£m

25.9
43.4

62.5
42.7

2001
£m

2000
£m

217.9
11.2
–

345.9
37.6
25.0

Balances receivable from members of the News Corporation Group, a major shareholder, analysed by activity:

Transponders
Other
b) Transactions with joint ventures
All transactions with joint ventures are in the normal course of business.

Revenue
Operating costs
Revenues are primarily generated from the provision of transponder capacity, marketing and support services together with commissions receivable.
Operating costs represent fees payable for channel carriage.

Funding to joint ventures (see note 15)
Amounts owed by joint ventures (see note 18)
Amounts owed to joint ventures (see note 20)
There were no transactions in the normal course of business with KirchPayTV, a significant joint venture, during the year (2000: none).

Following the acquisition of the remaining 67.5% of BiB during the year, the results of BiB have been fully consolidated within the Group. As a result there are no balances
payable to, or receivable from BiB as at 30 June 2001 which require disclosure. As at 30 June 2000, amounts owed to BiB totalled £20.3 million and amounts owed by BiB
totalled £24.8 million.
Prior to the acquisition completion on 9 May 2001, a number of transactions were conducted with BiB. During the period from 1 July 2000 to 9 May 2001 (“the period”)
£16.6 million (2000: £28.1 million) was earned from BiB for the provision of transponder capacity and subscriber management services. Debenture interest of £6.6 million
(2000: £3.2 million) and uncommitted loan interest of £3.4 million (2000: £nil) was earned from BiB during the period from 1 July 2000 to 9 May 2001.
During the year BiB offered customers acquiring digital set-top boxes and dishes the benefit of an interactive discount if the customer agreed to enter into an interactive
discount contract with BiB for a minimum period of 12 months. The interactive discount reduced the price of the set-top box and dish to new and transition customers.
Interactive discounts payable by BiB for the period were £113.2 million (2000: £236.7 million).
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27. Transactions with related parties and major shareholders continued
c) Other transactions with related parties
Elisabeth Murdoch is a former alternate director of BSkyB Group plc, the daughter of a Director of the Company, Rupert Murdoch, and owns 64% of the ordinary share capital
of Shine Entertainment. During the year the Group acquired 3,400 Ordinary Shares (4% holding) in Shine Entertainment at an initial cost of £0.5 million as part of a two year
production agreement. The Group also has an option over a further 3,400 Ordinary Shares if the production agreement is extended for a further two years. During the year the
Group provided a development fund of £0.3 million and production costs for television of £5.0 million. As at 30 June 2001, £4.5 million was due to and £nil was due from Shine
Entertainment.
28. a) Reconciliation of operating profit to operating cash flows
Before
Goodwill
goodwill and
and
exceptional exceptional
items
items
£m
£m

2001
Total
£m

Before
exceptional
items
£m

Exceptional
items
£m

2000
Total
£m

92.8
71.1
44.3
(0.1)
(4.2)
(23.4)
64.1
(43.1)
(162.6)
38.9

85.3
48.9
–
(1.3)
(2.2)
(177.7)
159.3
(73.3)
–
39.0

(105.0)
3.1
–
–
–
6.4
–
3.9
(179.9)
(271.5)

(19.7)
52.0
–
(1.3)
(2.2)
(171.3)
159.3
(69.4)
(179.9)
(232.5)

As at
1 July
2000
£m

Cash flow
£m

As at
30 June
2001
£m

Overnight deposits
Other cash
Bank overdrafts

47.1
79.1
(13.7)
112.5

44.8
(17.4)
13.7
41.1

91.9
61.7
–
153.6

Short-term deposits
Cash at bank and in hand less bank overdrafts

155.0
267.5

(85.0)
(43.9)

70.0
223.6

Debt due after more than one year
Finance leases
Total debt

(1,404.3)
(8.2)
(1,412.5)

(354.8)
(2.8)
(357.6)

(1,759.1)
(11.0)
(1,770.1)

Total net debt

(1,145.0)

(401.5)

(1,546.5)

2001
£m

2000
£m

41.1
(85.0)
(357.6)
(401.5)

62.3
155.0
(697.4)
(480.1)

(1,145.0)
(1,546.5)

(664.9)
(1,145.0)

Operating profit (loss)
Depreciation (see note 14)
Goodwill amortisation (see note 13)
Amortisation of government grants
Deferred revenue released
(Increase) decrease in debtors
Increase in creditors
(Increase) decrease in stock
Provision provided (utilised), net
Net cash inflow (outflow) from operating activities

160.2
64.1
–
(0.1)
(4.2)
(23.4)
64.1
(43.1)
0.3
217.9

(67.4)
7.0
44.3
–
–
–
–
–
(162.9)
(179.0)

b) Analysis of changes in net debt

c) Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

Note
Increase in cash and bank overdrafts
(Decrease) increase in short-term deposits
Cash inflow resulting from increase in debt and lease financing
Increase in net debt
Net debt at beginning of year
Net debt at end of year

28b

85

Notes to Accounts

British Sky Broadcasting Group plc

Notes to Accounts continued
28. d) Major non-cash transactions
2001
Acquisition of 67.5% of BiB
During 2001, the Group acquired 67.5% of BiB (see note 2), 47.6% on 9 May 2001 and 19.9% on 28 June 2001, increasing the Group’s interest to 100% (2000: 32.5%).
The consideration was satisfied by the issue to HSBC, Matsushita and BT of 39,674,765 new BSkyB shares, with a fair value of £290.9 million and deferred consideration of
new BSkyB shares or loan notes, with a fair value of £253.2 million.
Acquisition of 100% of SIG
In July 2000, the Group acquired 100% of SIG (see note 2). The consideration was satisfied by the issue to SIG shareholders of 21,633,099 new BSkyB shares, with a fair
value of £267.3 million.
Acquisition of 5% of WAP TV Limited
In May 2001, the Group acquired the remaining 5% minority interest in WAP TV Limited. The consideration was satisfied by the issue of 169,375 new BSkyB shares, with
a fair value of £1.3 million and contingent consideration of 508,130 new BSkyB shares with a fair value of £3.7 million.
2000
Acquisition of 24% of KirchPayTV
In April 2000, the Group acquired 24% of KirchPayTV (see note 15). Part of the consideration was satisfied by the issue to KirchPayTV of 78,019,778 new BSkyB shares,
with a fair value of £1,186.7 million.
29. Post balance sheet events
Surrey Sports plc
On 11 July 2001, BSkyB and Ladbrokes, the betting and gaming division of Hilton Group plc, reached agreement to form a 50:50 joint venture to develop and operate a fixedodds and pools betting business linked to Sky channels on Sky digital. BSkyB will contribute its wholly-owned bookmaker, Surrey Sports, to the joint venture. When Surrey
Sports is transferred to the joint venture, BSkyB will adjust existing goodwill on its balance sheet and a provision for this has been made in the year to 30 June 2001 (see note 5).
Static 2358 Limited
On 13 June 2001, the Group entered into binding agreements for the sale of its unlisted investment in Static 2358 Limited for total consideration of £3.7 million comprising
a mixture of cash and shares in Open TV. The disposal was completed on 2 July 2001. As a result, the amount written off this fixed asset investment was no longer required,
and the total amount written off fixed asset investments was reduced by £1.4 million (see note 5).
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30. Principal Group Investments
The investments of the Company and the Group which principally affect the consolidated results and net assets of the Group are as follows:
Name

Country of
incorporation/
operation

Description and
proportion of
shares held (%)

Principal activity

British Sky Broadcasting Limited

England and Wales

10,000,002 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

The transmission of the Group’s English language
satellite television broadcasting services

Sky Television Limited

England and Wales

13,376,982 Ordinary Shares
of £1 each (100%)

Investment holding company

Sports Internet Group Limited
(formerly Skysports.com Limited and
Sports Internet Group Plc)

England and Wales

38,432,302 Ordinary Shares
of 5p each (100%)

Providing sports content, statistics, gaming and
e-commerce services

Sky Subscriber Services Limited

England and Wales

2 Ordinary Shares of
£1 each (100%)

Providing ancillary functions supporting the
satellite television broadcasting operations
of the Group

Sky In-Home Service Limited

England and Wales

1,176,000 Ordinary Shares of
£1 each and 400,000 Deferred
Shares of £1 each (100%)

The supply, installation and maintenance of
satellite television receiving equipment

Sky Ventures Limited

England and Wales

912 Ordinary Shares of
£1 each (100%)

Holding company for joint ventures

British Interactive Broadcasting Holdings Limited (i)

England and Wales

651,960 Ordinary Shares of
£1 each (100%)

The transmission of interactive services

British Sky Broadcasting SA

Luxembourg

12,500 Ordinary Shares of
£12 each (100%)

Digital satellite transponder leasing company

Sky New Media Ventures plc

England and Wales

12,500 Ordinary Shares of
£1 each (100%)

Holding company for new media investments

KirchPayTV GmbH & Co KGaA (ii)

Germany

4,800 Ordinary Shares of
DM5 each and Partnership
interest (22.03%)

The transmission of German language satellite
television broadcasting services

Nickelodeon UK

England and Wales

104 B Shares of
£0.01 each (50%)

The transmission of a children’s satellite
television service

Paramount UK (iii)

England and Wales

Partnership interest (25%)

The transmission of a general entertainment channel

Australian News Channel Pty Limited

Australia

1 Ordinary Share of AUS$1 (33.33%)

The transmission of a 24-hour news channel

QVC

England and Wales

1 B Share of £1 (20%)

The transmission of a home shopping channel

Granada Sky Broadcasting Limited (iv)

England and Wales

800 B Shares of £1 each (80%)

The transmission of general entertainment channels

MUTV

England and Wales

100 B Shares of £1 each (33.33%)

The transmission of Manchester United football
channel

National Geographic Channel (v)

England and Wales

Partnership interest (50%)

The transmission of a natural history channel

Music Choice Europe plc
(formerly Music Choice Europe Limited)

England and Wales

44,001,120 A Shares of £1 each (36.4%)

The transmission of audio music service and related
online activities

Subsidiaries: Direct holdings

Subsidiaries: Indirect holdings

Joint ventures

Notes
(i) 80.1% directly held by British Sky Broadcasting plc and 19.9% held by British Sky Broadcasting Limited.
(ii) The registered address of KirchPayTV GmbH & Co is Medienallee 6, D-85774, Unterfohring, Germany.
KirchPayTV’s financial accounting period is to 31 December each year.
(iii) The registered address of Paramount UK is 15-18 Rathbone Place, London W1P 1DF.
(iv) The economic interest held in Granada Sky Broadcasting Limited is 49.5%.
(v) The registered address of National Geographic is Grant Way, Isleworth, Middlesex TW7 5QD.
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Five Year Summary
Consolidated results

2001
£m

2000
as restated
£m

1999
as restated
£m

1998
as restated
£m

1997
as restated
£m

DTH subscriber revenues
Cable and DTT revenues
Advertising revenues
Interactive revenues
Other revenues (i)
Turnover

1,537
299
271
93
106
2,306

1,189
303
242
5
108
1,847

979
253
217
–
96
1,545

968
228
195
–
43
1,434

861
191
150
–
47
1,249

Operating expenses, net (i)
Goodwill amortisation
Exceptional operating costs
Operating profit (loss)

(2,146)
(44)
(23)
93

(1,762)
–
(105)
(20)

(1,360)
–
(456)
(271)

(1,093)
–
–
341

(875)
–
–
374

Share of operating results of joint ventures
Joint ventures’ goodwill amortisation
Share of joint ventures’ loss on sale of fixed asset investment
Loss on sale of fixed asset investment
Amounts written off fixed asset investments
Provision for loss on disposal of subsidiary
Net interest payable
(Loss) profit on ordinary activities before taxation

(256)
(101)
(70)
–
(39)
(10)
(132)
(515)

(122)
(14)
(14)
(1)
–
–
(92)
(263)

(58)
–
–
–
–
–
(60)
(389)

(17)
–
–
–
–
–
(53)
271

(10)
–
–
–
–
–
(50)
314

Taxation (charge) credit (ii)
(Loss) profit on ordinary activities after taxation

(24)
(539)

65
(198)

103
(286)

(91)
180

(108)
206

(29.2p)

(11.3p)

(16.6p)

10.5p

12.0p

–
–
133

–
–
58

2.75p
–
76

2.75p
3.25p
82

2.75p
3.25p
42

5,453
3,486
1,105
10,044

4,513
3,735
740
8,988

3,460
3,778
204
7,442

3,547
3,352
–
6,899

3,532
2,841
–
6,373

Average number of full-time equivalent employees

9,948

10,730

8,271

4,634

4,580

Capital employed
Fixed assets
Working capital
Provisions, tax and dividends (ii)
Net debt
Net assets (liabilities)

£m
2,411
15
182
(1,547)
1,061

£m
1,886
32
24
(1,145)
797

£m
343
2
(228)
(665)
(548)

£m
219
76
–
(518)
(223)

£m
148
150
55
(628)
(275)

Statistics
(Loss) earnings per share
Dividend per share
– interim
– final
Capital expenditure (£m)
Direct-to-home subscribers (’000)
Cable subscribers (’000) (iii)
DTT subscribers (’000)
Total subscribers (’000) (iii)

i) Other revenues and operating expenses for 1997 have been restated. Amounts receivable from the disposal of programming rights not acquired for use by the Group and the
provision to third party broadcasters of spare transponder capacity are now classified within operating expenses, not other revenues.
(ii) The taxation (charge) credit for 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 has been restated following the adoption by the Group of FRS 19, Deferred tax. Adoption of FRS 19 has resulted
in the recalculation of (loss) earnings per share for 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997.
(iii) The cable subscribers disclosure for 2000, 1999, 1998 and 1997 have been restated to include Eire subscribers.
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Shareholders’ Service
Share Price Information
The Company’s share price is broadcast on SkyText on the Sky News channel on
page 116, BBC Ceefax page 221 and on Channel 4 Teletext page 511, all under the
prefix BSkyB. It also appears in the financial columns of the national press.
The latest BSkyB share price is available from the Financial Times Cityline Service,
on 0906 843 4816.
Share Dealing Service
The Company has arranged with NatWest stockbrokers to provide shareholders with
a single, low cost method of buying and selling its shares. To take advantage of this
service, call 020 7895 5029.
Shares Online
You can also access your shareholding online and find a range of other services at the
Lloyds TSB Registrars Shareholder website, www.shareview.co.uk.
Shareholder Enquiries
All administrative enquiries relating to shareholders, such as queries concerning
dividend payments, notification of change of address or the loss of a share certificate,
should be made to the Company’s registrars whose address is given on the next page.

Breakdown of shareholders
as at 30 June 2001
By type*
1
2
3
4
5

Fund Management Groups
Other
Miscellaneous Banks
Insurance Companies
Pension Funds

47%
19%
10%
18%
6%

5
1
4

3

2
Breakdown of shareholders
as at 30 June 2001
By location*
1
2
3
4
5
6

London
Scotland
Continental Europe
Other
UK and Eire (excluding London and Scotland)
USA and Canada

48%
8%
10%
14%
9%
11%

6
1
5

4

3
2
* Excluding Sky Global Operations Inc., BSB Holdings Limited and
Vivendi S.A.

Corporate Shareholder Information
Board of Directors
Rupert Murdoch (Chairman)
Tony Ball (Chief Executive and Managing Director)
Philip Bowman (Audit Committee Chairman)
Martin Stewart (Chief Financial Officer)
David DeVoe
Lord St John of Fawsley
Dr Dieter Hahn
Leslie Hinton
Allan Leighton
Martin Pompadur
Arthur Siskind
John Thornton
Alternate Directors
The Sky Global Operations Inc (“SGO”) Directors have appointed each of the other
SGO Directors to serve as alternate Directors and in addition have appointed
Richard Linford and Jay Itzkowitz as their alternates.
Company Secretary
David Gormley
Financial calendar
First Quarter 2001-2002 results

Nov 2001

2001 Annual General Meeting

Nov 2001

2001-2002 Half year results

Feb 2002

2001-2002 Third quarter results

May 2002

Preliminary results for 2001-2002

July 2002

2002 Annual General Meeting

Nov 2002

Company Information
Registered office:
Grant Way,
Isleworth,
Middlesex TW7 5QD
Telephone 0870 240 3000
Internet address
http://www.sky.com
Registrars
Lloyds TSB Registrars,
The Causeway,
Worthing,
West Sussex BN99 6DA
Telephone 0870 600 3970
ADR Depository
Citibank Shareholders Services,
PO Box 2502,
Jersey City,
New Jersey 07303-2502 USA
Telephone 1-877-248-4237
Auditors
Arthur Andersen,
1 Surrey Street,
London WC2R 2PS
Principal Bankers
Barclays Bank plc,
27 Soho Square,
London W1A 4WA
Solicitors
Herbert Smith,
Exchange House,
Primrose Street,
London EC2A 2HS
Company registration number
2247735
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